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The following section, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Operations, provides an overview of the consolidated 
financial statements of Renesas Electronics Corporation (hereinafter “the Company”) and its consolidated subsidiaries 
(hereinafter “the Group”), as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. 
 
 
 
Introduction 
 
Financial Position, Operating Results and Cash Flow Analysis 
 
Forward-looking statements concerning financial position, operating results and cash flow are prepared using the Group’s 
judgment as of December 31, 2023.  
 
(1) Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates 
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(hereinafter "IFRS") and in accordance with Article 93 of the “Ordinance on Terminology, Forms, and Preparation Methods 
of Consolidated Financial Statements”. In preparing these consolidated financial statements, estimates and assumptions 
deemed necessary are made based on reasonable standards. Significant accounting policies, assumptions for the future 
and uncertainties involved in the estimates used in the consolidated financial statements are listed under “Note 3. Significant 
Accounting Policies, Note 4. Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgments” in the Financial Section.   
 
(2) Consolidated Financial Position 
 

 As of 
December 31, 2022 

As of 
December 31, 2023 

Increase 
(Decrease) 

  Billion yen Billion yen Billion yen 
Total assets 
Total equity 
Equity attributable to owners of parent 
Equity ratio attributable to owners of parent (%) 
Interest-bearing liabilities 
Debt to Equity ratio 

2,812.5 
1,537.5 
1,533.7 

54.5 
770.0 

0.50 

3,167.0 
2,005.6 
2,001.6 

63.2 
667.7 

0.33 

354.5 
468.1 
467.9 

8.7 
(102.3) 

(0.17) 
 

Total assets at December 31, 2023 were 3,167.0 billion yen, a 354.5 billion yen increase from December 31, 2022. This was 
mainly due to an increase in goodwill affected by yen depreciation. Total equity was 2,005.6 billion yen, a 468.1 billion yen 
increase from December 31, 2022. Despite a decrease resulting from the acquisition of treasury shares, total equity grew 
mainly due to an increase in other components of equity such as increase in exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations following fluctuations in the exchange rate as well as an increase in retained earnings through profit. 
 
Equity attributable to owners of parent increased by 467.9 billion yen from December 31, 2022, and Equity ratio attributable 
to owners of parent was 63.2%. In addition, Interest-bearing liabilities decreased by 102.3 billion yen from December 31, 
2022, mainly due to the repayment of borrowings, despite an increase resulting from revaluation of bonds. Consequently, 
Debt to equity ratio was 0.33.  
 
The allocation of the acquisition costs for the business combinations with Steradian Semiconductors Private Limited 
(hereinafter “Steradian”) has been revised at the end of the three months ended March 31, 2023. The revision to the 
allocation of the acquisition costs (PPA) has been reflected in the consolidated financial results for the year ended December 
31, 2022. 
 
(3) Overview of Financial Results  
The Group discloses consolidated business results in terms of both its internal measures which management relies upon in 
making decisions (hereinafter “Non-GAAP”) and those under IFRS. 
   Non-GAAP revenue, Non-GAAP gross profit and Non-GAAP operating profit are revenue, gross profit and operating 
profit under IFRS (hereinafter “IFRS revenue,” “IFRS gross profit” and “IFRS operating profit”) after excluding or adjusting 
non-recurring items and other adjustments following a certain set of rules. The Group believes providing non-GAAP forecasts 
will help to better understand the Group’s constant business results. Non-recurring items include depreciation of intangible 
assets recognized from acquisitions, other purchase price allocation (hereinafter “PPA”) adjustments and stock-based 
compensation as well as other non-recurring expenses and income the Group believes to be applicable.  

The Group consists of “Automotive Business” and “Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT Business” and those are the Group’s 
reportable segments. For details, please refer to “Note 6. Business Segments” in the Financial Section. 
 
(Note): For non-GAAP disclosure, the Group refers to the rules specified by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 

but does not fully comply with such rules. 
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A) Overview of the current financial operation (Non-GAAP basis) 

 
  Summary of Consolidated Financial Results for the Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (Non-

GAAP basis) 
 

      Year ended  
December 31, 2022 

(Jan 1 – Dec 31, 2022) 

Year ended  
December 31, 2023 

(Jan 1 – Dec 31, 2023) 

Increase 
(Decrease) 

  Billion yen Billion yen Billion yen % Change 

Non-GAAP Revenue 1,502.7 1,469.7 (33.0) (2.2%) 

 
Automotive 645.0 695.0 50.0 7.8% 

Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT 845.9 764.7 (81.2) (9.6%) 

Non-GAAP Gross Profit 
Non-GAAP Gross Margin 

863.2 
57.4% 

837.4 
57.0% 

(25.7) 
(0.5pt) 

(3.0%) 
--- 

 
Automotive 324.4 

50.3% 
363.2 

52.3% 
38.8 

2.0pts 
12.0% 

--- 

Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT 535.3 
63.3% 

470.8 
61.6% 

(64.6) 
(1.7pts) 

(12.1%) 
--- 

Non-GAAP Operating Profit 
Non-GAAP Operating Margin 

559.4 
37.2% 

501.6 
34.1% 

(57.7) 
(3.1pts) 

(10.3%) 
--- 

 
Automotive 219.2 

34.0% 
238.7 

34.3% 
19.5 

0.4pt 
8.9% 

--- 

Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT 331.8 
39.2% 

259.0 
33.9% 

(72.7) 
(5.3pts) 

(21.9%) 
--- 

  Yen  Yen    
Exchange rate (USD) 
Exchange rate (EUR) 

130 
137 

140 
151 

- 
- 

- 
- 

Note 1: For details on the above, please refer to “Note 6. Business Segments” in the Financial Section. 
Note 2: Exchange rates are the average of each month's rates used for the conversion of revenues and expenses.  
 
The financial results for the Year Ended December 31, 2023 are as follows: 
 
<Non-GAAP Revenue> 
Consolidated non-GAAP revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023 was 1,469.7 billion yen, a 2.2% decrease year on 
year. While revenue from the Automotive Business increased driven by the weakening yen, the overall revenue declined 
mainly due to a decrease in revenue from the Industrial, Infrastructure, and IoT Business, attributable to the softening 
demand in markets such as PC/mobile phones and consumer electronics. 
 
<Non-GAAP Gross Profit (Margin)>  
Non-GAAP gross profits for the year ended December 31, 2023 was 837.4 billion yen, a 25.7 billion yen, a 3.0% decrease 
year on year. This was due to the aforementioned decrease in revenue from the Industrial, Infrastructure, and IoT Business, 
accompanied by factors such as a deterioration in product mix. As a result, non-GAAP gross margin for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 was 57.0%, a decrease by 0.5 point year on year. 
 
<Non-GAAP Operating Profit (Margin)> 
Non-GAAP operating profit for the year ended December 31, 2023 was 501.6 billion yen, a 57.7 billion yen, a 10.3%  
decrease year on year. This was mainly due to the above-mentioned decrease in gross profit and increase in R&D expenses. 
As a result, non-GAAP operating margin for the year ended December 31, 2023 was 34.1%, a decrease by 3.1 points year 
on year. 
 
The revenue breakdown of the business segments for the Year Ended December 31, 2023 are as follows:  
 
Automotive Business 
The Automotive Business includes the product categories “Automotive Control,” comprising semiconductor devices for 
controlling automobile engines and bodies, and “Automotive Information,” comprising of semiconductor devices used in 
sensing systems for detecting environments inside and outside the vehicle as well as Automotive Information devices such 
as in-vehicle infotainment (IVI) and instrument panels used to give various information to the driver of the vehicle. The Group 
mainly supplies microcontrollers (MCUs), system-on-chips (SoCs), analog semiconductor devices and power semiconductor 
devices in each of these categories.  

Non-GAAP revenue of the Automotive Business for the year ended December 31, 2023 was 695.0 billion yen, a 7.8% 
increase year on year. As mentioned earlier, this was mainly due to the yen depreciation effect, and an increase in revenue 
from products for Advanced Driver-Assistance Systems (ADAS) and xEVs applications.  

Non-GAAP gross profit of the Automotive Business for the year ended December 31, 2023 was 363.2 billion yen, a 38.8 
billion yen, a 12.0% increase year on year. This was mainly due to an increase in revenue. 
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Non-GAAP operating profit of the Automotive Business for the year ended December 31, 2023 was 238.7 billion yen, a 
19.5 billion yen, a 8.9% increase year on year due to an increase in revenue. 

 
Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT Business 
The Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT Business includes the categories “Industrial,” “Infrastructure” and “IoT” which support a 
smart society. The Group mainly supplies MCUs, SoCs and analog semiconductor devices in each of these categories.  

Non-GAAP revenue of the Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT Business for the year ended December 31, 2023 was 764.7 billion 
yen, a 9.6 % decrease year on year. Despite the positive yen depreciation effect, Non-GAAP revenue declined mainly due 
to a decrease in revenue, attributable to the softening demand in markets such as the PC/mobile phones and consumer 
electronics as mentioned earlier.  

Non-GAAP gross profit of the Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT Business for the year ended December 31, 2023 was 470.8 
billion yen, a 64.6 billion yen, a 12.1% decrease year on year. This was mainly due to a decrease in revenue. 

Non-GAAP operating profit of the Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT Business for the year ended December 31, 2023 was 259.0 
billion yen, a 72.7 billion yen a 21.9% decrease year on year, mainly due to a decrease in gross profit. 

 
The Group announced the “Mid-Term Growth Strategy” and “Financial Model” on February 17, 2020. The Group set as a 
long-term target of achieving sales growth exceeding that of the market through concentrated investment of management 
resources in markets on which the Group is focusing its attention. The Group also targets to optimize production efficiency, 
improve the product mix and realize synergies from the integrations of the former IDT, Dialog and Celeno. The Group 
updated its existing financial model on September 29, 2021, targeting to achieve a 50-55% non-GAAP gross margin and a 
25-30% non-GAAP operating margin.  

The targets in the "Mid-Term Growth Strategy" and "Financial Model" are the Group's long-term management objectives 
as of the date of filing and we cannot guarantee that they will be achieved. Results may be affected by a number of risk 
factors and other changes in the external environment, including the matters described under "Risk Factors" in the 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Operations. 
 
B) Reconciliation of Non-GAAP gross profit to IFRS gross profit and Non-GAAP operating profit to IFRS operating 

profit 
    
  (Billion yen) 

 
Year ended  

December 31, 2022 
(Jan 1 – Dec 31, 2022) 

Year ended  
December 31, 2023 

(Jan 1 – Dec 31, 2023) 
Non-GAAP gross profit 
Non-GAAP gross margin 

863.2 
57.4% 

837.4 
57.0% 

Reconciliations in Revenue Level (Note 1) (1.8) (0.3) 
Amortization of purchased intangible assets  
and depreciation of fair value adjustment to 
property, plant and equipment  

(1.0) (1.0) 

Market valuation of inventories (1.5) ---  

Stock-based compensation (1.5) (1.5) 
Other reconciliation items in non-recurring 
expenses and adjustments (Note 2) (3.2) (0.3) 

IFRS gross profit 
IFRS gross margin 

854.0 
56.9% 

834.3 
56.8% 

   
Non-GAAP operating profit 
Non-GAAP operating margin 

559.4 
37.2% 

501.6 
34.1% 

Reconciliations in Revenue Level (Note 1) (1.8) (0.3) 
Amortization of purchased intangible assets 
and depreciation of fair value adjustment to 
property, plant and equipment 

(106.2) (105.8) 

Market valuation of inventories (1.5) ---  

Stock-based compensation (18.1) (23.3) 
Other reconciliation items in non-recurring 
expenses and adjustments (Note 2) (7.5) 18.5 

IFRS operating profit 
IFRS operating margin 

424.2 
28.3% 

390.8 
26.6% 

Note 1: Non-GAAP adjustments have been applied to the revenue following the implementation of PPA.  
Note 2: “Other reconciliation items in non-recurring expenses and adjustments” includes the non-recurring items related to 

acquisitions and other adjustments as well as non-recurring profits or losses the Group believes to be applicable.  
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C) Overview of the current financial operation (IFRS)  
 

Summary of Consolidated Financial Results for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (IFRS basis) 
  

 

Year ended  
December 31, 2022 

(Jan 1 – Dec 31, 2022) 

Year ended  
December 31, 2023 

(Jan 1 – Dec 31, 2023) 
Increase 

(Decrease) 

 Billion yen Billion yen Billion yen % Change 

Revenue 1,500.9 1,469.4 (31.4) (2.1%) 

Gross Profit 
Gross Margin 

854.0 
56.9% 

834.3 
56.8% 

  (19.7) 
(0.1 pt) 

(2.3%) 
--- 

Operating Profit 
Operating Margin 

424.2 
28.3% 

390.8 
26.6% 

(33.4) 
(1.7 pts) 

(7.9%) 
--- 

 
 
D) Overview of production, orders and sales 
The Group manufactures and sells a wide variety of products and even if the products are of the same type, their 
performance, structure, and format are not necessarily uniform. In addition, there are many products that do not take the 
form of built-to-order production. Accordingly, the Group does not disclose the scale of production or the scale of orders 
received for each product category in terms of value or quantity. 

Therefore, the status of production, orders received, and sales is shown in relation to the revenue segment in 
"Management's Discussion and Analysis." 

Sales to major customers and the ratio to total sales are as follows. 
There was no external customer accounting for 10% or more of revenue in the consolidated statements of profit or loss, 

and, therefore information of major customers is omitted. 
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(4) Cash Flows  

 
 Year ended  

December 31, 2022 
(Jan 1 – Dec 31, 2022) 

Year ended  
December 31, 2023 

(Jan 1 – Dec 31, 2023) 
  Billion yen Billion yen 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 

479.3 
(97.5) 

496.6 
(267.5) 

Free cash flows (Note) 381.8 229.1 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (294.8) (181.2) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period 

221.9 
336.1 

336.1 
434.7 

Note: As defined as a total of net cash flows provided by (used in) operating and investing activities. 
  
(Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities) 
Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was 496.6 billion yen. This was mainly due 
to a recording of 422.2 billion yen in profit before tax as well as adjustments in non-cash items such as depreciation. 
 
(Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities) 
Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was 267.5 billion yen. This was mainly due to 
purchase of property, plant and equipment as well as intangible assets, payments to Wolfspeed, Inc. for long-term loans 
receivable, acquisition of shares of Panthronics. 
  
The foregoing resulted in positive free cash flows of 229.1 billion yen for the year ended December 31, 2023.  
 
(Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities) 
Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was 181.2 billion yen. This was mainly due to 
purchase of treasury shares and repayments of borrowings to main financing banks.  
 
 
(5) Liquidity and Capital Resources 
The Group’s basic financial policy is to secure adequate liquidity and capital resources for its operations and to maintain a 
strong balance sheet.  

On January 15, 2019, the Company entered into a syndicated loan agreement for a total of 897 billion yen with its 
primary financial institutions, MUFG Bank, Ltd., Mizuho Bank, Ltd., Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited, and others, in 
order to procure capital necessary for the acquisition of the former IDT and to renew an existing loan for the purpose of 
securing mid- to long-term working capital. The Company drew down 698 billion yen as a term-loan under the 
aforementioned agreement in March 2019. In addition, the Company repaid an existing term-loan in June 2019 and executed 
a 149-billion-yen term-loan agreement.  

In addition, on August 31, 2021, the Company borrowed term loans with a total amount of 270 billion yen from MUFG 
Bank, Ltd. and Mizuho Bank, Ltd., to finance the acquisition of Dialog. 

On December 23, 2021, with the purpose of refinancing the remaining 240 billion yen of the existing loan of 270 billion 
yen to mid- to long-term funds, and after having repaid 30 billion yen, the Company concluded a syndicated loan agreement 
with MUFG Bank, Ltd., Mizuho Bank, Ltd., Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, and others for the total of 96 billion yen. On the 
same day, the Company concluded a JBIC loan agreement with JBIC (Japan Bank for International Cooperation) for a total 
of 144 billion yen. Based on these agreements, the Company borrowed a total amount of 240 billion yen on December 30, 
2021. 

The Company decided on November 19, 2021, to issue US dollar-denominated senior notes in multiple tranches. The 
Company issued 500 million of US dollar-denominated senior notes due 2024 and 850 million of US dollar-denominated 
senior notes due 2026, for total proceeds of 1,350 million US dollars. The yen-converted amount of the outstanding balance 
of the Company's bonds at the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 was 191.1 billion yen. 

For the purpose of responding to the demand for funds for future business development and securing flexible means of 
procuring working capital, the Company entered into a term loan agreement with Bank of America N. A. Tokyo Branch dated 
June 28, 2022 for a total of 200 million US dollars, and the Company entered into a term loan agreement with MUFG Bank 
dated June 30, 2022 for a total of 20 billion yen. Based on these agreements, the Company borrowed a total of 47.1 billion 
yen on June 30, 2022. 

As of December 31, 2023, the total amount of borrowings was 459.9 billion yen. As of December 31, 2023, the Group 
had 434.7 billion yen in cash and cash equivalents. 
 
(6) Off-balance Sheet Arrangements 
The Group conducts liquidation of accounts receivable on a regular basis. As of December 31, 2023, the balance of 
liquidated accounts receivable was 8.0 billion yen.  
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Risk Factors 
The Group’s operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including those described below, 
that could significantly affect investors’ judgment. In addition, the following statements include matters which might not 
necessarily fall within the scope of such significant risks but are deemed important for investors’ judgment from a standpoint 
of affirmative disclosure. Statements regarding the future in the following paragraphs are based on the Group’s 
understanding of the information available as of March 28, 2024. 
 
1 Market Fluctuations 
Semiconductor market fluctuations, which are caused by factors such as economic cycles in each region and shifts in 
demand of end customers, affect the Group. Although the Group carefully monitors changes in market conditions, it is difficult 
to completely avoid the impact of market fluctuations due to economic cycles in countries around the world and changes in 
the demand for end products. Market downturns, therefore, could lead to decline in product demand and increase in 
production and inventory amounts, as well as lower sales prices. Consequently, market downturns could reduce the Group’s 
sales, as well as lower fab utilization rates, which may in turn result in lower gross margins, ultimately leading to deterioration 
in profits. 
 
2 Fluctuations in foreign exchange and interest rates  
The Group engages in business activities in all parts of the world and in a wide range of currencies. The Group continues 
to engage in hedging transactions and other arrangements to minimize exchange rate risks, but it is possible for our 
consolidated business results and financial condition, including our sales amount in foreign currencies, our materials costs 
in foreign currencies, our production costs at overseas manufacturing sites, and other items, to be influenced if exchange 
rates change significantly. Also, the Group’s assets, liabilities, income, and costs can change greatly by presenting our 
assets and debts that are denominated in foreign currencies by converting the amounts in Japanese yen, and these can 
also change when financial statements in foreign currencies at our overseas subsidiaries are converted to and presented in 
Japanese yen. 

Since expenses as well as asset and debt values associated with the Group’s business operation are influenced by 
fluctuations in interest rates, it is also possible for the Group’s businesses, performance, and financial condition to be 
adversely influenced by these fluctuations. 

 
3 Natural Disasters 
Natural disasters such as earthquakes, tsunamis, typhoons, and floods, accidents such as fires, power outages, and system 
failures, acts of terror, war, infectious diseases and other unpredictable factors could adversely affect the Group’s business 
operation. In particular, as the Group owns key facilities and equipment in areas where earthquakes occur at a frequency 
higher than the global average, the effects of earthquakes and other events could damage the Group’s facilities and 
equipment and force a halt to manufacturing and other operations, and such events could consequently cause severe 
damage to the Group’s business. Similar situations may also occur due to other types of natural disasters, accidents such 
as fires, power outages, and system failures, acts of terror, war, infectious diseases, and other similar events. For example, 
in March 2021, a fire occurred at some processes of a Group subsidiary’s semiconductor manufacturing plant (N3 building 
(300mm line)), causing the production and shipment of products at the plant to cease temporarily. However, in the future, 
the Group's business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected by, among other 
things, the burden of costs to restore damaged plant facilities and equipment, a decrease in sales and operating income 
due to a decrease in plant utilization or stop, and a deterioration in gross margins. In preparation for these risks, the Group 
sets and manages the BCP (Business Continuity Plan), which defines preventive plans and contingency plans and others, 
and also purchase various insurances; however, such plans and insurances may not fully hedge the risks or cover the losses 
and damages from events that we could not anticipate.  
 
4 Competition  
The semiconductor industry is extremely competitive, and the Group is exposed to fierce competition from competitors 
around the world in areas such as product performance, structure, pricing and quality. In particular, certain competitors have 
pursued acquisitions, consolidations, and business alliances, and others. in recent years and there is a possibility that such 
actions will be taken in the future as well. As a result, the competitive environment surrounding the Group may further 
intensify. To maintain and improve competitiveness, the Group takes various measures including development of leading- 
edge technologies, standardizing design, cost reduction, and consideration of strategic alliances with third parties or 
possibility of further acquisitions. In the event that the Group cannot maintain its competitiveness, the Group’s market share 
may decline, which may negatively impact the Group’s financial results.  

In addition, fierce market competition has subjected the products of the Group to sharp downward pressure on prices, 
for which measures to improve profitability, such as price negotiations and efforts at cost price reduction, have been unable 
to fully compensate. This raises the possibility of a worsening of the Group’s gross margin. Furthermore, in cases where 
customers for the Group’s products for which the gross margin is low have difficulty switching to other products or require a 
certain amount of time to secure replacements, it may be difficult for the Group to halt or reduce production in a timely 
manner. This may result in a reduction in the profitability of the Group. 

 
5 Implementation of Management Strategies 
The Group is implementing a variety of business strategies and structural measures, including the development of a “ Mid-
Term Growth Strategy” and reforming the organizational structure of the Group, to strengthen the foundations of its 
profitability. Implementing these business strategies and structural measures requires a certain level of cost and due to 
changes in economic conditions and the business environment, factors for which the future is uncertain, as well as additional 
unforeseeable factors, it is possible that some of those reforms may become difficult to carry out and others may not achieve 
the originally planned results. Furthermore, additional costs, which are higher than originally expected, may arise. Thus, 
these issues may adversely influence the Group’s performance and financial condition. 
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6 Business Activities Worldwide 
The Group conducts business worldwide, which can be adversely affected by factors such as barriers to long-term 
relationships with potential customers and local enterprises, restrictions on investment and imports/exports tariffs, fair trade 
regulations, political, social and economic risk including changes in trade policies, trade barriers and heightened trade 
conflicts among countries, outbreaks of illness or disease, exchange rate fluctuations, rising wage levels, and transportation 
delays. As a result, the Group may fail to achieve its initial targets regarding business in overseas markets, which could have 
a negative impact on the business growth and performance of the Group. 
 
7 Strategic Alliance and Corporate Acquisition 
For business expansion and strengthening of competitiveness, the Group may engage in strategic alliances, including joint 
investments, and corporate acquisitions. However, in cases where there is a mismatch with the prospective alliance partner 
or acquisition target in areas of management strategy such as capital procurement, technology management, and product 
development, or there are financial or other problems affecting the business of the prospective collaboration partner or 
acquisition target. Also, even if the Group reach an agreement with a potential alliance partner or acquisition target, there is 
no guarantee that the Group will be able to execute the acquisition because the Group may not be able to raise funds for 
the acquisition, we may not be able to obtain shareholder approval from the potential alliance partner or acquisition target,  
the Group may not be able to obtain necessary permits and approvals, or there may be restrictions due to laws and 
regulations or other reasons. For example, in February 2024, the Group acquired Altium Limited, the US based software 
company listed in the Australian Stock Exchange, pursuant to which the Group will acquire all outstanding shares of Altium 
Limited, making Altium Limited a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition is expected 
to close in the second half of 2024, subject to approval by Atium’s shareholders, the Australian courts and any necessary 
regulatory approvals, as well as the satisfaction of other general closing conditions, If all or some of these conditions are not 
satisfied, the Acquisition may not close, and if it is does not close, the expected synergies and benefits will not be realized, 
but only the costs od the Acquisition will be incurred. 

In addition to the time and expense required for integration of aspects such as business execution, technology, products, 
personnel, systems and response to antitrust laws and other regulations of the relevant authorities, there is a possibility that 
the alliance relationship or capital ties will not be sustainable, or in the case of acquisitions for which the anticipated return 
on investment or profitability cannot be realized. Furthermore, there is a possibility that the anticipated synergies or other 
advantages cannot be realized due to an inability to retain or secure the main customers or key personnel of the prospective 
alliance partner or acquisition target. Thus, there is no certainty that an alliance or acquisition will achieve the goals initially 
anticipated.  
 
8 Financing 
While the Group has been procuring business funds by methods such as borrowing from financial institutions and other 
sources, and issuance of bonds, in the future it may become necessary to procure additional financing to implement business 
and investment plans, expand manufacturing capabilities, acquire technologies and services, and repay debts. It is possible 
that the Group may face limitations on its ability to raise funds due to a variety of reasons, including the fact that the Group 
may not be able to acquire required financing in a timely manner or may face increasing financing costs due to the worsening 
business environment in the semiconductor industry, worsening conditions in the financial and stock markets, and changes 
in the financing policies of lenders. In addition, the Company may also finance acquisitions when conducting acquisitions 
from financial institutions and other sources. For example, the Company plan to have cash on hand as well as new loans 
that it plans to procure from its main banks to fund the Acquisition announced in February 2024 (totaling approximately A$9.1 
billion, or approximately 887.9 billion yen at an exchange rate of 97 yen to A$1). As a result of the borrowings from financial 
institutions and other sources, the Company will incur interest-bearing debt, and if the Company is able to implement such 
borrowings through long-term debt or switch to long-term funds for the borrowings we have implemented, or if the Company 
is unable to generate the cash flow we initially anticipated, our financial condition may deteriorate and our credit rating may 
be lowered, which could also result in increased financing costs and restrictions on our group's ability to raise capital.. In 
addition, some of the borrowing contracts executed between the Group and some financial institutions stipulate articles of 
financial covenants. If the Group breaches these articles due to reasons such as a deterioration of the Group’s financial 
condition, the Group may lose the benefit of term on the contract, and it may adversely influence the Group’s business 
performance and financial conditions. 
 
9 Rapid Technological Evolutions and Other Issues 
The semiconductor market in which the Group does business is characterized by rapid technological changes and rapid 
evolution of technological standards. Therefore, if the Group is not able to carry out appropriate research and development, 
the Group’s businesses, performance, and financial condition may all be adversely affected by product obsolescence and 
the existence of competing products in the marketplace. 
 
10 Product Production 
A. Production Process Risk 
Semiconductor products require extremely complex production processes. In an effort to increase yields (defined as the 
ratio of non-defective products from the materials used), the Group takes steps to properly control production processes 
and seeks ongoing improvements. However, the emergence of defects in these production processes could lead to lower 
yields. These defects, in turn, could trigger shipment delays, reductions in shipment volume, or, at worst, the halting of 
shipments. 
 
B. Procurement of Raw Materials, Components, and Production Facilities 
The timely procurement of necessary raw materials, components and production facilities is critical to semiconductor 
production. To avoid supply problems related to these essential raw materials, components and production facilities, the 
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Group works diligently to develop close relationships with multiple suppliers. Some necessary materials, however, are 
available only from specific suppliers. Consequently, insufficient supply capacity amid tight demand for these materials as 
well as events including natural disasters, accidents, acts of terror, war, worsening of business conditions, and withdrawal 
from the business by suppliers could preclude their timely procurement, or may result in sharply higher prices for these 
essential materials upon procurement. Furthermore, defects in procured raw materials or components could adversely 
influence the Group’s manufacturing operations and additional costs may be incurred by the Group. 
 
C. Risks Associated with Outsourced Production 
The Group outsources the manufacturing of certain semiconductor products to external foundries (contract manufacturers) 
and other entities. In doing so, the Group selects its trusted outsourcers, rigorously screened in advance based on their 
technological capabilities, supply capacity, and other relevant traits; however, there is some possibility of delivery delays, 
product defects and other production-side risks stemming from outsourcers. In particular, inadequate production capacity 
among outsourcers or operation shutdown of the outsourcers as a result of a natural disaster, could result in the Group being 
unable to supply enough products. 
 
D. Maintenance of Production Capacity at an Appropriate Level 
The semiconductor market is sensitive to fluctuations in the business climate, and it is difficult to predict future product 
demand accurately. Thus, it is not always possible for the Group to maintain production capacity at an appropriate level that 
matches product demand. Unanticipated events such as fires, power outages or system failures at manufacturing plants 
could also significantly reduce the Group’s production capacity for a given period of time, In addition, even if the Group 
engages in capital investment to boost production capacity, there is generally a certain amount of time required before the 
actual increase in production capacity takes place. 

Therefore, if demand for specific products substantially exceeds the Group’s production capacity at a certain point and 
the state of excess demand continues over time, there is a possibility that the Group will be unable to supply customers with 
the products they desire, that opportunities to sell the products in question will be lost, that the Group will lose market share 
as customers switch to competing products, and that the relationship of the Group and its customers will suffer. 

On the other hand, if in response to a rise in demand for specific products the Group undertakes capital investment with 
the aim of increasing production capacity, there is no guarantee that demand for the products in question will remain strong 
once production capacity actually increases and afterward. There is a possibility that actual product demand may turn out 
to be less than anticipated, in which case it may not be possible to recover the capital investment with the anticipated 
earnings. 
 
11 Product Quality 
Although the Group makes an effort to improve the quality of semiconductor products, they may contain defects, anomalies 
or malfunctions that are undetectable at the time of shipment due to increased sophistication of technologies, the diversity 
of ways in which the Group’s products are used by customers and defects in procured raw materials or components. These 
defects, anomalies or malfunctions could be discovered after the Group products were shipped to customers, resulting in 
the return or exchange of the Group’s products, claims for compensatory damages, or discontinuation of the use of the 
Group’s products, which could negatively impact the profits and operating results of the Group. To prepare for such events, 
the Group has insurance such as product liability insurance and recall insurance, but it is not guaranteed that the full costs 
of reimbursements would be covered by these. 
 
12 Product Sales 
A. Reliance on Key Customers 
The Group relies on certain key customers for a significant portion of its product sales to customers. The decision by these 
key customers to cease adoption of the Group’s products, or to dramatically reduce order volumes, could negatively impact 
the Group’s operating results. 
 
B. Changes in production plans by customers of custom products 
The Group receives orders from customers for the development of specific semiconductor products in some cases. There 
is the possibility that, after the Group received the orders, the customers decide to postpone or cancel the launch of the end 
products in which the ordered product is scheduled to be embedded. There is also the possibility that the customers cancel 
its order if the functions and quality of the product do not meet the customer requirements. Further, the weak sales of end 
products in which products developed by the Group are embedded may cause customers to reduce their orders, or to 
postpone delivery dates. Such changes in production plans, order reductions, postponements and other actions from the 
customers concerning custom products may cause declines in the Group sales and profitability. 
 
C. Reliance on Authorized Sales Agents 
In Japan and Asia, the Group sells the majority of its products via independent authorized sales agents and relies on certain 
major authorized sales agents for a significant portion of these sales. The inability of the Group to provide these authorized 
sales agents with competitive sales incentives or margins, or to secure sales volumes that the authorized sales agents 
consider appropriate, could result in a decision by such agents to review their sales network of the Group’s products, 
including the reduction of the network, and others., which could cause a downturn in the Group sales. 
 
13 Securing Human Resources 
The Group works hard to secure superior human resources for management, technology development, sales, and other 
areas when deploying business operations. However, since such superbly talented people are of limited number, there is 
fierce competition in the hiring of human resources. Under the current conditions, it may not be possible for the Group to 
secure the talented human resources it requires. 
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14 Defined Benefit Obligations 
Net defined benefit liability and net defined benefit asset are calculated based on actuarial assumptions, such as discount 
rates or returns on assets. However, the Group performance and financial condition may be adversely affected either if 
discrepancies between actuarial assumptions and business performance arise due to changing interest rates or a fall in the 
stock market and defined benefit obligations increase or our plan assets decrease and there is an increase in the pension 
funding deficit in the retirement benefit obligations system. 
 
15 Capital Expenditures and Fixed Cost Ratio 
The semiconductor business in which the Group is engaged requires substantial capital investment. The Group undertakes 
capital investment in an ongoing manner, and this requires it to bear the associated amortization costs. In addition, if there 
is a decrease in demand due to changes in the market climate and the anticipated scale of sales cannot be achieved, or if 
excess supply causes product prices to fall, there is a possibility that a portion or the entirety of the capital investment will 
not be recoverable or will take longer than anticipated to be recovered, and as a result it may have an adverse effect on the 
business performance and the financial condition of the Group. 

Furthermore, the majority of the expenses of the Group are accounted for by fixed costs such as production costs 
associated with factory maintenance and R&D expenses, in addition to the abovementioned amortization costs 
accompanying capital investment. Even if there is a decline in sales due to a reduction in orders from the Group’s main 
customers or a drop in product demand, or if the factory operating rate decreases, it may be difficult to reduce fixed costs to 
compensate. As a result, a relatively small-scale drop in sales can have an adverse effect on the profitability of the Group. 
 
16 Impairment Loss on Long-term Assets 
The Group owns substantial long-term assets, consisting of both property, plant and equipment such as plant facilities and 
intangible assets such as goodwill obtained through the past acquisition. In case that the acquisition of Altium Limited is 
completed, new goodwill and intangible assets are expected to be recorded as a result of the Acquisition. When there are 
indications of impairment, the Group examines the possibility of recovering the book value of assets based on the future 
cash flow to be generated from the assets. It may be necessary to recognize impairment of such assets if insufficient cash 
flow is generated.   
 
17 Information Systems 
Information systems are of growing importance in the Group’s business activities. Although the Group makes an effort to 
manage stable operation of information systems, there is a likelihood that customer confidence and social trust would 
deteriorate, resulting in a negative effect on the Group’s performance if there is a significant problem with the Group’s 
information systems caused by factors such as natural disasters, accidents, computer viruses and unauthorized accesses.  
 
18 Information Management 
The Group has in its possession a great deal of confidential information and personal information relating to its business 
activities. While such confidential information is managed according to law and internal regulations specifically designed for 
that purpose, there is always the risk that information may leak due to unforeseen circumstances. Should such an event 
occur, there is a likelihood that leaks of confidential information may result in damages to our competitive position and 
customer confidence and social trust would deteriorate, resulting in a negative effect on the Group’s performance. 
 
19 Legal Restrictions 
The Group is subject to a variety of legal restrictions in the various countries and regions. These include requirements for 
approval for businesses and investments, antitrust laws and regulations, export restrictions, customs duties and tariffs, 
accounting standards and taxation, and environment laws. In the future, it is possible that the Group’s businesses, 
performance, and financial condition may be adversely affected by increased costs and restrictions on business activities 
associated with the strengthening of local laws.  

The Group makes use of an internal regulation system to ensure legal compliance and appropriate financial reporting. 
However, since by its nature an internal regulation system is inherently limited, there is no guarantee that it will accomplish 
its goals completely. Consequently, the possibility is not nonexistent that legal violations, and others, may occur in the future. 
Should a violation of the law or other regulations occur, the Group could be subject to administrative penalties such as fines, 
legal penalties, or claims for compensatory damages, or there could be a negative impact on the social standing of the 
Group. This could have an adverse effect on the businesses, business performance, and financial condition of the Group. 
 
20 Environmental Factors 
The Group strives to decrease its environmental impact with respect to diversified and complex environmental issues such 
as global warming, air pollution, industrial waste, tightening of hazardous substance regulation, and soil pollution. There is 
the possibility that, regardless of whether there is negligence in its pursuit of business activities, the Group could bear legal 
or social responsibility for environmental problems. Should such an event occur, the burden of expenses for resolution could 
potentially be high, and the Group could suffer erosion in social trust. 
 
21 Intellectual Property 
While the Group seeks to protect its intellectual property, it may not be adequately protected in certain countries and areas. 
In addition, there are cases that the Group’s products are developed, manufactured and sold by using licenses received 
from third parties. In such cases, there is the possibility that the Group could not receive necessary licenses from third 
parties, or the Group could only receive licenses under terms and conditions that are less favorable than before. 

With regard to the intellectual property rights related to the Group’s products, it is possible that a third party might file a 
lawsuit against the Group or its customers claiming patent infringement, or the like, and that as a result the manufacture and 
sale of the affected products might not be possible in certain countries or regions. It is also possible that the Group could be 
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liable for damages to a third party or to a customer of the Group.  
 
22 Legal Issues 
Details are listed under “Note 37. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities, (5) Others” in the Financial Section.  
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FINANCIAL SECTION 
 
1. Basis of Preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(1) The consolidated financial statements of Renesas Electronics Corporation (hereinafter “the Company”) and its 
consolidated subsidiaries (hereinafter “the Group”) have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (hereinafter “IFRS”) pursuant to the provisions of Article 93 of the “Ordinance on Terminology, 
Forms and Preparation Methods of Consolidated Financial Statements” (Ministry of Finance Ordinance No. 28, 1976, 
hereinafter “Ordinance on Consolidated Financial Statements”). 

 
(2) The non-consolidated financial statements of the Company were prepared in accordance with the Ministry of Finance 

Ordinance No. 59, 1963, “Ordinance on Terminology, Forms and Preparation Methods of Consolidated Financial 
Statements” (hereinafter “Ordinance on Financial Statements”). 

As a company submitting financial statements prepared in accordance with special provisions of the Ordinance of 
Financial Statements, the Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with Article 127 of the Ordinance 
of Financial Statements. 

 
(3) In the consolidated financial statements and the non-consolidated financial statements, figures are presented by 

rounding them to the nearest million yen. 
 

2. Audit Certification 
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 (from January 1, 2023 to December 31, 

2023) and the non-consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 (from January 1, 2023 to 
December 31, 2023) were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Japan LLC in accordance with Article 193-2, Section 1, 
of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act.  

PricewaterhouseCoopers Aarata LLC, the firm from which the Company has traditionally received an audit report, 
merged with PricewaterhouseCoopers Kyoto on December 1, 2023, and has changed its name to 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Japan LLC. 

 
3. Special Measures for Preparing Fairly Stated Financial Statements 

These measures involve attaining a thorough understanding of accounting standards and developing a system for 
addressing changes made to these standards. To this end, the Company has registered with the Financial Accounting 
Standards Foundation, and participates in seminars. 

 
4. Development of a System to Appropriately Prepare Consolidated Financial Statements Based on IFRS 

To appropriately prepare its consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS, the Company obtains press 
releases and accounting standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as required to understand 
the latest standards and analyze the impact. The Company has also prepared the Group accounting policies or “Global 
Rule Book” in accordance with IFRS and formulates accounting treatments based on the Group accounting policies. In 
addition, the Company makes efforts to accumulate in-house expertise by participating in seminars hosted by the Financial 
Accounting Standards Foundation, audit corporations and others. 
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1. Consolidated Financial Statements 
(1) Consolidated Financial Statements 

(i) Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
(In millions of yen) 

 Notes  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 
Assets      

Current assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 8 336,068 434,681 
Trade and other receivables 9, 34 162,623 168,991 
Inventories 10 187,958 163,054 
Other current financial assets 16, 34 6,688 4,660 
Income taxes receivable  4,462 7,495 
Other current assets 11 17,320 21,792 
Total current assets  715,119 800,673 

    
Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment 12, 14, 15, 19 208,042 266,139 
Goodwill 7, 13, 15 1,264,275 1,362,131 
Intangible assets 13, 15 488,839 421,847 
Other non-current financial assets 16, 34 84,149 255,230 
Deferred tax assets 17 37,876 43,385 
Other non-current assets 11 14,191 17,598 
Total non-current assets  2,097,372 2,366,330 
Total assets  2,812,491 3,167,003 
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(In millions of yen) 

 Notes  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 
Liabilities and equity    
Liabilities    

Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 18, 34 222,941 243,192 
Bonds and borrowings 19, 34 120,005 425,312 
Other current financial liabilities 20, 34 13,838 24,311 
Income taxes payable  79,025 41,414 
Provisions 21 8,099 11,215 
Other current liabilities 11 81,565 83,281 
Total current liabilities  525,473 828,725 

    
Non-current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 18, 34 3,382 4,140 
Bonds and borrowings 19, 34 635,738 225,636 
Other non-current financial liabilities 20, 34 11,301 11,371 
Income taxes payable  2,551 2,757 
Retirement benefit liability 22 24,102 24,598 
Provisions 21 3,289 3,265 
Deferred tax liabilities 17 63,757 53,528 
Other non-current liabilities 11 5,435 7,395 
Total non-current liabilities  749,555 332,690 
Total liabilities  1,275,028 1,161,415 

    
Equity    

Share capital 23 153,209 153,209 
Capital surplus 23 348,446 359,398 
Retained earnings 23 828,582 1,157,236 
Treasury shares 23 (192,171) (217,691) 
Other components of equity  395,669 549,401 
Total equity attributable to owners of parent  1,533,735 2,001,553 
Non-controlling interests  3,728 4,035 
Total equity  1,537,463 2,005,588 
Total liabilities and equity  2,812,491 3,167,003 
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(ii) Consolidated Statements of Profit or Loss and Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
Consolidated Statements of Profit or Loss 

(In millions of yen) 

 Notes The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 
Revenue 6, 25 1,500,853 1,469,415 
Cost of sales  (646,864) (635,087) 
Gross profit  853,989 834,328 
    
Selling, general and administrative 
expenses 26 (426,878) (466,020) 

Other income 27 17,677 38,404 
Other expenses 28 (20,635) (15,946) 
Operating profit  424,153 390,766 
    
Finance income 29 1,409 38,142 
Finance costs 29 (63,280) (6,735) 
Profit before tax  362,282 422,173 
Income tax expense 17 (105,512) (84,862) 
Profit  256,770 337,311 
    
Profit attributable to    

Owners of parent  256,615 337,086 
Non-controlling interests  155 225 

Profit   256,770 337,311 
     
Earnings per share 31    

Basic earnings per share (yen)  137.66  189.77 
Diluted earnings per share (yen)  134.84  186.07 
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
(In millions of yen) 

 Notes The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 
     
Profit  256,770 337,311 
   
Other comprehensive income   
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss   
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans  1,913 (661) 
Equity instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income  (130) (475) 

Total of items that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss  1,783 (1,136) 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss   

Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations  312,709 168,396 

Cash flow hedges  (11,946) (7,015) 
Cost of hedges  6,653 (2,730) 

Total of items that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss  307,416 158,651 

Total other comprehensive income 30 309,199 157,515 
Total comprehensive income   565,969 494,826 

   
Comprehensive income attributable to   

Owners of parent  565,558 494,513 
Non-controlling interests  411 313 
Total comprehensive income   565,969 494,826 
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(iii) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 
The year ended December 31, 2022 

 

 
  

 (In millions of yen) 
 

Notes 

Equity attributable to owners of parent 

 

Share capital Capital surplus Retained earnings Treasury shares 

Other components of equity 

 
 

Share acquisition 
rights 

Remeasurements 
of defined benefit 

plans 

Equity 
instruments 

measured at fair 
value through 

other 
comprehensive 

income 
Balance as of  
January 1, 2022  147,133 337,989 570,292 (11) 13,270 ― (1,475) 

Profit  ― ― 256,615 ― ― ― ― 
Other comprehensive 
income  ― ― ― ― ― 1,913 (130) 

Total comprehensive 
income  ― ― 256,615 ― ― 1,913 (130) 

Issuance of new 
shares  6,076 6,040 ― ― ― ― ― 

Purchase and 
disposal of treasury 
shares 

23 ― (442) ― (192,160) ― ― ― 

Share-based payment 
transactions 33 ― 4,859 ― ― (6,277) ― ― 

Transfer to retained
earnings  ― ― 1,675 ― 609 (1,913) (371) 

Total transactions with 
owners  6,076 10,457 1,675 (192,160) (5,668) (1,913) (371) 

Balance as of 
December 31, 2022 

 153,209 348,446 828,582 (192,171) 7,602 ― (1,976) 

 

Notes 

Equity attributable to owners of parent 

Non-controlling 
interests Total equity 

 Other components of equity 
Total equity 

attributable to 
owners of parent 

 
 

Exchange 
differences on 
translation of 

foreign operations  

Cash flow hedges  Cost of hedges Total 

Balance as of  
January 1, 2022  83,454 (418) (153) 94,678 1,150,081 3,317 1,153,398 

Profit  ― ― ― ― 256,615 155 256,770 
Other comprehensive 
income  312,453 (11,946) 6,653 308,943 308,943 256 309,199 

Total comprehensive 
income  312,453 (11,946) 6,653 308,943 565,558 411 565,969 

Issuance of new 
shares  ― ― ― ― 12,116 ― 12,116 

Purchase and 
disposal of treasury 
shares 

23 ― ― ― ― (192,602) ― (192,602) 

Share-based payment 
transactions 33 ― ― ― (6,277) (1,418) ― (1,418) 

Transfer to retained 
earnings  ― ― ― (1,675) ― ― ― 

Total transactions with 
owners  ― ― ― (7,952) (181,904) ― (181,904) 

Balance as of 
December 31, 2022 

 395,907 (12,364) 6,500 395,669 1,533,735 3,728 1,537,463 
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The year ended December 31, 2023 

 

 

 (In millions of yen) 
 

Notes 

Equity attributable to owners of parent 

 

Share capital Capital surplus Retained earnings Treasury shares 

Other components of equity 

 
 

Share acquisition 
rights 

Remeasurements 
of defined benefit 

plans 

Equity 
instruments 

measured at fair 
value through 

other 
comprehensive 

income 
Balance as of  
January 1, 2023  153,209 348,446 828,582 (192,171) 7,602 ― (1,976) 

Profit   ― 337,086 ― ― ― ― 
Other comprehensive 
income   ― ― ― ― (661) (475) 

Total comprehensive 
income   ― 337,086 ― ― (661) (475) 

Purchase and 
disposal of treasury 
shares 

23  2,312 ― (25,520) ― ― ― 

Share-based payment 
transactions 33  1,596 ― ― (5,083) ― ― 

Transfer to retained 
earnings   7,044 (8,432) ― 587 661 140 

Other   ― ― ― ― ― ― 
Total transactions with 
owners   10,952 (8,432) (25,520) (4,496) 661 140 

Balance as of 
December 31, 2023 

 153,209 359,398 1,157,236 (217,691) 3,106 ― (2,311) 

 

Notes 

Equity attributable to owners of parent 

Non-controlling 
interests Total equity 

 Other components of equity 
Total equity 

attributable to 
owners of parent 

 
 

Exchange 
differences on 
translation of 

foreign operations  

Cash flow hedges  Cost of hedges Total 

Balance as of  
January 1, 2023 

 395,907 (12,364) 6,500 395,669 1,533,735 3,728 1,537,463 

Profit  ― ― ― ― 337,086 225 337,311 
Other comprehensive 
income 

 168,308 (7,015) (2,730) 157,427 157,427 88 157,515 

Total comprehensive 
income 

 168,308 (7,015) (2,730) 157,427 494,513 313 494,826 

Purchase and 
disposal of treasury 
shares 

23 
― ― ― ― (23,208) ― (23,208) 

Share-based payment 
transactions 

33 ― ― ― (5,083) (3,487) ― (3,487) 

Transfer to retained 
earnings 

 ― ― ― 1,388 ― ― ― 

Other  ― ― ― ― ― (6) (6) 
Total transactions with 
owners 

 ― ― ― (3,695) (26,695) (6) (26,701) 

Balance as of 
December 31, 2023 

 
564,215 (19,379) 3,770 549,401 2,001,553 4,035 2,005,588 
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(iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(In millions of yen) 

 Notes The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 
Cash flows from operating activities    

Profit before tax  362,282 422,173 
Depreciation and amortization   186,049 186,009 
Impairment losses   7,719 4,872 
Finance income and finance costs  9,959 (22,847) 
Share-based payment expenses  18,144 23,283 
Insurance claim income  (1,467) (30,665) 
Foreign exchange loss (gain)  42,997 (7,589) 
Loss (gain) on sales of property, plant and 
equipment, and intangible assets  (9,583) (1,337) 

Decrease (increase) in inventories  (41,546) 30,070 
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables  (7,886) 5,126 
Decrease (increase) in other financial assets  (29,303) (6,786) 
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables  13,882 2,438 
Increase (decrease) in retirement benefit liability  (4,600) (303) 
Increase (decrease) in provisions  (4,414) 2,112 
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities  (286) (6,972) 
Increase (decrease) in other financial liabilities  (1,454) (3,987) 
Other   (7,826) (5,773) 

Subtotal  532,667 589,824 
Interest received  491 25,286 
Dividends received  219 388 
Proceeds from insurance income  1,467 17,332 
Income taxes paid  (55,519) (136,203) 
Net cash flows from operating activities  479,325 496,627 

    
Cash flows from investing activities    

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (66,135) (88,223) 
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and 
equipment  10,627 1,783 

Purchase of intangible assets  (22,064) (40,904) 
Purchase of other financial assets  (5,602) (5,548) 
Proceeds from sales of other financial assets  1,268 676 
Payments for acquisitions of subsidiaries 7 (6,748) (9,738) 
Payments for settlement of contingent 
consideration for subsidiary shares  (2,103) (210) 

Proceeds from insurance income  ― 13,333 
Proceeds from government grant income  ― 5,493 
Payments for long-term loans receivable  ― (144,150) 
Other  (6,766) (4) 
Net cash flows from investing activities  (97,523) (267,492) 

    
Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from short-term borrowings 32 50,000 ― 
Repayments of short-term borrowings 32 (51,180) ― 
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 32 47,096 ― 
Repayments of long-term borrowings 32 (128,767) (120,015) 
Purchase of treasury shares 23 (200,000) (50,000) 
Repayments of lease liabilities 32 (5,901) (5,796) 
Interest paid  (5,947) (5,424) 
Other  (71) (12) 
Net cash flows from financing activities  (294,770) (181,247) 
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(In millions of yen) 

 Notes The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 
    
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 
equivalents  27,112 50,725 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  114,144 98,613 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the 
period 8 221,924 336,068 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 8 336,068 434,681 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
1. Reporting Entity 

Renesas Electronics Corporation (hereinafter “the Company”) is a public company established under the Companies Act 
of Japan and domiciled in Japan. The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company and its 
consolidated subsidiaries (hereinafter “the Group”) are composed of the Company, its subsidiaries and interests of the 
Group in its associates, with December 31, 2023 as the closing date. The Group engages in research, development, 
design, manufacturing, sales and services related to various kinds of semiconductors as a manufacturer specializing in 
semiconductors. For details of the Group’s major business, please refer to “Note 6. Business Segments.” 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 were approved on March 26, 2024 by 
Hidetoshi Shibata, President and CEO, and Shuhei Shinkai, Senior Vice President, Member of the Board and CFO. 

 
2. Basis for Preparation 

(1) Compliance with IFRS 
Because the Group meets the requirements for “Specified Companies Complying with Designated International 
Accounting Standards” stated in Article 1-2 of Ordinance on Consolidated Financial Statements, the Group has 
adopted the provisions of Article 93 of the Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been 
prepared in accordance with IFRS. 
  

(2) Basis of measurement 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared based on the accounting policies separately 
described in “Note 3. Significant Accounting Policies.” Assets and liabilities are measured at a historical cost basis 
unless otherwise stated. 

 
(3) Functional currency and presentation currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Japanese yen (rounded to the nearest million yen), which is 
the functional currency of the Company. 

 
(4) Changes in presentation 

(Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows) 
Within cash flows from operating activities category, “Insurance claim income” and “Proceeds from insurance income,” 
which was disclosed in “Other” for the year ended December 31, 2022, has been presented separately for the year 
ended December 31, 2023 due to the increase in its materiality. 

As a result, in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2022, "Insurance claim 
income" of (1,467) million yen and "Proceeds from insurance income" of 1,467 million yen are separately presented 
under cash flows from operating activities. Consequently, “Subtotal” of cash flows from operating activities has been 
revised from 534,134 million yen to 532,667 million yen. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies 
The significant accounting policies of the Group are as follows and are applied to all the periods presented in the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
(1) Basis of consolidation 

A. Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control refers to a case in which the Group has power over an entity, 
is exposed to variable returns from involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity. 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date when 
control is obtained until the date when control is lost. In the event that the Group disposes of some of its ownership 
interest in a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control, the change in ownership interest of the Group is 
accounted for as an equity transaction, and the difference between the adjustment of non-controlling interests and 
the fair value of the consideration is directly recognized in equity as equity attributable to owners of parent. 

If the closing dates of a subsidiary and that of the consolidated financial statements are different, financial 
statements prepared with a provisional closing date, which is same as that of consolidated financial statements, are 
used. 
 

B. Associates 
Associates are entities over which the Group has a significant influence over the decisions on financial and operating 
policies but does not have control. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. 

Investments in associates are initially recognized at cost. Ownership interests of the Group in profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income of the associate from the date when the Group obtains significant influence until the 
date when the Group loses significant influence are recognized as changes in the amount of investments in associates.  

 
C. Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Inter-company balances of receivables and payables, transactions and unrealized gains or losses resulting from 
inter-company transactions are eliminated on consolidation. 

 
(2) Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. Consideration transferred in a business 
combination is measured as the sum of the acquisition-date fair value of the assets transferred, liabilities to former 
owners of the acquiree, and equity instruments issued by the Company in exchange for control over the acquiree. 

Any excess of the consideration for acquisition, the non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of 
assets of the acquiree that the acquirer previously held over the net amount of identifiable assets and liabilities as of 
the date of acquisition is recognized as goodwill. Conversely, if the consideration for acquisition is lower than the net 
amount of identifiable assets and liabilities as of the date of acquisition, it is immediately recognized in profit or loss. 
Acquisition-related costs are recognized in profit or loss. The additional acquisition of non-controlling interests after 
obtaining control is accounted for as an equity transaction, and no corresponding goodwill is recognized. 

If the initial accounting treatment of a business combination is not completed by the end of the fiscal year when 
the business combination took place, provisional amounts for the items for which accounting is incomplete are reported, 
and such provisional amounts that were recognized as of the date of acquisition are adjusted retrospectively during 
the measurement period within one year from the date of acquisition. 

 
(3) Foreign currency translation 

A. Functional currency and presentation currency 
The financial statements of the Group entities are prepared in their respective functional currency. The consolidated 
financial statements of the Group are presented in Japanese yen, which is the functional currency of the Company. 

 
B. Foreign currency transactions 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate or a rate 
approximate to the spot exchange rate on the date of the transaction. Monetary items denominated in a foreign 
currency at the end of the reporting period are translated into the functional currency using the closing rate, while 
non-monetary items denominated in a foreign currency that are measured at historical cost are translated using the 
exchange rate in effect on the date of the initial transaction, and those that are measured at fair value are translated 
using the exchange rate in effect on the date when the fair value was calculated. 

Exchange differences from translation or settlement are recognized in profit or loss during the period when they 
arise. However, exchange differences arising from equity instruments and cash flow hedges measured through other 
comprehensive income are recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 

C. Foreign operations 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of a foreign operation are translated into 
Japanese yen at the exchange rate as of the closing date of the consolidated financial statements, and profit or loss 
and cash flows of the foreign operation are translated into Japanese yen at the exchange rate on the date of the 
transaction or the average exchange rate for the period that is approximate to the exchange rate on the date of the 
transaction. Exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income, and the cumulative amount thereof 
is recognized in other components of equity. 

On disposal of the entire ownership interest in a foreign operation or part of the interest that results in a loss of 
control or significant influence, the exchange differences of the foreign operation that were recognized in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the related gains 
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or losses on disposal are recognized. 
Monetary items, which are receivables or payables from foreign operations that settlements are neither planned 

nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future, are a part of the entity’s net investment in that foreign operation. Exchange 
differences arising from the monetary items are recognized in other comprehensive income. 

 
(4) Financial instruments 

A. Financial assets other than derivatives 
(a) Initial recognition and measurement 

Trade and other receivables are initially recognized at their transaction price on that date, and all other financial 
assets are initially recognized on the date of the transaction when the Company becomes the contracting party to 
the financial assets. 

At the time of initial recognition, financial assets are classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost 
or financial assets measured at fair value. 
(i) Financial assets measured at amortized cost 

Financial assets are classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions 
are met. 

• Assets are held within a business model that aims to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows. 
• The contract terms of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
(ii) Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

• Debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
If both of the following conditions are met, financial assets are classified as debt instruments measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income. 
- Assets are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both the collection and sale of 

contractual cash flows. 
- The contract terms of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
• Equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

When an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition is made, subsequent changes in fair value are 
recognized in other comprehensive income and such equity instruments are classified as financial assets 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
 

(iii) Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for either (i) or (ii) above are classified into financial assets 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
    
Financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial 
assets. Transaction costs for financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in 
profit or loss. 

 
(b) Subsequent measurement  

After the initial recognition, financial assets are measured as follows according to their classification. 
(i) Financial assets measured at amortized cost 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
(ii) Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
The amount of changes in the fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income is recognized in other comprehensive income, except for impairment gains or losses 
and foreign exchange gain or loss, until the financial assets are derecognized. If the financial assets are 
derecognized, gains or losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 
Equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
The amount of changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income is recognized in other comprehensive income. If the financial assets are derecognized, 
or if the fair value has declined significantly, gains or losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are 
directly reclassified to retained earnings. Dividend income from the financial assets is recognized as finance 
income in profit or loss. 

(iii) Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value after the initial 
recognition, and changes in fair value are recognized in profit or loss. 

 
(c) Impairment of financial assets 

For impairment of financial assets measured at amortized cost, the Group recognizes an allowance for expected 
credit losses of financial assets. On each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk of the financial 
instruments has increased significantly since the initial recognition. 

If the credit risk of financial instruments has not increased significantly since the initial recognition, the loss 
allowance of the financial instruments is measured at the amount of 12-month expected credit losses, and if the 
credit risk of the financial instruments has increased significantly since the initial recognition, the loss allowance of 
the financial instruments is measured at the amount of lifetime expected credit losses. 

However, for trade receivables, the loss allowance is always measured at the amount of lifetime expected credit 
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losses. 
Expected credit losses of the financial instruments are estimated in a way that reflects: 
• An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes 
• The time value of money 
• Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about 

past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions 
Changes in the amount of the measurement are recognized in profit or loss. 

 
(d) Derecognition 

The Group derecognizes financial assets if the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire, 
or if substantially all risks and rewards associated with ownership of the financial assets are transferred as a result 
of assigning the contractual right to receive cash flows from the financial assets. 

 
B. Financial liabilities other than derivatives 

(a) Initial recognition and measurement 
At the time of initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 
or financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss. Although all financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value, financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are measured at an amount obtained by 
deducting directly attributable transaction costs. 
 

(b) Subsequent measurement 
(i) Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. 

(ii) Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value after the initial 
recognition, and the changes are recognized in profit or loss. 
 

(c) Derecognition 
The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when they are extinguished, for example when then obligations 
specified in the contract are discharged, cancelled or expired. 

 
C. Derivatives and hedge accounting 

The Group holds derivative financial instruments for the purpose of hedging the risk of exchange rate fluctuations 
and others. The Group has a policy of not conducting speculative derivative transactions. 

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value, related transaction costs and the difference between the fair 
value at the time of initial recognition and the transaction price are recognized in profit or loss when they are 
incurred. After the initial recognition, derivatives are remeasured at fair value, and changes in the fair value are 
accounted for as described below, depending on whether the derivative financial instruments that are designated 
as hedging instruments meet the requirements for hedge accounting. The Group designates the derivatives that 
meet the requirements for hedge accounting as hedging instruments and applies hedge accounting. In addition, at 
the inception of a hedge, the Group formally documents the risk management objective, the relationship between 
hedging instruments and the hedged items, along with strategies when executing hedging transactions, the nature 
of the risk being hedged and the method of assessing hedge effectiveness. 
(a) Cash flow hedges 
Of gains or losses from hedging instruments, the effective portion of the hedge is recognized in other 
comprehensive income, and the ineffective portion is recognized in profit or loss. 

When applying cash flow hedges to currency swap contracts, the portion excluding the currency basis spread 
is designated as the hedging instrument, and for the currency basis spread portion, the amount of change in fair 
value is recognized as hedging cost through other components of equity and included in the comprehensive income. 
The amount accumulated in other components of equity is transferred to profit or loss during the same period in 
which the cash flows to be hedged affect profit or loss. If the hedged item is the acquisition of a non-financial asset, 
the amount accumulated in other components of equity will be treated as an adjustment to the initial acquisition 
cost of the non-financial asset. 

When the Group recognizes hedging cost for a derivative transaction entered in order to hedge a time-period 
related hedged item, it transfers the cumulative costs of hedging accumulated in other components of equity to 
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the period during which the hedge adjustment from the hedging 
instrument affects profit or loss. 

The amount of hedging instruments that is recorded in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or 
loss at the time when the underlying hedged transactions affect profit or loss. If the hedged items give rise to the 
recognition of non-financial assets or non-financial liabilities, the amount that is recognized in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified as an adjustment to the initial carrying amount of non-financial assets or non-financial 
liabilities. 

For cash flow hedges other than the above, the amount is reclassified from other comprehensive income to 
profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the hedged expected future cash flows affect profit or loss. 
However, if the accumulated amount is a loss and if all or part of the loss is not expected to be recovered in the 
future, the amount that is not expected to be recovered is immediately reclassified to profit or loss. 

When hedge accounting is terminated, this accumulated amount remains in other comprehensive income until 
the expected future cash flows occur, and if the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, this amount is 
immediately reclassified to profit or loss. 
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(b) Derivatives that do not meet requirements for hedge accounting 
Changes in fair value are recognized in profit or loss. 
 

D. Difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price 
In cases where the transaction price of a financial instrument differs from its fair value at the initial recognition, and the 
fair value is determined using unobservable inputs, the difference between the transaction price and fair value is 
deferred. This difference is recognized in profit or loss either when amortized over the term of the contract using the 
straight-line method or when the financial instrument is derecognized. 

 
 
(5) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, deposits that can be withdrawn at any time and short-term 
investments with a maturity of 3 months or less when purchased that can be easily converted to cash and are subject 
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 
(6) Inventories 

The acquisition cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and all other costs incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. 

After the initial recognition, inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value, but if cost 
exceeds net realizable value, the inventories are written down to net realizable value. The net realizable value is 
calculated by deducting the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale from 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business. 
The cost is also calculated using the following methods: 

Merchandise and finished goods 
Custom-made products: Specific identification method 
Mass products: Average method 

Work in progress 
Custom-made products: Specific identification method 
Mass products: Average method 

Raw materials and supplies: Mainly average method 
 

(7) Property, plant and equipment (other than leased assets) 
The acquisition cost of property, plant and equipment includes costs directly related to the acquisition of assets, 
dismantling, disposal and restoration costs and borrowing costs that meet the requirements for capitalization.  

The cost model is used in the measurement of property, plant and equipment, and they are presented at the 
carrying value obtained by deducting accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses from the 
acquisition cost. 

Except for land and construction in progress, the acquisition cost of each asset after deducting the residual value 
is depreciated over the estimated useful life using the straight-line method. 

The estimated useful life, the residual value and the depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each fiscal 
year, and any changes are applied to the period when the estimated are changed and future periods prospectively as 
a change in the accounting estimate. The impact of the change of these estimates is recognized in the period when 
the estimates are changed and future periods. 
The estimated useful lives of major assets are as follows. 

Buildings and structures 10 to 45 years
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 2 to 8 years
Tools, furniture and fixtures  2 to 10 years

 
(8) Goodwill and intangible assets 

A. Goodwill 
The measurement of goodwill at the time of initial recognition is as stated in “(2) Business combinations.” After initial 
recognition, goodwill is not amortized and is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

Goodwill is allocated to each of the acquirer’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies 
of the business combination, and an impairment test is performed for the cash-generating units to which goodwill was 
allocated at a certain time each fiscal year and whenever there is an indication of impairment. Impairment losses on 
goodwill are recognized in profit or loss and are not reversed in a subsequent period. 

 
B. Intangible assets 

The cost model is used for intangible assets, and they are presented at cost less any accumulated amortization and 
accumulated impairment losses.  
(a) Intangible assets acquired separately 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost at the time of initial recognition. 

 
(b) Intangible assets acquired in a business combination 
For intangible assets acquired in a business combination, their acquisition cost is measured at fair value as of the 
date of acquisition. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are comprised primarily of developed 
technology, customer relationships, and in-process research and development. 
(Developed technology) 
Intangible assets that represent future excess earnings power expected to arise from the technology and that have 
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been already developed as of the date of acquisition with the acquiree are recognized as Developed technology. 
(Customer relationships) 
Intangible assets related to future excess earnings power expected to arise from the existing customers as of the 
date of acquisition with the acquiree are recognized as Customer relationships. 
(In-process research and development) 
Intangible assets in an intermediate stage of identifiable research and development assets meeting the asset 
requirements are recognized as in-process research and development. 
The details for intangible assets acquired in a business combination, see “Note 13. Goodwill and Intangible Assets.” 
 
(c) Internally-generated intangible assets (Capitalized development cost) 
For internally-generated intangible assets, the expenditure is recorded as an expense, except for development costs 
that meet the following requirements for capitalization: 

• The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; 
• The intention of an entity to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 
• The ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 
• A method for the intangible asset to generate probable future economic benefits; 
• The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources necessary for completing the development 

of the intangible asset and using or selling it; and 
• The ability to measure the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development reliably 
These internally generated intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method based on estimated 
useful life (5 years) for which they are expected to provide net cash inflows. Expenditure on research and 
development that does not meet the requirements for capitalization above is recognized in profit or loss at the 
time of occurrence. 

 
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their respective estimated useful life using the straight-
line method, and an impairment test is performed if any indications of impairment exist. For intangible assets with 
finite useful lives, their useful lives and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each fiscal year. A change in 
the useful life or the amortization method is applied prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. 

Commercial software products are mainly amortized using a method based on the expected sales volume over the 
expected sales period (3 years or less), and software for internal use is mainly amortized using the straight-line method 
based on the expected available period (5 years) for internal use. Technical assets are mainly amortized using the 
straight-line method based on the available period (15 years or less) in business activities. Customer relationships are 
mainly amortized using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful life (14 years or less). 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life and intangible assets that are not yet available for use are not amortized, 
and an impairment test is performed at a certain time each fiscal year or whenever any indication of impairment exists. 

 
(9) Leases 

    A. Overall 
(a) Identification of a lease 
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, 
a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 
The Group reviews the following to assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset. 
(i)The use of the identified asset in a contract is directed. 
(ii)The lessee has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset 
throughout the period of use. 
(iii)The lessee has the right to direct the use of an asset. Also, in case that the determination of how and for what 
purpose the asset is used are predetermined, if applicable to any of the following, it is determined that the lessee has 
the right to direct the use of an asset. 

The lessee has the right to operate the asset. 
The lessee designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose the asset will be used. 

 
(b) Lease term 
The lease term is defined as the non-cancellable period for which a lessee has the right to use an underlying asset, 
together with both: 

periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and 
periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. 

 
B. Leases as Lessee 

(a) Separable components of a contract 
The Group allocates the consideration in contract for a building lease to lease and non-lease components on the 
basis of the relative stand-alone price of each lease component. In addition, the Group elects not to separate non-
lease components from lease components, and instead accounts for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component for the lease other than a building lease. 
 
(b) Right-of-use assets 
The Group recognizes the right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities at the date of initial application. The right-of-use 
assets are measured initially at cost. This cost is calculated by deducting any lease incentives received from the sum 
of the amounts of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, any initial direct costs and an estimate of costs to be incurred in dismantling and removing the 
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underlying assets, restoring the underlying asset or restoring the site on which it is located. After the commencement 
date, the right-of-use asset is measured using a cost model by deducting any accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses from the cost. 

The right-of-use assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the period which is the earlier of the 
useful life of the underlying asset or the lease term. If it is reasonably certain that the Group will exercise a purchase 
option, depreciation is based on the useful life of the underlying asset. 
 
(c) Lease liabilities 
Lease liabilities are measured initially at the present value of unpaid lease payments discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease. If the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental 
borrowing rate is used. The Group typically uses our incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

The lease payments in the measurement of lease liabilities includes the fixed payments, the amount of payments 
for the lease in any optional period if it is considered to be reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and the 
payments of penalties for terminating the lease if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate 
the lease. 

If there is a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate, there is a change in the 
amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change in determining whether 
purchase, extension and termination option is reasonably certain to exercise, lease liabilities are remeasured. 

When lease liabilities are remeasured, the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets is adjusted or the remaining 
remeasurement is recognized in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets is reduced to zero. 
 

     (d) Short-term leases within 12 months and leases of low-value assets 
The Group elects not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases within 12 months and 
leases of low-value assets including IT equipment and recognizes these lease payments as expenses over the lease 
term using the straight-line method. 
 

(10) Impairment of non-financial assets 
The Group determines whether there is any indication that an asset (except for inventories, deferred tax assets and 
retirement benefit assets) may be impaired each fiscal year, and if such indication exists, an impairment test is 
performed. However, for goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite useful life or that are not yet available for use, an 
impairment test is performed at a certain time each fiscal year and when indicators of impairment are identified. or 
when any signs of impairment are identified. 

In the impairment test, a recoverable amount is estimated, and the carrying amount and the recoverable amount 
are compared. The recoverable amount of assets or cash-generating units is calculated at the higher of the value in 
use and the fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows to the present value, using the pre-tax discount rate that reflects the time value of money and risks specific to 
the asset. 

If the recoverable amount of assets or cash-generating units is lower than the carrying amount as a result of the 
impairment test, an impairment loss is recognized. When the impairment loss of a cash-generating unit including 
goodwill is recognized, an allocation is made first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill that is allocated to the 
cash-generating unit, and then an allocation is made to proportionally reduce the carrying amount of other assets in 
the cash-generating unit. 

The impairment loss is reversed if there is any indication that the impairment loss recognized in a prior period may 
no longer exist or may have decreased and if the estimated recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount. The 
upper limit of the reversal shall not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognized in prior years, net of normal depreciation or amortization. The impairment loss on goodwill is not 
reversed. 

 
(11) Provisions 

The Group recognizes a provision if the Group has assumed a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, if it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and if a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

If the time value of the money of the provision is significant, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to the 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the time value of the money and risks specific to the liability. 
The unwinding of the discount amount due to the passage of time are recognized as a finance cost. 

 
(12) Levies 

For levies that are an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits required by the government to the Group in 
accordance with laws and regulations, an expected payment is recognized as a liability when the obligation event that 
triggers the payment of levies prescribed by laws and regulations occurs. 

 
  (13) Employee benefits 

A. Short-term employee benefits 
A short-term employee benefit is an employee benefit that will be settled within 12 months from the end of the fiscal 
year in which the employee renders the related service to the Group, and the Group recognizes an amount expected 
to be paid in exchange for the services rendered during a certain accounting period. Short-term employee benefits in 
the Group include bonuses and benefits related to paid leave. 

The expected costs of employee benefits related to accumulating paid leave are recognized when an employee 
renders the service that will increase the entitlement to future paid leave. In addition, the Group measures the expected 
cost of accumulating paid leave as an additional amount that the Group is expected to pay as a result of the unused 
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entitlement that has accumulated as of the end of the fiscal year. 
Bonuses are recognized as a liability if the Group has a legal or constructive obligation to pay as a result of the 

provision of service by the employee in the past and if the obligation can be estimated reliably. 
 
B. Post-employment benefits 

For post-employment benefit plans, the Group has adopted defined benefit plans and defined contribution plans. 
(a) Defined contribution plans 

Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized as an expense when they are incurred unless they are 
included in inventories or property, plant and equipment. If contributions already paid exceed contributions due for 
services provided before the end of the fiscal year, the Group recognizes the excess as an asset to the extent to 
which the prepayment becomes the reduction of future payments or a future refund. 

 
(b) Defined benefit plans 

The net amount of assets or liabilities of the defined benefit plan is the amount obtained by deducting the fair value 
of the plan assets (including the upper limit of the assets and adjustments to minimum funding requirements, if 
necessary) from the present value of defined benefit obligations, and it is recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements as an asset or a liability. The defined benefit obligations are calculated using the projected unit credit 
method, and the present value of defined benefit obligations is calculated by applying a discount rate to the 
expected payment amount in the future. The discount rate is calculated based on market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on high quality corporate bonds corresponding to the discount period which is determined based 
on the period until the future expected benefit payment date in each reporting period. 

Service costs and net interest expense for the net amount of assets or liabilities related to the defined benefit 
plans are recognized in profit or loss. 

Actuarial gains or losses and fluctuations in the return on the plan assets excluding the portion included in the 
net interest expense and change in the impact of the asset ceiling are recognized in other comprehensive income 
as “Remeasurements of defined benefit plans” in the corresponding period and are immediately transferred from 
other components of equity to retained earnings. Past service costs are recognized in profit or loss when the plan 
is revised or curtailed, or when related restructuring costs or termination benefits are recognized, whichever is 
earlier. 

 
C. Other long-term employee benefits 

As long-term employee benefit plans other than post-employment benefits, the Group has a special leave and a 
reward plan based on the number of service years. The obligations regarding other long-term employee benefits are 
measured at the amount obtained by discounting the estimated amount of future benefits that the employees have 
earned as consideration for services rendered in the previous and current fiscal years to the present value. 
 

(14) Government grants 
Government grants are recognized at fair value when there is reasonable assurance that the Group complies with 
the required conditions and that the grants will be received. Grants related to revenue are recognized in profit or loss. 
Grants recognized as profit or loss are deducted from the corresponding expenses when they are directly based on 
the incurred expenses. Grants received based on other conditions are shown in other income. For grants related to 
assets, the grant amount is directly deducted from the acquisition cost. 

 
(15) Treasury shares 

When treasury shares are acquired, the amount of the consideration paid, including directly attributable transaction 
costs, is recognized at cost and deducted from equity. Including disposals of treasury shares based on the exercise 
of stock options and the vesting of Restricted Stock Unit (RSU) and Performance Share Unit (PSU), when treasury 
shares are sold, the gains or losses on the disposal are recognized as capital surplus. 
 

(16) Share-based payments 
The Group has adopted share-based payment plans as incentive plans for directors, senior vice presidents and 
employees. 

Restricted Stock Unit (RSU) and Performance Share Unit (PSU) are share-based payment plans with share 
issuance in the future. RSU is vested subject to continued employment with a Group Company and PSU is vested in 
response to the extent of the growth rate of total shareholder return. The payments are measured with reference to 
the fair value of the Company's stock, recognized as an expense in profit or loss, and the same amount is recognized 
as an increase in equity. 

Stock options are estimated at fair value on the grant date and recognized as an expense over the vesting period, 
taking into account the number of stock options that are expected to eventually vest, and the same amount is 
recognized as an increase in equity. The fair value of granted options is calculated by taking the terms and conditions 
of the options into account. If it is determined that the number of stock options that will be vested will differ from the 
prior estimate due to subsequent information, the estimate of the number of stock options that will be vested is revised 
as necessary. In cases where rights expire or not exercised after vesting, the reversal amount of the share-based 
payment is directly transferred to retained earnings. 
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(17) Revenue recognition 
   The Group recognizes revenue based on the following five-step model. 

Step 1: Identify the contract with a customer 
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract 
Step 3: Determine the transaction price 
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract 
Step 5: Recognize revenue when the entity satisfies a performance obligation 

 
The Group engages in research, development, design, manufacturing, sales and services related to various kinds 

of semiconductors as a manufacturer specializing in semiconductors. Revenue is mainly recognized when the goods 
are delivered as the ownership of these goods has been transferred to the customer and the performance obligations 
are identified at the time of delivery. 

Also, revenue is measured at the amount of the consideration received after deducting discounts, rebates and 
returns. 

Sales to specific distributors may be subject to the following various sales promotion programs. 
Ship and debit is a program designed to assist specific distributors on their sales to end customers through pricing 

adjustments. Under this program, the selling prices will be adjusted when the specific distributors sell the products to 
the end customers. At the time we record sales to the specific distributors, we accrue for refund liabilities and deduct 
the same amounts from revenue based on the estimate of the variable consideration resulting from the possible 
application of the ship and debit program upon the future sales by the distributors. In addition, the related balance of 
accounts receivable-trade is transferred to long-term accounts receivable in order to reduce specific distributors' 
financial burden caused by a time lag, and will be reversed in the future based on the contract. 

Stock rotation is a program whereby on a semiannual basis, specific distributors are allowed to return, for credit, 
inventories equal to a certain percentage of their purchases for the previous six months. We accrue for refund liabilities 
related to the stock rotation program at every closing date and deduct the same amount from revenue. 

 
(18) Finance income and Finance costs 

Finance income consists of dividend income, interest income, foreign exchange gain, gains on sales of financial assets, 
gains on hedging financial instruments that are recognized in profit or loss, the transfer of amounts previously 
recognized in other comprehensive income, and others. Interest income is recognized at the time of occurrence using 
the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognized on the date when the Group’s right to receive payment 
is established. 

Finance costs consist of interest expenses for corporate bonds, borrowings and interest expenses for lease 
liabilities, foreign exchange loss, losses on sales of financial assets, losses from hedging financial instruments that 
are recognized in profit or loss, the transfer of amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income and 
others. Acquisitions or construction of qualifying assets, or borrowing costs not directly attributable to the production, 
are recognized at the time of occurrence using the effective interest method. Lease payments are allocated to finance 
costs and the repayment portion of the liability balance, and finance costs are allocated over the lease term so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

 
(19) Income taxes 

Current taxes and deferred taxes are presented as income tax expense in the consolidated statements of profit or 
loss, except for those related to business combinations and items that are recognized in other comprehensive income 
or that are directly recognized in equity. 

Current taxes and deferred taxes related to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income are 
recognized in other comprehensive income. 

 
A. Current taxes 

Current taxes are measured at the amount paid to tax authorities or the amount expected to be refunded from tax 
authorities. The tax rates and the tax law used for the calculation of the tax amount are those established or 
substantively established by the closing date. 

 
B. Deferred taxes 

Deferred taxes are calculated based on temporary differences between the tax base amount and the carrying amount 
for accounting purposes of assets and liabilities at the end of the fiscal year. Deferred tax assets are recognized for 
deductible temporary differences, unused tax credits and unused tax losses are expected to arise to the extent to 
which it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized, and deferred tax liabilities 
are recognized for taxable temporary differences, in principle. 

Neither a deferred tax asset nor a deferred tax liability is recognized for the following temporary differences: 
• Temporary difference arising from the initial recognition of goodwill 
• Temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transactions (excluding 

business combination) that do not impact accounting profits and taxable profits or losses, and that do not give 
rise to taxable temporary difference and deductible temporary difference in the same amount. 

• A case where the timing for eliminating a taxable temporary difference for an investment in a subsidiary or an 
associate and an interest in the arrangement of joint control can be controlled and where it is probable that the 
difference will not be eliminated in the foreseeable future 

• A case where it is improbable that a deductible temporary difference for an investment in a subsidiary or an 
associate and an interest in the arrangement of joint control will be eliminated in the foreseeable future, or a case 
where it is improbable that a taxable profit that will be available for the temporary difference will be earned 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at a tax rate (and based on tax law) that is expected to be applied 
in the period when assets are realized or liabilities are settled based on the statutory tax rate (and based on tax law) 
that is established or substantively established by the closing date. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if the Group has the legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets and current tax liabilities, and if any of the following cases applies: 

• Income tax expense is imposed on the same taxable entity by the same tax authority 
• Although income tax expense is imposed on different taxable entities, these taxable entities intend to settle 

current tax assets and current tax liabilities on a net basis or intend to settle current tax liabilities at the same 
time as realizing current tax assets. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each fiscal year. If it becomes improbable 

that taxable profits sufficient to realize part or all of the benefits of deferred tax assets will be earned, the carrying 
amount of deferred tax assets is reduced to that extent. In addition, the amount of the write-down is reversed to the 
extent to which it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be earned. 

The Group recognizes tax assets and liabilities at a reasonably estimated amount where there is an uncertain tax 
position. 

 
  (20) Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit attributable to owners (ordinary shareholders) of the parent 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, net of treasury shares, during each fiscal year. 

Diluted basic earnings per share are calculated, adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
 
(21) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

A. Non-current assets held for sale 
For assets or asset groups that are not in continuing use and for which recovery through sale is expected, that are 
highly likely to be sold within one year, and that the execution of sales plan is confirmed by management and can be 
sold in their current condition, assets held for sale and liabilities directly related to assets held for sale are classified 
into disposal groups separately from other assets and liabilities and recorded in the consolidated statements of 
financial position. 

Non-current assets classified as assets held for sale are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and the 
fair value after deducting the costs for sale. Assets classified as assets held for sale are not depreciated or amortized. 

 
B. Discontinued operations 

A component of an entity that has either been disposed of or is classified as held for sale is recognized as a 
discontinued operation if any of the following applies: 

• A separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; 
• Part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of 

operations; or 
• A subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. 

 
If an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the consolidated statements of profit or loss and the 

consolidated statements of comprehensive income for a comparative period are restated on the assumption that the 
operation was discontinued on the commencement date of the comparative period. 
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4. Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgments 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management of the Group makes judgements, accounting estimates 
and assumptions that could have an impact on the application of accounting policies and the reporting amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenue and expenses. These estimates and assumptions are based on the best judgment of management, 
taking into account various factors that are deemed reasonable on the closing date in light of past experience and available 
information. However, figures based on these estimates and assumptions may differ from the actual results due to their 
nature. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed continuously. The results of the review of these estimates are 
reflected in the period when the estimates are revised and for the future periods. 

 
Estimates and assumptions that have a significant impact on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial 

statements are as follows: 
 

(1) Impairment of non-financial assets 
The Group performs an impairment test for non-financial assets (excluding inventories, deferred tax assets and 
retirement benefit asset) if there is any indication that the recoverable amount will be less than the carrying amount. 

However, for goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite useful life or that are not yet available for use, an 
impairment test is performed at a certain time each fiscal year and when any signs of impairment exist. 

The impairment test is performed by comparing the carrying amount and the recoverable amount of the assets, 
and if the recoverable amount falls below the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recorded. The recoverable 
amount is calculated mainly using the discounted cash flow model, where certain assumptions, including, but not 
limited to, the useful life of the asset, future cash flows, sales revenue, gross margin, discount rate, and long-term 
growth rate, are made. These assumptions are determined based on the best estimates and judgments of 
management but could be influenced by fluctuations in uncertain future economic conditions. If a revision becomes 
necessary, it could have a significant impact on the amounts that will be recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements of subsequent periods. 

The calculation method of the recoverable amount is stated in “Note 15. Impairment of Non-financial Assets.” 
 

(2) Post-employment benefits 
The Group has a variety of post-employment benefit plans, including a defined benefit plan. 

The present value of the defined benefit obligation of each plan and related service costs are calculated based on 
actuarial assumptions. For the actuarial assumptions, estimates and judgments on a range of variables such as the 
discount rate are required. 

The actuarial assumptions are determined based on the best estimates and judgments of management but could 
be affected by fluctuations in uncertain future economic conditions. If a revision becomes necessary, it could have a 
significant impact on the amounts that will be recognized in the consolidated financial statements of subsequent 
periods. 

These actuarial assumptions and related sensitivities are stated in “Note 22. Employee Benefits.” 
 

(3) Provisions 
The Group records multiple provisions in the consolidated statements of financial position, including the provision for 
product warranties and asset retirement obligations, among others. 

These provisions are recorded based on the best estimate of expenditure required for the settlement of the 
obligations, considering risks and uncertainties related to the obligations on the closing date. 

The amount of expenditure required for the settlement of the obligations is calculated by comprehensively 
considering results that could arise in the future, but it could be affected by the occurrence of unforeseeable events 
and changes in the situation. If the actual amount of expenditure differs from the estimate, it could have a significant 
impact on amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements of subsequent periods. 

The nature and amounts of provisions are stated in “Note 21. Provisions.” 
 

(4) Recoverability of deferred tax assets 
When deferred tax assets are recognized, the time and amount of taxable profits that will be earned in the future based 
on a business plan are estimated and calculated based on judgment of the possibility that taxable profits will arise. 
Because the timing and amount of taxable profits are affected by the future business performance of the Group, if the 
actual timing and amount differ from the estimate, it could have a significant impact on the amounts recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements of subsequent periods. 

Details and amounts of deferred tax assets are stated in “Note 17. Income Tax.” 
 
(5) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at cost, but if the net realizable value at the end of the fiscal year falls below the acquisition 
cost, inventories are measured at the net realizable value, and the difference from the acquisition cost is recognized 
in the cost of sales, in principle. For slow moving inventory that is outside of the operating cycle process, the net 
realizable value is calculated reflecting the future demand and market trends. If the net realizable value declines 
significantly due to the greater-than-expected deterioration of the market environment, it could have a significant 
impact on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements of subsequent periods. 
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(6) Measurement method of the fair value of financial instruments 
When the Group evaluates the fair value of certain financial instruments, the Group uses valuation techniques that 
use inputs that are not observable in the market. These unobservable inputs could be affected by fluctuations in 
uncertain future economic conditions, and if a revision becomes necessary, it could have a significant impact on the 
consolidated financial statements in subsequent periods. 

The details and amounts of the fair value of financial instruments are stated in “Note 3. Significant Accounting 
Policies, (4) Financial instruments” and “Note 34. Financial Instruments.” 

 
(7) Income taxes 

The Group recognizes tax assets and liabilities at a reasonably estimated amount based on the interpretation of tax 
laws where there is an uncertain tax position. Deferred taxes of the Group include liabilities related to an uncertain tax 
position. Tax effects of assets and liabilities explained above are calculated using the expected value method. 
Estimates are based on the best estimate at the moment. However, differences from the estimates could have a 
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements in subsequent periods depending on the actual results. For 
details, please refer to “Note 17. Income Taxes.” 
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5. Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted 
None of the new standards and interpretations that were newly issued or revised as of the date of the approval of the 
consolidated financial statements have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

 
. 
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6. Business Segments 
(1) Overview of reportable segments 

The Group’s reportable segments are components of the Group for which separate financial information is available that 
is evaluated regularly by the Board of Directors to determine the allocation of management resources and assess 
performance. 

The Group mainly consists of “Automotive Business” and “Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT Business” and those are the 
Group’s reportable segments. The Automotive Business includes the product categories “Automotive control,” comprising 
semiconductor devices for controlling automobile engines and bodies, and “Automotive information,” comprising of 
semiconductor devices used in sensing systems for detecting environments inside and outside the vehicle as well as 
automotive information devices such as IVI and instrument panels used to give various information to the driver of the 
vehicle. The Group mainly supplies MCUs, SoCs, analog semiconductor devices and power semiconductor devices in 
each of these categories. The Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT Business includes the product categories “Industrial,” 
“Infrastructure” and “IoT” which support the smart society. The Group mainly supplies MCUs and SoCs in each of these 
categories. Additionally, commissioned development and manufacturing from the Group’s design and manufacturing 
subsidiaries are categorized as “Other.” 

 
(2) Information on reportable segments 

The accounting treatment for the reportable segments is same as described in “Note 3. Significant Accounting Policies.” 
The Group discloses revenue from external customers, segment gross profit, and segment operating profit (which is the 
segment profit). 

Segment gross profit and segment operating profit are internal key performance indicators which are used by 
management when making decisions and are calculated by excluding the following items from IFRS revenue, gross profit 
and operating profit (Adjustments 2): amortization of certain tangible and intangible assets related to business 
combinations; certain share-based payment expenses; and other non-recurring items. Other non-recurring items include 
costs related to acquisitions and gains and losses the Group believes to be appropriate for deduction. However, certain 
other non-recurring items the Group believes to be covered by each reportable segment are included in segment gross 
profit and segment operating profit of each reportable segment (Adjustments 1). The Group’s Executive Officers assess 
the performance after eliminating intragroup transactions, and therefore, there are no transfers between reportable 
segments included within the segment results. 

 Information on reportable segments is as follows. 
 
(The year ended December 31, 2022)         (In millions of yen) 
 Reportable Segments 

Other Adjustments 
1 Total Adjustments 

2 
Consolidation 

basis Automotive 
Industrial/ 

Infrastructure/ 
IoT 

Revenue from external 
customers 645,040 845,881 11,778 ― 1,502,699 (1,846) 1,500,853 

Segment gross profit 324,423 535,345 3,394 ― 863,162 (9,173) 853,989 
Segment operating 
profit 219,216 331,772 3,394 5,004 559,386 (135,233) 424,153 

Finance income  
 

1,409 
Finance costs (63,280) 
Profit before tax 362,282 
(Other items)        
Depreciation and 
amortization 42,042 37,790 ― ― 79,832 106,217 186,049 

 
 

(The year ended December 31, 2023)         (In millions of yen) 
 Reportable Segments 

Other Adjustments 
1 Total Adjustments 

2 
Consolidation 

basis Automotive 
Industrial/ 

Infrastructure/ 
IoT 

Revenue from 
external customers 695,040 764,707 9,960 ― 1,469,707 (292) 1,469,415 

Segment gross profit 363,197 470,756 3,482 ― 837,435 (3,107) 834,328 
Segment operating 
profit 238,713 259,029 3,482 414 501,638 (110,872) 390,766 

Finance income 
 

38,142 
Finance costs (6,735) 
Profit before tax 422,173 
(Other items)        
Depreciation and 
amortization 40,492 39,760 ― ― 80,252 105,757 186,009 

 
 
(3) Information on products and services 
Information on products and services is the same with information on reportable segments and therefore, omitted from this 
section.  
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(4) Information on regions and countries 
The components of revenue and non-current assets from external customers by region and country are as follows. 
a. Revenue from external customers 

(In millions of yen) 

 The year ended  
December 31, 2022  The year ended  

December 31, 2023 

Japan 376,795 376,658 

China 424,150 359,069 

Asia (Excluding Japan and China) 319,311 310,580 

Europe 236,683 261,917 

North America 137,815 155,878 

Others 6,099 5,313 

Total 1,500,853 1,469,415 

(Note) Revenues are categorized into the country or region based on the location of the customers. 
 
b. Non-current assets 

Non-current assets include property, plant and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets. 
(In millions of yen) 

 The year ended  
December 31, 2022  The year ended  

December 31, 2023 

Japan 1,586,223  1,705,320 

Malaysia 229,101  194,670 

North America 66,362  69,518 

Europe 41,022  41,943 

Asia (Excluding Japan and Malaysia) 38,446  38,666 

Others 2   

Total 1,961,156  2,050,117 

 
(5) Major customers 

There was no external customer accounting for 10% or more of revenue in the consolidated statements of profit or 
loss, and therefore, information is omitted. 

 
 
 
  



37 

7. Business Combinations 
Business combinations implemented during the year ended December 31, 2022 and the year ended December 31, 2023 
are as follows. Business combinations which are not material individually or collectively are omitted. 
 

(The year ended December 31, 2022) 
(Dialog Semiconductor Plc) 

As of December 31, 2021, the acquisition was accounted for using provisional amounts determined based on reasonable 
information available at the time of preparing consolidated financial statements. Since the recognition and fair value 
measurement of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date had not been finalized, the 
purchase price allocation was provisionally accounted for. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group has completed 
the purchase price allocation and revised the goodwill amount as follows: 
 
Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date (August 31, 2021) 

(In millions of yen) 
Adjusted items Adjustments of goodwill 

Goodwill (before adjustment) (Note 1) 519,618 
 Inventories 316 
Property, plant and equipment (2,531) 
Intangible assets (Note 2) (146,963) 
Other (Non-current assets) (125) 
Other (Current liabilities) (1,458) 
Other financial liabilities 345 
Deferred tax liabilities 29,731 
Other (Non-current liabilities) (763) 
Total adjustments (121,448) 

Goodwill (after adjustment) (Note 1) 398,170 
 
(Note 1) Goodwill reflects expected synergies with existing business and future excess earning power arising from the 

acquisition of Dialog Semiconductor Plc (hereinafter “Dialog”). No amount of goodwill is expected to be deductible 
for tax purposes. 

(Note 2) The amount allocated to intangible assets is mainly developed technology, and the fair value of such intangible 
assets is measured using the excess earnings method based on assumptions such as future business plans and 
discount rates. 

 
Dialog changed its company name from Dialog Semiconductor Plc to Dialog Semiconductor Limited on September 14, 

2021. 
 
(Celeno Communications Inc.) 

As of December 31, 2021, the acquisition was accounted for using provisional amounts determined based on reasonable 
information available at the time of preparing consolidated financial statements. Since the recognition and fair value 
measurement of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date had not been finalized, the 
purchase price allocation was provisionally accounted for. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group has completed 
the purchase price allocation and revised the goodwill amount as follows. Adjustment in consideration for the acquisition is 
reflected for the year ended December 31, 2022. 
 
Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date (December 20, 2021) 

(In millions of yen) 
Adjusted items Adjustments of goodwill 

Goodwill (before adjustment) (Note) 34,193 
 Inventories 166 
Intangible assets (18,644) 
Deferred tax liabilities 409 
Adjustment in consideration for the 
acquisition (Cash) 26 

Total adjustments (18,043) 
Goodwill (after adjustment) (Note) 16,150 

 
(Note) Goodwill reflects expected synergies with existing business and future excess earning power arising from the 

acquisition of Celeno Communications Inc. (hereinafter “Celeno”). No amount of goodwill is expected to be deductible 
for tax purposes. 

 
Celeno changed its company name from Celeno Communications Inc. to Renesas Semiconductor Design US Inc. on 

September 29, 2023. 
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(Steradian Semiconductors Private Limited) 
a. Overview of business combination 

On October 17, 2022, the Company completed the acquisition of Steradian Semiconductors Private Limited (hereinafter 
“Steradian”) headquartered in Bengaluru, India. Following the completion of the acquisition, Steradian has become a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 
 
1) Name and overview of the acquiree 
Name of the acquiree: Steradian Semiconductors Private Limited. 
Business overview:   4D imaging radar solutions. 

 
2) Date of the acquisition 
October 17, 2022. 

 
3) Purpose of the acquisition 
Headquartered in Bengaluru, India, Steradian is a start-up founded in 2016 and provides radar solutions that enable 
highly accurate object recognition and power efficiency in a small chip. Radar is a vital technology for ADAS (Advanced 
Driver Assistance Systems), which uses a complex combination of various sensors in vehicles to detect objects. 
Renesas plans to capitalize on the high growth opportunities the automotive radar market offers, by expanding its 
automotive product portfolio with Steradian’s radar technology and extending its reach in the radar market. 

The resulting automotive radar solutions will combine the new automotive radar products, Renesas’ ADAS SoCs 
(System-on-Chips) for processing radar signals, power management ICs (PMICs), and timing products together with 
software for object recognition. Together, these solutions will simplify the design of automotive radar systems and 
contribute to faster product development. 

The combination of Steradian's leading-edge radar technology and engineering talent will boost Renesas’ sensing 
solution offerings in a wide array of applications including industrial systems. Renesas will bring together the best 
possible device combination and software to meet the growing demand for sensor technology solutions and continue 
to make engineers’ design work easier. 

 
4) Acquisition Method  
Acquisition of shares for cash consideration. 

 
b. Consideration for the acquisition and its breakdown 

  (In millions of yen) 
Consideration  Amount 

Cash  4,971 
Fair value of equity interest held just prior to the  
acquisition date  843 

Contingent consideration  1,207 

Total A 7,021 

 
Expenses related to the acquisition were 345 million yen, which were recorded in “Selling, general and administrative 
expenses” for the year ended December 31, 2022. 
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c. Fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and goodwill 
   (In millions of yen) 

  Date of acquisition 
(October 17, 2022) 

Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents   101 
Trade and other receivables (Note 2)   2 
Income taxes receivable   19 
Other   51 

Total current assets   173 
    
Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment    19 
Intangible assets    5 
Deferred tax assets   2 

Total non-current assets   26 

Total assets   199 
    
Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables   16 
Income taxes payable  13 
Other   739 

Total current liabilities   768 
    
Non-current liabilities    

Retirement benefit liability   5 
Other  14 

Total non-current liabilities  19 

Total liabilities   787 
    
Net assets B (588) 
   

Goodwill (Note 3) A-B 7,609 
   

(Note 1) As of December 31, 2022, the acquisition was accounted for using provisional amounts determined based on 
reasonable information available as of December 31, 2022, and since the recognition and fair value measurement 
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date have not been finalized, the 
purchase price allocation is still preliminary. As of December 31, 2022, the valuation of property, plant and 
equipment and additional recognition of intangible assets, among other assets and liabilities, have not been 
completed. As a result, goodwill was provisionally recognized as the total amount of the excess of the consideration 
transferred over the net amount of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The identifiable intangible assets 
are tentatively recorded at the book value as carried by Steradian. 

(Note 2) The total contract amount is the same as the fair value, and there are no receivables that are expected to be 
unrecoverable.  

(Note 3) Goodwill reflects expected synergies with existing business and future excess earning power arising from the 
acquisition of Steradian. No amount of goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

 
d. Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries  

  (In millions of yen) 

Item  Amount 

Consideration for acquisition in cash  4,971 

Cash and cash equivalents held by the acquiree at the time of obtaining control  (101) 

Amount of cash paid for the acquisition of subsidiaries (net amount)  4,870 

 The acquisition consideration may change due to price adjustments in response to changes in working capital. 
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e. Impact on revenue and profit as though the date of the acquisition had been as of the beginning of the fiscal year 
(unaudited information) 
Assuming that the date of the acquisition of Steradian was at the beginning of the fiscal year, the pro forma information is 
not stated since the impact on the consolidated revenue and profit for the year ended December 31, 2022 would not be 
material. 

 
f. Revenue and profit / loss of the acquired company 
For the year ended December 31, 2022, the revenue and profit of Steradian from the acquisition date to December 31, 
2022 had no significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

 
g. Gain on step acquisitions  
As a result of revaluing the equity interest (10.64%) of the acquired company held just prior to the acquisition date at fair 
value on the acquisition date, the Group recognized a gain on step acquisition of 447 million yen. The gain on step 
acquisition is recorded in “Equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income. 

 
(The year ended December 31, 2023) 
(Celeno Communications Inc.) 

Contingent consideration includes at most $45 million which will be paid based on the contract when several certain 
conditions (milestones) related to Celeno’s future product development and mass production progress are met. 

The fair value of the contingent consideration is calculated as the present value of the amount that may be paid to Celeno, 
with consideration of the probability of occurrence. 

The level of the fair value hierarchy for the contingent consideration is Level 3. The reconciliation table of the change for 
the contingent consideration classified in Level 3 from the beginning balance to the ending balance is as described below. 

(In millions of yen) 

  The year ended  
December 31, 2022  The year ended  

December 31, 2023 
Beginning balance  4,681  1,265 

Settlement  (2,205)  (40) 
Changes in fair value  (2,201)  (1,235) 
Exchange differences  990  10 

Ending balance  1,265  ― 
 

Of the amount of change in fair value related to contingent consideration, the fluctuated amount due to the time value of 
money is recorded in "Finance costs," and the fluctuated amount due to factors other than the time value of money is 
recorded in "Other income" or "Other expenses." For the year ended December 31, 2022, other income of 2,464 million yen 
and finance costs of 263 million yen were recorded for the change of fair value. For the year ended December 31, 2023, 
other income of 1,242 million yen and finance costs of 7 million yen were recorded for the change of fair value. 
 
(Steradian Semiconductors Private Limited) 

As of December 31, 2022, the acquisition was accounted for using provisional amounts determined based on reasonable 
information available at the time of preparing consolidated financial statements. Since the recognition and fair value 
measurement of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date had not been finalized, the 
purchase price allocation was provisionally accounted for. For the three months ended March 31, 2023, the Group has 
completed the purchase price allocation and revised the goodwill amount as follows. Adjustment in consideration for the 
acquisition is reflected for the three months ended March 31, 2023. 
 
Fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed on the acquisition date (October 17, 2022) 

(In millions of yen) 
Adjusted items Adjustments of goodwill 

Goodwill (before adjustment) (Note) 7,609 
Intangible assets (1,593) 
Deferred tax liabilities 264 
Adjustment in consideration for the 
acquisition 88 

Total adjustments (1,241) 
Goodwill (after adjustment) (Note) 6,368 

 
(Note) Goodwill reflects expected synergies with existing business and future excess earning power arising from the 

acquisition of Steradian. No amount of goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 
 

The consolidated statements of financial position as of December 31, 2022 has been revised upon the completion of the 
purchase price allocation. After the revision, goodwill has decreased by 1,182 million yen and intangible assets has 
increased by 1,401 million yen. 

In addition, the impact of the revision on the consolidated statements of profit or loss and consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2022 is immaterial.  
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Contingent consideration includes at most $11 million which will be paid when certain conditions related to Steradian’s 
future product development and mass production progress are met. 

The fair value of the contingent consideration is calculated as the present value of the amount that may be paid to 
Steradian, with consideration of the probability of occurrence. 

The level of the fair value hierarchy for the contingent consideration is Level 3. The reconciliation table of the change for 
the contingent consideration classified in Level 3 from the beginning balance to the ending balance is as described below. 

(In millions of yen) 

 The year ended  
December 31, 2022  The year ended  

December 31, 2023 
Beginning balance ― 1,078 

Increase due to the business combination 1,207 ― 
Changes in fair value ― (558) 
Exchange differences (129) 66 

Ending balance 1,078 586 
 
Of the amount of change in fair value related to contingent consideration, the fluctuated amount due to the time value of 
money is recorded in "Finance costs," and the fluctuated amount due to factors other than the time value of money is 
recorded in "Other income" or "Other expenses." For the year ended December 31, 2023, other income of 558 million yen 
was recorded for the change of fair value. 
 
(Panthronics AG) 

a. Overview of business combination 
On June 1, 2023, the Company completed the acquisition of Panthronics, a semiconductor company headquartered in 
Austria, through a wholly-owned subsidiary. Following the completion of the acquisition, Panthronics has become a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Panthronics changed its company name from Panthronics AG to Renesas 
Design Austria GmbH on October 12, 2023. 
 
1) Name and overview of the acquiree 
Name of the acquiree: Panthronics AG. 
Business overview:   Development and sales of semiconductor solutions such as Near-Field Communication (NFC). 

 
2) Date of the acquisition 
June 1, 2023. (Central European Summer Time) 

 
3) Purpose of the acquisition 
Headquartered in Austria, Panthronics has been offering advanced NFC chipsets and software. NFC has emerged as 
a de facto standard in the digital economy and touches many aspects of daily life. Fintech, such as mobile point-of-sale 
(mPoS) terminals and contactless payment, IoT, asset tracking, and wireless charging are highlights of NFC’s increasing 
presence. Acquiring Panthronics’ competitive NFC technology provides Renesas with in-house capability to instantly 
capture growing and emerging market opportunities for NFC. 
Combining Panthronics’ NFC technology with Renesas’ broad product portfolio and security functions in 

microcontrollers (MCU) / microprocessors (MPU) provides Renesas’ wide customer base with a multitude of options to 
create innovative, ready-to-market NFC system solutions. 

 
4) Acquisition Method  
Acquisition of shares for cash consideration via a wholly-owned subsidiary.  

 
b. Consideration for the acquisition and its breakdown 

  (In millions of yen) 
Consideration  Amount 

Cash  9,801 
Contingent consideration  2,794 

Total A 12,595 
 

Expenses related to the acquisition were 245 million yen, which were recorded in “Selling, general and administrative 
expenses” for the year ended December 31, 2023.  
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c. Fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and goodwill 
   (In millions of yen) 

  Date of acquisition 
(June 1, 2023) 

Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents   63 
Trade and other receivables (Note 2)   662 
Inventories   152 
Other   44 

Total current assets   921 
    
Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment    35 
Intangible assets    4,872 
Other financial assets   9 
Deferred tax assets  1,123 

Total non-current assets   6,039 

Total assets   6,960 
    
Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables   360 
Bonds and borrowings  1,893 
Other   1,210 

Total current liabilities   3,463 
    
Non-current liabilities    

Deferred tax liabilities  1,123 

Total non-current liabilities  1,123  

Total liabilities   4,586 
    

Net assets B 2,374 

   

Goodwill (Note 3) A-B 10,221 

   
(Note 1) As of September 30, 2023, the acquisition was accounted for using provisional amounts determined based on 

reasonable information available at the time of preparing consolidated financial statements. Since the recognition 
and fair value measurement of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date had 
not been finalized, the purchase price allocation was provisionally accounted for. For the year ended December 31, 
2023, the Group has completed the purchase price allocation and revised the goodwill amount as follows:  

 
Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date (June 1, 2023) 

(In millions of yen) 
Adjusted items Adjustments of goodwill 

Goodwill (before adjustment) (Note 3) 15,073 
 Intangible assets (4,852) 
Deferred tax assets (1,123) 
Deferred tax liabilities 1,123 
Total adjustments (4,852) 
Goodwill (after adjustment) (Note 3) 10,221 

 
(Note 2) The total contract amount is the same as the fair value, and there are no receivables that are expected to be 

unrecoverable.  
(Note 3) Goodwill reflects expected synergies with existing business and future excess earning power arising from the 

acquisition of Panthronics. No amount of goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 
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d. Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries  
  (In millions of yen) 

Item  Amount 

Consideration for acquisition in cash  9,801 

Cash and cash equivalents held by the acquiree at the time of obtaining control  (63) 

Amount of cash paid for the acquisition of subsidiaries (net amount)  9,738 

  
e. Impact on revenue and profit as though the date of the acquisition had been as of the beginning of the fiscal year 

(unaudited information) 
Assuming that the date of the acquisition of Panthronics was at the beginning of the fiscal year, the pro forma information 

is not stated since the impact on the consolidated revenue and profit for the year ended December 31, 2023 would not be 
material. 

 
f. Revenue and profit / loss of the acquired company 

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the revenue and profit of Panthronics from the acquisition date to December 
31, 2023 had no significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

 
g. Contingent consideration 
Contingent consideration includes at most $61 million which will be paid when certain conditions related to Panthronics’s 

future product development and mass production progress are met. 
The fair value of the contingent consideration is calculated as the present value of the amount that may be paid to 

Panthronics, with consideration of the probability of occurrence. 
The level of the fair value hierarchy for the contingent consideration is level 3. The reconciliation table of the change for 

the contingent consideration classified in Level 3 from the beginning balance to the ending balance is as described below. 
(In millions of yen) 

  The year ended  
December 31, 2023 

Beginning balance  ― 
  Increase due to the business combination  2,794 

Changes in fair value  (223) 
Exchange differences  140 

Ending balance  2,711 

 
Of the amount of change in fair value related to contingent consideration, the fluctuated amount due to the time value 

of money is recorded in "Finance costs," and the fluctuated amount due to factors other than the time value of money is 
recorded in "Other income" or "Other expenses." For the year ended December 31, 2023, other income of 223 million yen 
was recorded for the change of fair value. 
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8. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The components of cash and cash equivalents are as described below. The balance of “Cash and cash equivalents” in 
the consolidated statements of financial position and the balance of “Cash and cash equivalents” in the consolidated 
statements of cash flows as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2023 are the same. 

    (In millions of yen)

  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 

Cash and deposits  313,413  352,426 

Short-term investments  22,655  82,255 

Total  336,068  434,681 

(Note) Cash and cash equivalents are classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost.  
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9. Trade and Other Receivables 
The components of trade and other receivables are as follows. 

    (In millions of yen)

  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 

Notes and trade receivables 158,242 160,590 

Other receivables 4,538 8,838 

Loss allowance (157) (437) 

Total 162,623 168,991 

(Note) Trade and other receivables are classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost. 
 

  



46 

10. Inventories 
The components of inventories are as follows. 

     (In millions of yen) 

  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 

Merchandise and finished goods  53,282 38,793 

Work in progress  119,727 106,420 

Raw materials and supplies  14,949 17,841 

Total  187,958 163,054 
(Note) The amount of inventories recognized as expenses approximates “Cost of sales.” For write-downs of inventories 

previously recognized as an expense as a result of declining profitability, using the reversal method 6,292 million yen 
and 9,734 million yen were included in “Cost of sales” in the prior fiscal year and the current fiscal year, respectively. 
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11. Other Assets and Other Liabilities 
The components of other current assets and other non-current assets are as follows. 

    (In millions of yen)

  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 

Prepaid expenses   24,922  27,247 

Consumption taxes receivable  2,376  5,192 

Other  4,213  6,951 

Total  31,511  39,390 

Current assets  17,320  21,792 

Non-current assets  14,191  17,598 
 

 
The components of other current liabilities and other non-current liabilities are as follows. 

    (In millions of yen)

  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 

Accrued expenses  62,994  58,791 

Paid leave payables  11,456  13,184 

Other  12,550  18,701 

Total  87,000  90,676 

Current liabilities  81,565  83,281 

Non-current liabilities  5,435  7,395 
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12. Property, Plant and Equipment 
(1) Movement during the fiscal year 

The changes in acquisition cost, accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and the carrying amounts of 
property, plant and equipment are as follows.  

A. Acquisition Cost 
(In millions of yen)

 Buildings and 
structures 

Machinery, 
equipment  

and vehicles 

Tools,  
furniture and 

fixtures 

Right-of-use 
assets Land Construction 

in progress Total 

Balances as of 
January 1, 2022 189,780 657,486 139,073 26,333 23,672 11,137 1,047,481 

Acquisition 438 9,311 5,029 3,097 ― 45,140 63,015 
Acquisition due to 
business 
combination 

 18 3 ― ― ― 21 

Sales or disposal (3,594) (74,945) (6,956) (5,970) (355) (244) (92,064) 
Transfer from 
construction in 
progress 

2,974 28,001 12,064 ― 1 (43,040) ― 

Exchange 
differences 4,161 17,967 4,672 1,699 451 319 29,269 

Other (124) (159) (471) (89) 9 882 48 

Balances as of 
December 31, 2022 193,635 637,679 153,414 25,070 23,778 14,194 1,047,770 

Acquisition 293 6,094 3,897 7,363 ― 95,972 113,619 
Acquisition due to 
business 
combination 

 24 11 ― ― ― 35 

Sales or disposal (1,224) (6,684) (12,156) (5,706) (22) (43) (25,835) 
Transfer from 
construction in 
progress 

10,136 25,966 13,270 ― 1 (49,373) ― 

Exchange 
differences 2,133 9,613 2,993 1,593 217 486 17,035 

Other 245 1,337 (148) (62) ― 1,204 2,576 

Balances as of 
December 31, 2023 205,218 674,029 161,281 28,258 23,974 62,440 1,155,200 
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B. Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses 
 

(In millions of yen)

 Buildings and 
structures 

Machinery, 
equipment  

and vehicles 

Tools, 
furniture and 

fixtures 

Right-of-use 
assets Land Construction 

in progress Total 

Balances as of 
January 1, 2022 (136,105) (584,319) (117,217) (10,350) (1,325)  (849,316) 

Depreciation  (4,955) (34,699) (13,335) (5,219)   (58,208) 
Impairment losses (94) (128) (66) (301) (314)  (903) 
Sales or disposal 2,385 74,731 6,869 5,266 26  89,277 
Exchange differences (1,812) (14,152) (3,892) (1,070)   (20,926) 
Other 6 149 350 (157)   348 

Balances as of 
December 31, 2022  (140,575) (558,418) (127,291) (11,831) (1,613)  (839,728) 

Depreciation  (6,077) (31,252) (14,900) (5,236)   (57,465) 

Impairment losses (435) (12) (385) (1,565)   (2,397) 

Sales or disposal 923 6,503 11,946 5,105   24,477 

Exchange differences (1,022) (7,568) (2,501) (850)   (11,941) 
Other 166 (1,246) (1,018) 91   (2,007) 

Balances as of 
December 31, 2023 (147,020) (591,993) (134,149) (14,286) (1,613)  (889,061) 

 
C. Carrying amount 

(In millions of yen)

 Buildings and 
structures 

Machinery, 
equipment  

and vehicles 

Tools, 
furniture and 

fixtures 

Right-of-use 
assets Land Construction 

in progress Total 

Balances as of 
January 1, 2022 53,675 73,167 21,856 15,983 22,347 11,137 198,165 

Balances as of 
December 31, 
2022 

53,060 79,261 26,123 13,239 22,165 14,194 208,042 

Balances as of 
December 31, 
2023 

58,198 82,036 27,132 13,972 22,361 62,440 266,139 

(Note) 1. The amount of the government grant received for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment is 1,068 million 
yen for the year ended December 31, 2023. The grant amount is directly deducted from the acquisition cost. 
There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingent liabilities associated with the government grants. 

 2. The amount of property, plant and equipment under construction is presented as construction in progress. 
 3. For property, plant and equipment on which a mortgage is placed as collateral for liabilities, see “Note 19. Bonds 

and Borrowings.” 
       4. For commitments to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment, see “Note 37. Commitments and Contingent 

Liabilities.” 
5. Depreciation is included in “Cost of sales” and “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated 

statements of profit or loss. 
 6. Impairment losses are included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statements of profit or loss. For details 

on impairment losses, see “Note 15. Impairment of Non-financial Assets.” 
 7. There are no borrowing costs included in the cost of property, plant and equipment. 
 8. For details on right-of-use assets, see “Note 14. Leases.” 
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13. Goodwill and Intangible Assets 
(1) Movement during the fiscal year 

The changes in acquisition cost, accumulated amortization and impairment losses, and the carrying amounts of 
goodwill and intangible assets are as follows. 

A. Acquisition cost 
  (In millions of yen) 

 Goodwill 
Intangible assets 

Software 
Capitalized 

development 
costs 

Developed 
technology 

Customer 
relationships Other Total 

Balances as of January 1, 
2022 1,089,452 80,215 7,130 550,893 143,121 107,690 889,049 

Internally developed  1,335 751 ― ― ― 2,086 

Acquisitions  1,892 ― ― ― 7,503 9,395 
Acquisition due to business 
combination 8,081 ― ― 1,598 ― ― 1,598 

Reclassification  ― ― 908 ― (908) ― 

Sales or disposal  (2,494) (1,715) (1,264) ― (2,400) (7,873) 

Exchange differences 166,742 829 ― 81,653 20,378 6,859 109,719 

Other  (25) ― 227 ― (285) (83) 

Balances as of December 
31, 2022 1,264,275 81,752 6,166 634,015 163,499 118,459 1,003,891 

Internally developed  1,462 691 ― ― ― 2,153 

Acquisitions  3,136 ― ― ― 20,303 23,439 

Acquisition due to business 
combination 10,221 ― ― 4,872 ― ― 4,872 

Sales or disposal  (1,230) (1,520) ― ― (11,592) (14,342) 

Exchange differences 87,239 463 ― 42,670 10,523 2,271 55,927 

Other 396 354 ― ― ― (5) 349 

Balances as of December 
31, 2023 1,362,131 85,937 5,337 681,556 174,022 129,436 1,076,289 
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B. Accumulated amortization and impairment losses 
  (In millions of yen) 

 Goodwill 

Intangible assets 

Software 
Capitalized 
developme

nt costs 

Developed 
technology 

Customer 
relationship

s 
Other Total 

Balances as of  
January 1, 2022 ― (67,466) (3,783) (194,395) (33,950) (54,677) (354,271) 

Amortization  ― (5,266) (1,363) (84,117) (14,852) (19,300) (124,898) 

Impairment losses ―     (7,007) (7,007) 

Sales or disposal ― 2,494 1,715 1,264  2,081 7,554 
Exchange 
differences ― (705)  (28,977) (3,945) (3,086) (36,713) 

Other ― 105 1   177 283 
Balances as of  
December 31, 2022 ― (70,838) (3,430) (306,225) (52,747) (81,812) (515,052) 

Amortization  (3,789) (1,223) (87,108) (16,013) (16,830) (124,963)

Impairment losses ― ― ― (2,475) (2,475)

Sales or disposal 1,229 1,520 ― ― 11,329 14,078
Exchange 
differences (417) ― (21,158) (3,137) (1,311) (26,023)

Other 26 ― ― ― (33) (7)

Balances as of  
December 31, 2023 (73,789) (3,133) (414,490) (71,897) (91,133) (654,442)

 
C. Carrying amount 

  (In millions of yen) 

 Goodwill 

Intangible assets 

Software 
Capitalized 

development 
costs 

Developed 
technology 

Customer 
relationships Other Total 

Balances as of  
January 1, 2022 1,089,452 12,749 3,347 356,498 109,171 53,013 534,778 

Balances as of  
December 31, 2022 1,264,275 10,914 2,736 327,790 110,752 36,647 488,839 

Balances as of  
December 31, 2023 1,362,131 12,148 2,204 267,066 102,126 38,304 421,847 

(Note) 1. For software in intangible assets, the carrying amount classified as internally generated assets was 526 million 
yen as of December 31, 2022 and 451 million yen as of December 31, 2023. 

       2. Construction in progress related to software is included in “Software” under intangible assets. 
       3. For other in intangible assets, the carrying amount of intangible assets acquired through software license 

contracts (as license fees) was 21,096 million yen as of December 31, 2022 and 22,501 million yen as of 
December 31, 2023. In addition, the balances are mainly amortized using the straight-line method based on the 
available license period (5 years or less). 

 4. There are no intangible assets with restrictions on ownership or intangible assets on which a mortgage is placed 
as collateral for liabilities. 

 5. For commitments related to the acquisition of intangible assets, see “Note 37. Commitments and Contingent 
Liabilities.”  

 6. Amortization of intangible assets is included in “Cost of sales” and “Selling, general and administrative expenses” 
in the consolidated statements of profit or loss.  

 7. Impairment losses are included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statements of profit or loss. For details 
on impairment losses, see “Note 15. Impairment of Non-financial Assets.”  

 
(2) Significant intangible assets 
Major intangible assets are developed technology and customer relationships acquired in the business combination with 
former Intersil in February 2017, former IDT in March 2019, Dialog in August 2021 and Celeno in December 2021. The 
carrying amount of developed technology acquired in the business combination was 327,790 million yen as of December 
31, 2022 and 267,066 million yen as of December 31, 2023 (of which the carrying amount of developed technology 
identified under Dialog's PPA are 134,474 million yen and 113,131 million yen, respectively), and the remaining 
amortization period as of December 31, 2023 is 1 to 14 years. The carrying amount of customer relationships was 110,752 
million yen as of December 31, 2022 and 102,126 million yen as of December 31, 2023, and the remaining amortization 
period as of December 31, 2023 is 2 to 10 years.  
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(3) Intangible assets not yet available for use 
     The carrying amount of intangible assets not yet available for use is included in “Other” and was 6,768 million yen as 

of December 31, 2022 and 4,850 million yen as of December 31, 2023 and represents in-process research and 
development. In-process research and development is reclassified as “Developed technology” and starts to be 
amortized when the development has been completed. The amount of reclassification was 908 million yen for the year 
ended December 31, 2022. 
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14. Leases 
(1) Leases as lessee 

A. Lease expenses, income and cash flows 
Lease expenses, income and cash flows are as follows. 

(In millions of yen) 

 The year ended  
December 31, 2022 

The year ended  
December 31, 2023 

Depreciation charge for right-of-use assets by class of 
underlying asset   

  Land 89 46

  Buildings 3,892 4,256

Machinery, equipment and vehicles 1,078 731

Tools, furniture and fixtures 160 203

Total 5,219 5,236

Interest expense on lease liabilities 211 327

Expense relating to short-term leases 3,079 2,911

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets 
(excluding short-term leases) 488 472

Expense relating to variable lease payments which are 
not reflected in the measurement of lease liabilities ―

Income from subleasing right-of-use assets 109

Total cash outflows for leases 9,678 9,506

Gain (loss) from sale and leaseback transactions   (66) ―

(Note) For details on the maturity analysis for lease liabilities, see “Note 34. Financial Instruments.” 
 
B. Right-of-use assets which are included in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment 
The carrying amount and the increase/decrease in carrying amount of right-of-use assets which are included in the 
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment are as follows. 

 (In millions of yen) 

 Balance as of 
December 31, 2022 

Balance as of 
December 31, 2023 

Land 44 314 

Buildings 10,606 11,559 

Machinery, equipment and 
vehicles  2,295 1,750 

Tools, furniture and fixtures 294 349 

Total 13,239 13,972 
   

The increased amount of right-
of-use asset 3,097 7,363 

 
C. Nature of the leasing activities 
  The Group leases land, building, machinery, equipment and vehicles. 
  The terms of lease contracts are negotiated individually and include a wide variety of the terms of contracts. 
 

D. Options of extension and termination 
The options of extension and termination are included in many lease contracts for buildings, machinery and 
equipment. The lease term for office buildings is mainly from 3 to 10 years and for machinery and equipment, its 
term is from 3 to 5 years. Some contracts include an option to extend the lease for a period of one year or the same 
lease years for the current lease contract after the termination date. In addition, some contracts include an option 
for early termination when the lessee notifies the lessor between six months to one year before the termination date. 

These options will be utilized to maximize operational flexibility from the point of asset management used in the 
Group’s businesses.  



54 

15. Impairment of Non-financial Assets 
The Group recorded impairment losses for the assets below. Impairment losses are included in “Other expenses” in the 

consolidated statements of profit or loss. 
The components of assets for which the impairment losses are recorded are as follows. 

 
The year ended December 31, 2022 

(In millions of yen) 
 Reportable segments 

Total 
 Automotive Industrial/ 

Infrastructure/IoT 
Property, plant and equipment 639 387 1,026 

Intangible assets 13 6,994 7,007 

Total 652 7,381 8,033 
 
The year ended December 31, 2023 

(In millions of yen) 
 Reportable segments 

Total 
 Automotive Industrial/ 

Infrastructure/IoT 
Property, plant and equipment 1,498 899 2,397

Intangible assets 2,475 2,475

Total 1,498 3,374 4,872
(Note) 1. Impairment losses recognized as for right-of-use assets are included in the impairment losses of property, plant 

and equipment. The amount included in the impairment losses of property, plant and equipment for the prior fiscal 
year and the current fiscal year was 424 million yen and 1,565 million yen, respectively. 

2. Impairment losses on certain in-process research and development projects assets that are discontinued are 
included in the impairment losses of intangible assets. The amount included in the impairment losses of intangible 
assets was 6,432 million yen and 2,349 million yen for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively. 

3. Impairment losses recognized for lands are included in the impairment losses of property, plant and equipment. 
The amount included in the impairment losses of property, plant and equipment was 314 million yen for the year 
ended December 31, 2022. 

 
(1) Impairment losses 

The Group assesses impairment at the grouping level of the smallest identifiable group that generates cash inflows 
that are largely independent, based on the categories used for business management. The Group assesses 
impairment by each individual asset for significant assets to be disposed of, idle assets and business assets. 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2022 
 
(Assets to be disposed of) 
For the Automotive and Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT business, the Group performs impairment tests as independent 
cash-generating units for the assets that have been decided to be disposed and reduces the carrying amount of assets 
to their recoverable amount. As a result, the Group has recorded impairment losses of 586 million yen. 

The recoverable amount is measured at the fair value after deducting disposal costs. The fair value after deducting 
disposal costs is set at zero for assets difficult to sell or the selling amount is estimated and the hierarchy level of the 
fair value is Level 3. 

 
(Idle assets) 
For the Automotive and Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT business, the Group performs impairment tests as independent 
cash-generating units, reduces the carrying amount of idle assets that are unlikely to be used to their recoverable 
amount, and has recorded impairment losses of 701 million yen.  

The recoverable amount is measured at the fair value after deducting disposal costs. The fair value after deducting 
disposal costs is set at zero because it is difficult to sell these assets, and the hierarchy level of the fair value is Level 
3. 

 
For The year ended December 31, 2023 
 
(Assets to be disposed of) 
For the Automotive and Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT business, the Group performs impairment tests as independent 
cash-generating units for the assets that have been decided to be disposed and reduces the carrying amount of assets 
to their recoverable amount. As a result, the Group has recorded impairment losses of 118 million yen. 

The recoverable amount is measured at the fair value after deducting disposal costs. The fair value after deducting 
disposal costs is set at zero for assets difficult to sell or the selling amount is estimated and the hierarchy level of the 
fair value is Level 3. 
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(Idle assets) 
For the Automotive and Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT business, the Group performs impairment tests as independent 
cash-generating units, reduces the carrying amount of idle assets that are unlikely to be used to their recoverable 
amount, and has recorded impairment losses of 2,405 million yen. 

The recoverable amount is measured at the fair value after deducting disposal costs. The fair value after deducting 
disposal costs is set at zero because it is difficult to sell these assets, and the hierarchy level of the fair value is Level 
3. 

 
(2) Impairment test of goodwill and intangible assets not yet available for use 

The Group performs impairment tests for cash-generating units to which goodwill and intangible assets not yet 
available for use are allocated at a certain time each fiscal year and whenever there is any indication of impairment. 

Goodwill recorded in the consolidated statements of financial position was recognized mainly when the Company 
merged with former Intersil for the year ended December 31, 2017, former IDT for the year ended December 31, 2019, 
Dialog for the year ended December 31, 2021, and it is allocated to the cash-generating units of the Group expected 
to provide future earning power arising from synergies of these business combinations. 

In the impairment test, goodwill and intangible assets not yet available for use that were allocated to the cash-
generating units of the Group are as follows. 

 (In millions of yen) 

 Reportable segments Cash-generating units  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 

Goodwill 
Automotive Automotive  309,484  330,858 
Industrial/ 

Infrastructure/IoT 
Industrial/ 

Infrastructure/IoT  954,791  1,031,273 

In-process 
research and 
development 

Automotive Automotive  1,991  2,127 
Industrial/ 

Infrastructure/IoT 
Industrial/ 

Infrastructure/IoT  4,777  2,723 

(Note) Regarding the goodwill recognized in connection with the acquisition of Steradian in the prior fiscal year, goodwill 
was 6,052 million yen as a result of reassessing the allocation of the acquisition cost in the current fiscal year. For 
details, please refer to “Note 7. Business Combinations.” 

 
The recoverable amount of the cash-generating units is measured at the value in use. The value in use is calculated 

by discounting the cash flows, which is estimated based on the five-year business plan approved by management and 
the estimated permanent growth rate for the period thereinafter, to the present value using the pre-tax discount rate. 
Significant assumptions which have an impact to the calculation of the value in use include gross margin in the 
business plan, permanent growth rate, discount rate and others. These assumptions are determined in the 
consideration of past experiences and external information. 

For cash flows in a period beyond the target period of the future business plan approved by management, the value 
in use is calculated using the permanent growth rate as 2.0% the current fiscal year (1.8% in the prior fiscal year). The 
approved permanent growth rate is determined based on the estimated inflation rate of the market to which the cash-
generating units belong. 

The discount rates are the weighted average capital cost before tax. The discount rates used for the calculation of 
the value in use are 10.3% in the Automotive Business in the current fiscal year (13.9% in the prior fiscal year) and 
12.1% in the Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT Business in the current fiscal year (15.7% in the prior fiscal year). 

Because the recoverable amount of cash-generating units sufficiently exceeds the carrying amount in the current 
fiscal year, management believes that it is unlikely that the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units will be 
lower than the carrying amount even if the major assumptions (Gross margin/ Permanent growth rate/ Discount rate 
before tax) used in the impairment test are changed in a reasonable range. 

The following table shows the range of reasonably expected fluctuation of the major assumptions (Gross margin/ 
Permanent growth rate/ Discount rate before tax) used in the impairment test. 

 
Major assumptions Cash-generating units Prior fiscal year Current fiscal year 

Gross margin Automotive 35~45% 35~45% 
Industrial/ Infrastructure/IoT 50~60% 50~60% 

Permanent growth rate Automotive 1.3~2.3% 1.5~2.5% Industrial/ Infrastructure/IoT 
Discount rate before 
tax 

Automotive 11.9~15.9% 8.3~12.3% 
Industrial/ Infrastructure/IoT 12.7~18.7% 9.1~15.1% 

 
The Group recognized no impairment losses during the current fiscal year and the prior fiscal year since the value 

in use of the cash generating units exceeded the carrying amount as a result of the impairment test. 
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16. Other Financial Assets 
(1) Components of other financial assets 

The components of other financial assets are as follows. 
(In millions of yen) 

  As of December 31, 2022  As of December 31, 2023 

Loans receivable (Note 1)     145,369 
Long-term accounts receivable 
(Note 2)  41,841  50,374 

Derivative assets (Note 1)  21,945  30,132 

Stocks (Note 3)  10,749  14,760 

Investment trust (Note 1)   5,900  8,124 

Other (Note 4)   10,402  11,131 

Total  90,837  259,890 

Current assets  6,688  4,660 

Non-current assets  84,149  255,230 
(Note) 1. Loans receivable, derivative assets and investment trust are mainly classified as financial assets measured at 

fair value through profit or loss. For details, please refer to “Note 34. Financial Instruments.” 
2. Long-term accounts receivable mainly includes financial assets measured at amortized cost which are recorded 

in accordance with the ship and debit programs. For details on the ship and debit programs, please refer to “Note 
3. Significant Accounting Policies, (17) Revenue recognition.” 

3. Stocks are classified either as equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income or 
financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (see “Note 34. Financial Instruments”).  

4. Term deposits with a deposit term of more than three months and security deposits are included in Other. These 
assets are classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost. 

 
(2) Equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

 Name of major equity instruments and their fair value measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are 
as follows. 

         (In millions of yen) 

Company name As of December 31, 2022 As of December 31, 2023 

Sifive, Inc.  3,082 

LeddarTech Inc. 1,327 1,418 
 
(3) Derecognized equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

 There were no derecognized equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income in the 
prior fiscal year and the current fiscal year. 
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17. Income Taxes 
(1) Components of and changes in deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 

The components of and changes in deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities by major causes of their occurrence 
are as follows. 
 

The year ended December 31, 2022 
(In millions of yen)

 
As of 

January 1, 
2022 

 Recognized in 
profit or loss  

Recognized in 
other 

comprehensive 
income 

 Business 
combination  

As of 
December 31, 

2022 

Deferred tax assets         

Inventories 4,227  1,127     5,354 
Property, plant and 
equipment and other 7,454  (641)   79  6,892 

Research and 
development expense 2,229  5,240     7,469 

Accrued expenses 15,173  5,286     20,459 

Retirement benefit liability 4,919  (771)  (829) 1  3,320 
Carryforward of unused tax 
losses 19,546  (15,361)     4,185 

Carryforward of unused tax 
credits 8,990  (4,391)     4,599 

Other 15,097  6,828     21,925 

Subtotal 77,635  (2,683)  (829) 80  74,203 

Deferred tax liabilities         

Intangible assets and other (86,153)  5,676   (264)  (80,741) 
Tax on undistributed 
earnings (8,676)  (666)     (9,342) 

Total income from 
specified foreign 
subsidiaries and others 

(1,459)  607     (852) 

Other (4,598)  (7,007)  2,456   (9,149) 

Subtotal (100,886)  (1,390)  2,456 (264)  (100,084) 
Net deferred tax assets 

(liabilities) (23,251)  (4,073)  1,627 (184)  (25,881) 
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The year ended December 31, 2023 

(In millions of yen)

 
As of 

January 1, 
2023 

 Recognized in 
profit or loss  

Recognized in 
other 

comprehensive 
income 

 Business 
combination  

As of 
December 31, 

2023 

Deferred tax assets         

Inventories 5,354   (92)     5,262 
Property, plant and 
equipment and other 6,892  (1,458)   1,123  6,557 

Research and 
development expense 7,469  1,486     8,955 

Accrued expenses 20,459  (4,230)     16,229 

Retirement benefit liability 3,320  (174)  115   3,261 
Carryforward of unused tax 
losses 4,185  (715)     3,470 

Carryforward of unused tax 
credits 4,599  (2,409)     2,190 

Other 21,925  9,131     31,056 

Subtotal 74,203  1,539  115 1,123  76,980 

Deferred tax liabilities         

Intangible assets and other (80,741)  13,018   (1,123)  (68,846) 
Tax on undistributed 
earnings (9,342)  (1,856)     (11,198) 

Total income from 
specified foreign 
subsidiaries and others 

(852)  (109)     (961) 

Other (9,149)  (1,299)  4,330   (6,118) 

Subtotal (100,084)  9,754  4,330 (1,123)  (87,123) 
Net deferred tax assets 

(liabilities) (25,881)  11,293  4,445   (10,143) 

 

 (Note) The Group considers the possibility that a portion of, or all of, the deductible temporary differences or carryforward   
of unused tax losses can be utilized against future taxable profits in the recognition of deferred tax assets.  
Deferred tax liabilities related to intangible assets and other include those that are related to an uncertain tax position 
at an overseas subsidiary and calculated using the expected value method.  
The differences between total amount recognized in profit or loss and total amount of the deferred tax expenses are 
due to changes in foreign exchange rate. 
 
In the tax reform for fiscal year 2023 in Japan, a corporate tax designed to comply with the BEPS Global Minimum 
Tax rules was established, and the law incorporating these provisions (hereinafter “Global Minimum Tax System”) 
was enacted on March 28, 2023 (Act for the Partial Revision of the Income Tax Law (hereinafter the “Amended 
Corporate Tax Law”)). The Amended Corporate Tax Law introduces the Income Inclusion Rule (IIR), a component 
of the Global Minimum Tax System. From the fiscal year starting on January 1, 2025, subsidiaries of parent 
companies residing in Japan will be subject to additional (top-up) taxation until their tax burden reaches the minimum 
tax rate of 15%. The Group applies the exceptions as defined under amendments to IAS 12 published on May 2023 
and no deferred tax assets or liabilities related to this have been recognized as of December 31, 2023. 

The Group has no material exposure to the related current tax, but is assessing its exposure to the 
implementation of the Global Minimum Tax System.  

Due to the complexity of the application of the Global Minimum Tax System and the calculation of GloBE income, 
the quantitative impact of enacted or substantively enacted laws is not yet reasonably estimable and we are currently 
engaging a tax specialist to assist in the application of the Global Minimum Tax System. 
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(2) Deductible temporary differences and others for which no deferred tax assets are recognized 
The amounts of deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax losses and carryforward of unused tax 
credits for which no deferred tax assets are recognized are as follows.  

    (In millions of yen) 

  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 

Deductible temporary differences  594  790 
Carryforward of unused tax 
losses  9,521  11,038 

Carryforward of unused tax 
credits  24,177  26,876 

Total  34,292  38,704 
(Note) Deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax losses and carryforward of unused tax credits are 

measured on a tax amount basis.  
 

The expiration schedule of the carryforward of unused tax losses for which no deferred tax assets are recognized is 
as follows.  

    (In millions of yen) 

  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 

First year     

Second year     

Third year     

Fourth year    126 

Fifth year or thereafter  9,521  10,912 

Total  9,521  11,038 
 

The expiration schedule of the carryforward of unused tax credits for which no deferred tax assets are recognized is 
as follows. 

    (In millions of yen) 

  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 

First year  53  55 

Second year  54  57 

Third year  55  ― 

Fourth year    ― 

Fifth year or thereafter  24,015  26,764 

Total  24,177  26,876 
The Group has transitioned from the consolidated taxation system to the group tax sharing system in Japan from the year 
ended December 31, 2023. The above figures do not include the amount of the carryforward of unused tax losses for which 
no deferred tax asset is recognized for local taxes (residential tax and business tax) that are not subject to the consolidated 
taxation system and the group tax sharing system in Japan. The amount of the carryforward of unused tax losses for local 
taxes (residential tax and business tax) was 2,404 million yen for residential tax and 6,751 million yen for business tax in the 
prior fiscal year (as of December 31, 2022) and 2,173 million yen for residential tax and 6,177 million yen for business tax 
in the current fiscal year (as of December 31, 2023).  
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(3) Components of income tax expense 
The components of income tax expense are as follows. 

(In millions of yen) 

 The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 

Current tax expense    

Current tax expense 111,222  101,170 

  Tax expense from previous periods 489  (1,752) 

Total current tax expense 111,711  99,418 

Deferred tax expense    

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (3,489)  3,108 

Effects from tax regulation changes (10)  (1) 

Revaluation of deferred tax assets (2,730)  (17,747) 

Other 30  84 

Total deferred tax expense (6,199)  (14,556) 

Total income tax expense 105,512  84,862 
(Note) 1. Current tax expense in the prior fiscal year and the current fiscal year does not include the amount of previously 

unrecognized tax loss, tax credits or benefits arising from temporary differences in past periods. 
      2. Deferred tax expense in the prior fiscal year and the current fiscal year does not include the amount of previously 

unrecognized tax loss, tax credits or benefits arising from temporary differences in past periods. 
      3. Deferred tax expense in the prior fiscal year and the current fiscal year does not include the deferred tax expenses 

arising from the write-down of deferred tax assets or the reversal of previously recorded write-downs.  
 

(4) Reconciliation of the statutory effective tax rate and the average effective tax rate 
The reconciliation of the statutory effective tax rate and the average effective tax rate is as follows. 

(%) 

 The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 

Statutory effective tax rate (Note) 31.5  31.5 

Changes in unrecognized deferred tax assets 1.3  (4.2) 

Permanent differences (0.6)  (2.4) 

Foreign tax rate differences  (0.5)  (0.2) 

Tax credits (3.7)  (4.9) 

Tax on undistributed earnings 0.2  0.4 

Other 1.0  (0.0) 

Average effective tax rate 29.1  20.1 
(Note) The applicable statutory effective tax rate is the sum of 24.4% for national taxes and 7.1% for local taxes. 

Major taxes imposed on the Company and its subsidiaries in Japan are income tax, residential tax and business tax. 
The applicable statutory effective tax rate in Japan is 31.5% in the prior fiscal year and current fiscal year. Income 
taxes for overseas subsidiaries are calculated based on local tax rates applicable in their jurisdictions.  
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18. Trade and Other Payables 
The components of trade and other payables are as follows.  

    (In millions of yen) 

  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 

Trade payables  105,362  99,957 

Other payables  41,206  51,878 

Electronically recorded obligations  13,940  15,332 

Refund liabilities  65,815  80,165 

Total  226,323  247,332 

Current liabilities  222,941  243,192 

Non-current liabilities  3,382  4,140 
(Note) Trade and other payables are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortized cost. 
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19. Bonds and Borrowings 
 
(1) The components of bonds are as follows. 

 (In millions of yen) 

 Issuance date Maturity date Interest 
rate  As of December 31, 

2022  As of December 31, 
2023 

USD-denominated Senior 
Notes due 2024  
(Green Bonds) (Note 3) 

November 
26, 2021 

November  
26, 2024 1.543%  66,350  70,915 

USD-denominated Senior 
Notes due 2026 (Note 3) 

November 
26, 2021 

November  
25, 2026 2.170%  112,795  120,556 

Total     179,145  191,471 

Reclassification 
to bond issuance costs     (556)  (374) 

Current liabilities       70,915 

Non-current liabilities     178,589  120,182 

(Note) 1. Bonds are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortized cost. 
2. For the balance of bonds by maturity, see “Note 34. Financial Instruments.” 
3. On November 19, 2021, the Company has decided to issue senior notes denominated in USD in multiple tranches 
(One of the tranches of the notes will be green bonds, proceeds from which will be used solely for projects that are 
expected to contribute to the global environment).The Company issued USD-denominated Senior Notes due 2024 
(Green Bonds, Principal amount: USD 500million, Interest rate: 1.543%, Maturity Date: November 26, 2024) and USD-
denominated Senior Notes due 2026 (Principal amount: USD 850 million, Interest rate: 2.170%, Maturity Date: 
November 25, 2026) on November 26, 2021, raising a total of USD 1,350 million. To reduce the risk of foreign 
exchanges in the USD-denominated Senior Notes, the Group uses currency swaps. The currency swap is designated 
as a hedge. For details on hedge accounting, see “Note 34. Financial Instruments.” 

 
(2) The breakdown of borrowings is as follows. 

 
(In millions of yen) 

  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 

Average 
interest rate 

(Note 4) 
Maturity 

Current portion of long-
term borrowings 

 120,005   354,397 0.778%  

Long-term borrowings 
(Excluding current portion) 

 458,865   106,284 0.487% From Dec.2026 
to Jun.2027 

Total  578,870   460,681   

Less: Arrangement fee  (1,716)   (830)   

Current liabilities  120,005   354,397   

Non-current liabilities  457,149   105,454   
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The components of borrowings are as follows. 
(In millions of yen) 

 Term of borrowing  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 
Syndicated loan A  
(Note 6) 

From Mar.2019 
to Mar.2024  24,796  4,959

Syndicated loan B 
(Note 6) 

From Mar.2019 
to Mar.2024  196,434  160,718

Syndicated loan C 
(Note 6) 

From Jun.2019 
to Jun.2024  135,545  135,535

Loan contract on 
December 23, 2021 
(Note 7) 

From Dec.2021 
to Dec.2026  70,220  44,440

JBIC loan contract on 
December 23, 2021 
(Note 7) 

From Dec.2021 
to Dec.2026  105,331  66,663

Loan contract on June 
28, 2022 
(Note 8) 

From Jun.2022 
to Jun.2027  26,540  28,366

Loan contract on June 
30, 2022 
(Note 8) 

From Jun.2022 
to Jun.2027  20,000  20,000

Others (Note 5) ―  4  

Total   578,870  460,681

 
(Note) 1. Borrowings are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortized cost. 
 2. For the balance of borrowings by maturity, see “Note 34. Financial Instruments.” 
 3. The Company’s borrowings have financial covenants that require us to maintain a certain level of net assets, 

operating profit / loss, and profit / loss, and the ratio of interest-bearing debt to EBITDA should not exceed a 
certain level. The Company complies with the financial covenants. 

 4. The average interest rate represents the weighted-average interest rate calculated based on the balance of 
borrowings as of December 31, 2023. 

 5. Others mainly include short-term borrowings of overseas subsidiaries. 
 6. In order to refinance the existing borrowings to finance partial funds necessary for the acquisition of former IDT 

and working capital as the medium-and-long term funds, the Company has entered into a syndicated loan 
agreement with the total amount of 897,000 million yen on January 15, 2019. On March 28, 2019, 698,000 million 
yen of term loan with availability period (Syndicated loan A and B, Repayment date: March 28, 2024, participating 
financial institutions: MUFG Bank, Ltd., Mizuho Bank, Ltd., Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited and other 5 
financial institutions) has been executed. In addition, on June 28, 2019, borrowings of 149,000 million yen of term 
loan (Syndicated loan C, Repayment date: June 28, 2024, participating financial institutions: MUFG Bank, Ltd., 
Mizuho Bank, Ltd., Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited) have been executed to refinance the existing term loan. 

  On November 10, 2021, the Company made the following changes on this loan agreement. (1) Setting the 
installment repayment date of Syndicated Loan B, (2) Early payment of Syndicated Loan A upon the issuance of 
US Dollar-Denominated Senior Notes, and (3) Cancellation of guaranteed contract and stock collateral for 
Syndicated Loans A and B. 

 7. Based on the loan agreement entered into to finance the acquisition of Dialog, on August 31, 2021, the Company 
had borrowed 270,000 million yen from MUFG Bank, Ltd. and Mizuho Bank, Ltd. with the last repayment date of 
February 7, 2022. 

  With the purpose of refinancing 240,000 million yen of the above loans (after the repayment of 30,000 million 
yen) to mid- to long-term funds, on December 23, 2021, the Company has entered into the syndicate loan 
agreement (Loan amount: 96,000 million yen, Execution date of agreement: December 23, 2021, Borrowing date: 
December 30, 2021, Repayment date: End of December, 2026, Participating financial institutions: MUFG Bank, 
Ltd., Mizuho Bank, Ltd., Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited., Resona Bank, Limited., Aozora Bank, Ltd., Shinkin 
Central Bank, The Norinchukin Bank, Bank of America NA Tokyo Branch) and a JBIC loan agreement (Loan 
amount: 144,000 million yen, Execution date of agreement: December 23, 2021, Borrowing date: December 30, 
2021, Repayment date: End of December, 2026, Participating financial institutions: Japan Bank of International 
Cooperation). On December 30, 2021, the Company borrowed a total of 240,000 million yen under these 
agreements and fully repaid the remaining amount of the loans dated August 31, 2021. 

 8. In June 2022, the Company entered into a term loan agreement dated June 28, 2022 (Loan amount: USD 200 
million, Borrowing date: June 30, 2022, Repayment date: June 30, 2027, Participating financial institutions: Bank 
of America NA Tokyo Branch) and a term loan agreement dated June 30, 2022 (Loan amount: 20,000 million yen, 
Borrowing date: June 30, 2022, Repayment date: June 30, 2027, Participating financial institutions: MUFG Bank, 
Ltd.). The Company has borrowed a total of 47,096 million yen under these agreements dated June 30, 2022. 
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(3) Assets pledged as collateral and corresponding liabilities as of each fiscal year end are as follows. 
A. Assets pledged as collateral 

(In millions of yen) 

  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 

Buildings and structures  30,844  34,853

Machinery, equipment and vehicles  38,912  39,321

Land  16,264  16,245

Total  86,020  90,419
(Note) Other than the above, stock of subsidiary (638,841 million yen for December 31, 2022 and 638,841 million yen for 

December 31, 2023) which are eliminated in the consolidated statements of financial position, are collateralized. 
 

B. Liabilities corresponding to assets pledged as collateral 
(In millions of yen) 

  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 

Current portion of long-term borrowings  64,449  177,553

Long-term borrowings 
(Excluding current portion)  245,423  68,326

Total  309,782  245,879
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20. Other Financial Liabilities 
The components of other financial liabilities are as follows. 

    (In millions of yen) 

  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 

Lease liabilities   14,269  16,712 

Derivative liabilities (Note 1)  8,342  15,672 
Contingent consideration  
(Note 1, 2)  2,528  3,298 

Total  25,139  35,682 

Current liabilities  13,838  24,311 

Non-current liabilities  11,301  11,371 
 
(Note) 1 Derivative liabilities are classified as financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss. For details, 

please refer to “Note 34. Financial Instruments.” 
2 For details, please refer to “Note 7. Business Combinations.” 
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21. Provisions 
The components of provisions and their changes are as follows. 

(In millions of yen) 

 
Asset 

retirement 
obligations 

Provision for 
business 

restructuring 

Provision for 
loss on 
litigation 

Other 
provisions Total 

Balances as of December 31, 2022 3,242 1,406 5,741 999 11,388 

Current liabilities 96 1,263 5,741 999 8,099 

Non-current liabilities 3,146 143   3,289 

Increase during the period 451 5,832 461 454 7,198 
Decrease during the period 
(payment) (189) (2,934) (469) (1,049) (4,641) 

Decrease during the period 
(reversal) (39)   (63) (102) 

Period interest expense in 
discount calculation 18    18 

Other 65 184 319 51 619 
Balances as of December 31, 
2023 3,548 4,488 6,052 392 14,480 

Current liabilities 441 4,330 6,052 392 11,215 

Non-current liabilities 3,107 158   3,265 
 
A. Asset retirement obligations 

The expected amount related to performing obligations necessary to restore assets to their original state under the 
real estate lease agreements of offices and plants used by the Group and legal obligations to remove hazardous 
substances related to non-current assets is recorded as a provision. The amount of asset retirement obligations was 
computed using an estimated useful life of 3 to 47 years as well as a discount rate of 0.1% to 10.5%, although the 
timing of payments will be affected by future business plans, and other factors. 
 

B. Provision for business restructuring 
Provision for business restructuring is recorded for expected future losses in connection with business structure 
reform and consolidation. The timing of payments will be affected by future business plans, and other factors. 
 

C. Provision for loss on litigation 
The Group records the estimated amount of reasonably calculated losses, considering individual risks, for losses on 
litigation which could be incurred in the future from lawsuits and disputed cases. For details, please refer to “Note 37. 
Commitments and Contingent Liabilities, (5) Others.” 
 

D. Other provisions 
Other provisions include a provision for product warranties and a provision for an onerous contract. 
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22. Employee Benefits 
The Group adopts post-employment benefit plans such as a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution plan, except 
for some overseas consolidated subsidiaries. 
(1) Defined benefit plans 

A. Characteristics of defined benefit plans and related risks 
The characteristics of defined benefit plans and related risks are as follows. 
(a) Characteristics of defined benefit plans 

The defined benefit plans of the Company and its subsidiaries in the Group include (i) a severance indemnity plan 
and (ii) a defined benefit corporate pension plan. The Group may also provide extra retirement payments upon the 
retirement of employees. 
(i) The severance indemnity plan is an unfunded plan to make a lump-sum payment only with an internal reserve 

without making an external reserve for the obligations of the retirement benefit plans. As the lump-sum payment 
is paid in an amount based on salaries and number of service years in accordance with the retirement allowance 
regulations including the rules of employment of each company. 

(ii) The defined benefit corporate pension plan is a defined benefit pension and a funded plan established under 
the Defined Benefit Corporate Pension Act (enforced in April 2002). It is a fund-type corporate pension, and a 
lump-sum payment or an annuity is paid from the fund based on salaries and number of service years. In the 
defined benefit corporate pension plan, administrators of the corporate pension, such as the executive directors 
of the employer and the fund, abide by laws, regulations and asset management and investment contracts and 
others and their standards of practice such as the prohibition of acts involving conflicts of interest against the 
participants in the plan have been clearly defined. 
In the defined benefit corporate pension plan, the amount of benefits is calculated based on the cumulative 
number of points granted to employees according to their job classification. The Company and its subsidiaries 
in Japan adopt a cash balance pension plan for the defined benefit corporate pension plan. Some of the 
Company's overseas subsidiaries adopt externally funded pension plans such as trust funds for the defined 
benefit corporate pension plan. Under those pension plans, each participant has an account in which a certain 
amount calculated by the revaluation rate that is determined based on the current base salary, the job 
classification and the market interest rate is accumulated. 

 (b) Risks to which an entity is exposed by the plan. 
The Group is exposed to actuarial risks such as price fluctuation risk by plan assets and interest rate risk by present 
value of obligations of the defined benefit plans. 

  
B. Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position 

The amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position are as follows. 
    (In millions of yen) 

  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 
Present value of obligations of the funded defined 
benefit plans (with plan assets)  102,909  100,517 

Fair value of plan assets  (134,727)  (141,995) 

Funded status  (31,818)  (41,478) 

Impact of asset ceiling   32,378  42,323 
Present value of obligations of the unfunded defined 
benefit plans (without plan assets)  23,542  23,753 

Net amount of liabilities (assets) pertaining to defined 
benefits recognized in the consolidated statements of 
financial position 

 24,102  24,598 

Retirement benefit liability  24,102  24,598 

Retirement benefit asset     
 
 
As of December 31, 2022, the present value of obligations of the funded defined benefit plans (with and without plan assets) 
was 105,643 million yen for domestic plans and 20,808 million yen for overseas plans. The fair value of plan assets was 
(120,553) million yen for domestic plans and (14,174) million yen for overseas plans. 
 
As of December 31, 2023, the present value of obligations of the funded defined benefit plans (with and without plan assets) 
was 99,837 million yen for domestic plans and 24,433 million yen for overseas plans. The fair value of plan assets was 
(125,882) million yen for domestic plans and (16,113) million yen for overseas plans. 
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C. Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligation 
The changes in the present value of defined benefit obligation are as follows. 

(In millions of yen) 

 The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 

Present value of defined benefit obligation (beginning) 147,379  126,451 

Service cost 2,370  2,276 

Interest expenses 1,082  2,121 

Benefits paid (8,689)  (8,131) 

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans      
(i) Actuarial differences arising from changes in 

demographic assumptions (691)  (409) 

(ii) Actuarial differences arising from changes in 
financial assumptions (16,806)  (3) 

(iii) Revisions to other results 286  (614) 

Effects of business combination and disposal 5   

Exchange differences 1,435  2,275 

Other 80  304 

Present value of defined benefit obligation (ending) 126,451  124,270 
 

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation in each fiscal year is as follows. 

 The year ended 
December 31, 2022 

The year ended 
December 31, 2023 

Weighted average duration 10.7 years 10.5 years 
 

D. Changes in the fair value of plan assets 
Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows. 

(In millions of yen) 

 The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 

Fair value of plan assets (beginning) 152,382  134,727 

Interest income 1,061  2,124 

Remeasurement – Return on plan assets (15,199)  7,444 

Contributions by employer (Note 1) 2,234  2,324 

Benefits paid  (6,515)  (6,267) 

Effects of business combination and disposal    

Exchange differences 723  1,677 

Other 41  (34) 

Fair value of plan assets (ending) 134,727  141,995 
(Note) 1. Contributions to the defined benefit plans in the Group are made in consideration of factors such as the financial 

position of the Group, the funding situation of plan assets and actuarial factors based on laws and regulations. 
In the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024, 1,980 million yen is planned to be contributed to the defined benefit 
pension plans. 

 2. The purpose of the investment of plan assets of the Group is to secure necessary revenue in the long term within 
the acceptable range of risks in order to provide benefits to beneficiaries reliably in the future. 
The target rate of return aims to exceed the assumed interest rate required for the financial position of the pension 
scheme on a stable basis for the long term. 
The Group has set a “policy asset mix” to achieve the investment target and attempts to make an investment to 
maintain the asset mix based on the policy asset mix. The asset mix is reviewed as necessary and tailored to 
changes in the situation of the Group and the institution and the environment surrounding the Group. 

 3. Some consolidated subsidiaries participate in a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. 
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E. Changes in the impact of the asset ceiling 
The changes in the impact of the asset ceiling are as follows. 

(In millions of yen) 

 The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 

Impact of asset ceiling (beginning) 32,929  32,378 

Interest income 196  459 
Remeasurement – Changes in the impact of the asset 
ceiling (814)  9,275 

Exchange differences 57  211 

Other 10   

Impact of the asset ceiling (ending) 32,378  42,323 
(Note) The Group sets the asset ceiling and calculates liabilities in some of its pension plans because economic benefits 

could not be enjoyed as a result of contributions that will not be reduced or returned in the future. 
 

F. Components of fair value of plan assets by type 
The components of the fair value of plan assets by type are as follows. 

  (In millions of yen) 

 As of December 31, 2022 As of December 31, 2023 

Equity instruments   

Domestic equity securities 10,201 11,522 

Foreign equity securities 22,048 23,383 

Debt instruments     

Domestic bonds 9,312 9,303 

Foreign bonds 23,998 24,054 

General accounts of life insurance company 31,287 32,666 

Cash and cash equivalents 6,258 6,050 

Other 31,623 35,017 

Total 134,727 141,995 
(Note) Most of plan assets are operated through commingled funds and classified as those with no public market price in 

active markets. These commingled funds are appropriately diversified into stocks and debts that generally listed in 
active market based on corporate pension fund code. “General accounts of life insurance company” are the accounts 
that the life insurance company jointly manages the funds with several contracts and includes a guaranteed interest 
rate and return of capital. The major components of "Other" represent alternative instruments that are invested using 
long/short positions and securitized products. 

 
G. Major actuarial assumptions 

Major actuarial assumptions (weighted average) are as follows. 

  As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 

Discount rate  1.7%  1.9% 
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H. Sensitivity analysis 
In the calculation of the defined benefit obligation in the sensitivity analysis, the same method as the calculation 
method for the defined benefit obligation recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position is used. 

The sensitivity analysis is made based on changes in assumptions that can be reasonably presumed at the end 
of the reporting period. In addition, although the sensitivity analysis assumes that all actuarial assumptions other than 
those that are subject to the sensitivity analysis remain constant, changes in those other actuarial assumptions could 
have an impact in reality. 

The impact of a 0.5% change in actuarial assumptions on the defined benefit obligation is as follows. 
     (In millions of yen) 

   As of December 31, 
2022  As of December 31, 

2023 
Discount rate 0.5% increase  (6,235)  (5,799) 
 0.5% decrease  6,559  6,051 

 
 

(2) Defined contribution plans 
The Group has adopted defined contribution pension plans. The amount recognized as an expense in relation to the 
defined contribution plans, including employee pension premiums paid by the employer under the Employees’ Pension 
Insurance Act, is as follows. 

(In millions of yen) 

 The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 

Contributions 8,542  8,527 
(Note) This amount is included in “Cost of sales” and “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated 

statements of profit or loss. 
 
 

(3) Employee benefit expenses 
The components of the employee benefit expenses are as follows. 

(In millions of yen) 

 The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 

Personnel expenses 225,952  268,591 

Retirement benefit expenses 11,129  11,259 

Extra retirement payments and others 1,189  6,168 

Other 2,649  6,245 

Total 240,919  292,263 
(Note) This amount is included in “Cost of sales,” “Selling, general and administrative expenses” and “Other expenses” in 

the consolidated statements of profit or loss. 
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23. Share Capital and Other Equity Items 
(1) Share capital and treasury shares 

Ordinary shares 

 Total number of authorized 
shares (shares) 

Total number of issued 
shares (shares) Treasury shares (shares) 

As of December 31, 2022 3,400,000,000 1,958,454,023 161,488,167 

Changes (Note 2) ― ― 19,881,715 

As of December 31, 2023 3,400,000,000 1,958,454,023 181,369,882 
(Note) 1. All the shares issued by the Company are non-par value ordinary shares with no restrictions on rights. 
 2. Based on the resolution at the Board of Directors’ meeting held on February 9, 2023, the Company conducted a 

tender offer to acquire its own shares and purchased 40,453,107 shares from February 10, 2023 to March 10, 
2023. As a result, treasury shares increased by 50,000 million yen. In addition, the number of treasury shares 
decreased by 20,571,392 shares, due to disposals of treasury shares based on the exercise of stock options and 
the vesting of Restricted Stock Unit (RSU) and Performance Share Unit (PSU) for the year ended December 31, 
2023. As a result, treasury shares decreased by 24,480 million yen. The amount of treasury shares held was 
217,691 million yen as of December 31, 2023. For details on stock options, RSU and PSU, see “Note 33. Share-
based Payments.” 

 3. Total number of issued shares has been already paid-up. 
   

(2) Surplus 
A. Capital surplus 

The Companies Act of Japan stipulates that one half or more of the paid-in amount from the issue of shares shall be 
accounted for as share capital, and the remainder shall be accounted for as capital reserve included in capital surplus. 
Under the Companies Act, the amount of such capital reserve may be transferred to shared capital by the resolution 
of a shareholders meeting. 
 

B. Retained earnings 
The Companies Act of Japan stipulates that one tenth of the amount of the distributions of surplus shall be 
accumulated as capital reserve or legal reserve until the sum of the capital reserve and legal reserve reaches one 
fourth of the share capital. The accumulated retained earnings reserve may be appropriated to cover a loss. The 
Companies Act also states that the retained earnings reserve may be used by the resolution of a shareholders 
meeting. 
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24. Dividends 
(1) Dividend payment amounts 

The year ended December 31, 2022 
Not applicable. 
 
The year ended December 31, 2023 
Not applicable. 
 

(2) Among dividends with a record date that falls under the consolidated fiscal year, for those with an effective date in  
the subsequent period 

Resolution Class of 
shares 

Total amount 
of dividends 
(million yen) 

Dividend per 
share (yen) Record date Effective date Source of 

dividend 

March 26, 2024 
Annual general 

meeting of 
shareholders 

Ordinary 
shares 49,758 28 December 31, 

2023 
March 29, 

2024 
Retained 
earnings 
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25. Revenue 
(1) Disaggregation of revenue 

Disaggregation of revenue recognized from contracts with customers are stated in “Note 6. Business Segments, (2) 
Information on reportable segments and (4) Information on regions and countries.” Also, all of the revenue arises 
from contracts with customers. 
 
The Group engages in research, development, design, manufacturing, sales and services related to various kinds of 
semiconductors as a manufacturer specializing in semiconductors, and the revenue is mainly due to sales of 
semiconductor products. 

Regarding the sales of these products, the Group recognizes revenue when the customer obtains control over 
the product which is at the time of delivery of a product because legal title of the product, physical possession of the 
asset, the significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the customer, and the customer has an 
obligation to pay for the products at the time of delivery of the product. 

Revenue is measured at the amount of promised consideration in contracts with customers. 
With regard to sales contract including variable consideration such as rebate and discounts, the transaction price 

is estimated and determined using the most-likely-amount method based largely on historical data, only to the extent 
that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur 
when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. 

Consideration under sales contracts is recovered mainly within one year from satisfaction of a performance 
obligation and includes no significant financing components. 
 

(2) Accounts arising from contracts 
                                                         (In millions of yen) 

 As of December 31, 2022 As of December 31, 2023 

 At beginning of the 
period 

At end of the 
period 

At beginning of the 
period 

At end of the 
period 

Trade receivables 155,604 200,083 200,083 210,964

Contract assets 695 375 375 167 

Contract liabilities 351 460 460 97 
 
(Note) 1. Trade receivables are included in “Trade and other receivables” and “Other financial assets” in the consolidated 

statements of financial position. 
2. Contract assets are company's rights to the consideration received in exchange for goods or services transferred 

to the customer by the company, on condition of something other than the passage of time (for example, future 
performance of the company). Contract assets are transferred to receivables when the right to consideration 
becomes unconditional. Contract assets are included in “Trade and other receivables” in the consolidated 
statements of financial position. 

3. Contract liabilities relate to the payment received in advance of performance under the contract. The contract    
liabilities are reclassified to revenue when the Group satisfies a performance obligation based on the contract. 
Contract liabilities are included in “Other current liabilities” in the consolidated statements of financial position. 

4. The amounts of revenues recognized during the prior fiscal year and the current fiscal year from the performance 
obligations satisfied in the past periods were immaterial. 

5. Of the revenues recognized in the prior fiscal year, 299 million yen was included in the balance of contract liabilities 
as of January 1, 2022. Of the revenues recognized in the current fiscal year, 177 million yen was included in the 
balance of contract liabilities as of January 1, 2023. 

 
(3) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation 

     The Group uses the practical expedient of omitting the disclosure of information on the remaining performance 
obligations because it has no significant transactions with individual expected contractual terms exceeding one year. 
In addition, there are no significant amounts in consideration from contracts with customers that are not included in 
transaction prices. 

 
(4) Assets recognized from the cost to obtain or fulfill contracts with customers 

 There are no assets recognized from the cost to obtain or fulfill contracts with customers. 
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26. Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 
The components of selling, general and administrative expenses are as follows. 

(In millions of yen) 

 The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 

Research and development expenses (Note)  205,963  232,777 

Depreciation and amortization 111,947  111,504 

Personnel expenses 67,569  75,739 

Retirement benefit expenses 2,723  4,289 

Other 38,676  41,711 

Total 426,878  466,020 
(Note) Research and development expenses are included in selling, general and administrative expenses. Related expenses 
such as outsourcing costs, personnel expenses, depreciation costs and material costs are mainly included in research and 
development expenses. 
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27. Other Income 
The components of other income are as follows. 

(In millions of yen) 

 The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 

Insurance claim income (Note 1) 1,467  30,665 
Fair value remeasurements on contingent 
considerations (Note 2) 2,464  2,023 

Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment (Note 3) 9,749  1,382 

Reversal of provision for business restructuring 1,068  ― 

Other 2,929  4,334 

Total 17,677  38,404 
 
(Note) 1. Insurance claim income for the year ended December 31, 2023 is the amount received related to a fire that 

occurred at Naka Factory of Renesas Semiconductor Manufacturing Co., Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Company, on March 19, 2021. This insurance payments include the amount for loss of profits due to the fire 
damage. 

2. For details, please refer to “7. Business Combinations.” 
3. Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment for the year ended December 31, 2022 is mainly due to the sale 

of Yamaguchi Factory of Renesas Semiconductor Manufacturing Co., Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Company, which completed consolidation on June 30, 2022. 
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28. Other Expenses 
The components of other expenses are as follows. 

(In millions of yen) 

 The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 

Business restructuring expenses (Note 1) 3,928  6,740 

Impairment losses (Note 2) 7,719  4,872 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 859  1,225 

Loss on reduction of non-current assets ―  1,068 

Settlement packages (Note 3) 5,488  604 

Other 2,641  1,437 

Total 20,635  15,946 
(Note)  

1. The Group has reformed its business and structures of production to strengthen its financial basis, and the related 
expenses are shown as business restructuring expenses. The main items of business restructuring expenses were 
personnel expenses such as additional retirement benefits and expenses related to disposition of property, plant 
and equipment associated with consolidating the operating bases. 

2. For details on impairment losses, see “Note 15. Impairment of Non-financial Assets.” 
3. Settlements packages for the year ended December 31, 2022 are mainly related to past license agreements. 
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29. Finance Income and Finance Costs 
The components of finance income and finance costs are as follows. 
(1) Finance income 

(In millions of yen) 

 The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 

Interest income    

Financial assets measured at amortized cost 1,084  21,876 

Foreign exchange gain (Note)   8,560 

Gain from fair value evaluation    
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit 
or loss   6,308 

Other 325  1,398 

Total 1,409  38,142 
 

(2) Finance costs 
(In millions of yen) 

 The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 

Interest expenses    

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 6,867  6,339 

Foreign exchange loss (Note) 51,912   

Other 4,501  396 

Total 63,280  6,735 
(Note) Foreign exchange gain and loss include losses on valuation of currency derivatives. 
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30. Other Comprehensive Income 
Reclassification adjustments and tax effects of other comprehensive income by component are as follows. 

   (In millions of yen) 

 The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:   
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans   

Amount incurred during the period 2,742 (776) 
Tax effect (829) 115 
After tax effect 1,913 (661) 

Equity financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income   

Amount incurred during the period (35) (489) 
Tax effect (95) 14 
After tax effect (130) (475) 

Total of items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 1,783 (1,136) 
   
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or 
loss:   

Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations   

Amount incurred during the period 312,709  168,396 
Reclassification ―  
Before tax effect 312,709 168,396 
Tax effect ―  
After tax effect 312,709 168,396 

Cash flow hedges   
Amount incurred during the period 13,716  (14,302) 
Reclassification  (31,202) 4,233 
Before tax effect (17,486) (10,069) 
Tax effect 5,540 3,054 
After tax effect (11,946) (7,015) 

Cost of hedges   
Amount incurred during the period 9,618 (4,013) 
Reclassification 24 21 
Before tax effect 9,642 (3,992) 
Tax effect (2,989) 1,262 
After tax effect 6,653 (2,730) 

Total of items that may be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss 307,416 158,651 

   
Total other comprehensive income 309,199 157,515 
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31. Earnings Per Share 
Basic earnings per share attributable to owners of parent and diluted earnings per share are as follows. 
(1) Basic earnings per share 

 The year ended  
December 31, 2022  The year ended  

December 31, 2023 
Profit attributable to owners of parent used for the 
calculation of basic earnings per share (million yen) 256,615  337,086 

    
Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the 
year (thousands of shares) 1,864,152  1,776,296 

    

Basic earnings per share (yen) 137.66  189.77 
 
(2) Diluted earnings per share 

 The year ended  
December 31, 2022  The year ended  

December 31, 2023 
Profit attributable to owners of parent used for the 
calculation of basic earnings per share (million yen) 256,615  337,086 

Adjustments on earnings (million yen) ―  ― 

Profit used for the calculation of diluted earnings per 
share (million yen) 256,615  337,086 

    
Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the 
year before dilution (thousands of shares) 1,864,152  1,776,296 

Increase in common stock    

Share acquisition rights (thousands of shares) 20,907  10,799 

Restricted Stock Unit (thousands of shares) 18,101  24,528 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the 
year after dilution (thousands of shares) 1,903,161  1,811,623 

    

Diluted earnings per share (yen) 134.84  186.07 
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32. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
   (1) Changes in liabilities in financing activities 

The components of liabilities in financing activities and their changes during the fiscal year are as follows. 
                                            
(For The year ended December 31, 2022) 

(In millions of yen) 
 

As of 
December 
31, 2021 

Cash flows 

Non-cash transactions 

As of 
December 
31, 2022 Acquisitions 

Increase 
due to 

business 
combinatio

n 

Effect of 
foreign 

exchange 
rate 

changes 

Changes 
in fair 
value 

Other 
(Note 2) 

Long-term 
borrowings  
(Note 1) 

658,490 (81,671)   (556)  891 577,154 

Short-term 
borrowings 1,047 (1,180)     133  

Bonds (Note 3) 154,551    24,786  (748) 178,589 

Derivative 
liabilities (assets) 
(Note 4) 

1,427     (15,030)  (13,603) 

Lease liabilities 17,232 (5,901) 3,097    (159) 14,269 

Total 832,747 (88,752) 3,097  24,230 (15,030) 117 756,409 
 
 
(For The year ended December 31, 2023) 

(In millions of yen) 
 

As of 
December 
31, 2022 

Cash flows 

Non-cash transactions 

As of 
December 
31, 2023 Acquisitions 

Increase 
due to 

business 
combinatio

n 

Effect of 
foreign 

exchange 
rate 

changes 

Changes 
in fair 
value 

Other 
(Note 2) 

Long-term 
borrowings  
(Note 1) 

577,154 (120,015)   1,826  886 459,851 

Short-term 
borrowings         

Bonds (Note 3) 178,589    12,326  182 191,097 

Derivative 
liabilities (assets) 
(Note 4) 

(13,603)     (857)  (14,460) 

Lease liabilities 14,269 (5,796) 7,363    876 16,712 

Total 756,409 (125,811) 7,363  14,152 (857) 1,944 653,200 
 

(Note) 1. Current portion of long-term borrowings are included in long-term borrowings. 
 2. Non-cash transactions for long-term borrowings includes the arrangement fees. 

3. To reduce the risk of foreign exchanges in the USD-denominated Senior Notes, the Group uses currency 
swaps. The currency swap is designated as a hedge. For details on hedge accounting, see “Note 34. Financial 
Instruments.” 

4. Derivatives are held for the purpose of hedging bonds, borrowings and plan on purchasing. 
  
   (2) Non-cash transactions 

      Significant non-cash transactions are as follows. 
   (In millions of yen) 

Type The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 
Purchase of intangible assets through installment  
purchase contracts 309  6,781 

 
 
   (3) Principal assets and liabilities of a company that became a consolidated subsidiary due to acquisition of stock 
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(For the year ended December 31, 2022) 
For details of assets and liabilities for Steradian at time of its consolidation resulting from the acquisition of stock as 
well as the relationship between the acquisition price of stock and expenditures (net) for its acquisition, see “Note 7. 
Business Combinations.” 

 
(For the year ended December 31, 2023) 
For details of assets and liabilities for Panthronics at time of its consolidation resulting from the acquisition of stock 
as well as the relationship between the acquisition price of stock and expenditures (net) for its acquisition, see “Note 
7. Business Combinations.” 
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33. Share-based Payments 
The Group has adopted share-based payment plans as an incentive plan for directors, senior vice presidents and 

employees. 
Share-based payment expenses included in the consolidated statements of profit or loss totaled 1,548 million yen in 

“Cost of sales” and 16,596 million yen in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the previous fiscal year, and 
1,537 million yen in “Cost of sales” and 21,747 million yen in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the current 
fiscal year. 

 
(1) Restricted Stock Unit (RSU) and Performance Share Unit (PSU) 

A. Overview of RSU and PSU 
(a) RSU 
RSU is a share-based payment plan in which the Company provides recipients with the number of units that 
corresponds to the number of years determined by the Board of Directors (basically three years, except one year for 
the Outside Directors) and annually delivers to the recipients common stock for the number of units that vested (the 
units vest by one third of total units provided every year after the grant date, except that the units vest after one year 
for the outside directors), subject to continued employment with the Group. 
(b) PSU 
PSU is a share-based payment plan in which the Company provides the recipients (excluding outside directors) with 
the number of units determined by the Board of Directors and delivers to the recipients common stock for the number 
of the units that vested in response to the extent of the growth rate of total shareholder return over the three-year 
performance period from April 1 of the year when the PSUs are granted. 

 
B. Details for RSU and PSU 

The details of RSU and PSU granted for the year ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2023 are as follows. 
 

Date of grant Category and number of grantees Number of units Fair value (Yen) 
RSU PSU RSU PSU 

January 14, 2022 Employees of the Company and 
subsidiaries 276 624,700  1,434.0  

February 9, 2022 Employees of subsidiaries 6 399,300  1,332.0  

April 14, 2022 

Outside directors 2 
Director and corporate officer 1 
Corporate officers 10 
Employees of the Company and 
subsidiaries 3,571 

9,781,100 1,376,600 1,371.0 2,004.6 

July 15, 2022 Employees of the Company and 
subsidiaries 225 1,048,400  1,215.0  

October 14, 2022 
Corporate officer 1 
Employees of the Company and 
subsidiaries 344 

2,026,600  1,230.0  

October 26, 2022 Employees of subsidiaries 6 10,200  1,235.0  

December 16, 2022 Employees of the Company and 
subsidiaries 47 24,100  1,265.5  

January 16, 2023 Employees of the Company and 
subsidiaries 144 1,412,400  1,255.0  

April 11, 2023 

Outside directors 2 
Corporate officers 11 
Employees of the Company and 
subsidiaries 5,837 

12,338,700 1,833,600 1,830.5 2,651.6 

July 14, 2023 Employees of the Company and 
subsidiaries 243 1,101,300  2,697.5  

October 18, 2023 Employees of the Company and 
subsidiaries 329 762,700  2,309.0  

(Note) 1. The fair value of RSU is calculated based on the Company's stock price on the date of grant. 
2. The fair value of PSU is calculated based on the results of comparing the fluctuation rate of the Company’s stock 

with that of stock indexes over a certain period. 
3. Our common stock (1 unit = 1 share) is delivered based on the number of units at the time of vesting. There is no 

payment from Directors, Corporate Officers and employees at the time of delivering the stock. 
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C. Changes of the number of RSU and PSU 
Changes of the number of RSU and PSU in the prior fiscal year and the current fiscal year are as follows (1 right = 1 
share).  

 

Grant date 
The year ended 

December 31, 2022 
The year ended 

December 31, 2023 
RSU PSU RSU PSU 

Beginning balance  21,888,800 1,133,200 23,297,844 2,283,300 

Granted 13,914,400  1,376,600  15,615,100  2,062,276  

Forfeited (3,738,644)  (197,600)  (2,445,483)  (236,989)  

Vested (8,766,712)  (28,900) 10,538,568  417,400 

Ending balance 23,297,844  2,283,300  25,928,893  3,691,187  
 

(2) Stock option 
A. Overview of the stock option plan 

Under the stock option plan, warrants have been granted to eligible persons in accordance with the resolution of the 
Board of Directors of the Company based on the arrangement approved at the shareholders meeting of the Company. 
The exercise period of the stock options is set by an allotment contract, and if they are not exercised during the 
exercise period, the stock options will lapse. In addition, if an eligible person has left the Company before the vesting 
date, the options will also lapse. However, this does not apply to certain cases addressed in the warrants allotment 
contract, such as resignation due to the expiration of the term of office. 

The stock option plan of the Company is accounted for as equity-settled share-based payments. 
  

B. Details for the stock option plan 
The stock option plan in effect during the current fiscal year is as follows. 

 
 Category and 

number of 
grantees 

Type of 
stock and 
number of 

shares 

Grant date Vesting conditions Vesting 
period 

Exercise 
period 

Fiscal year 
2017 Stock 
options 
No.1 – 1 
No.2 – 1 

Directors of the 
Company        
2 
 
Corporate officers 
and executive 
officers of the 
Company      
11   
 
Employees of the 
Company         
342 
 
Directors of 
subsidiaries       
20 
 
Employees of 
subsidiaries       
890            

Common 
stock 
3,549,500 
shares 

April 3, 
2017 

The rights vest in stages 
as follows 
One third vests on April 
4, 2018 
One third vests on April 
4, 2019 
The remaining vests on 
April 4, 2020 

From April 
3, 2017 to 
April 4, 
2020 

From April 
4, 2017 to 
April 3, 
2027 
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Fiscal year 
2018 Stock 
options 
No.1 – 1 
No.2 – 1 

Directors of the 
Company        
3 
 
Corporate officers 
and executive 
officers of the 
Company      
10   
 
Employees of the 
Company         
472 
 
Directors of 
subsidiaries       
18 
 
Employees of 
subsidiaries       
743 

Common 
stock 
3,607,200 
shares 

April 2, 
2018 

The rights vest in stages 
as follows 
One third vests on April 
3, 2019 
One third vests on April 
3, 2020 
The remaining vests on 
April 3, 2021 

From April 
2, 2018 to 
April 3, 
2021 

From April 
3, 2018 to 
April 2, 
2028 

Fiscal year 
2018 Stock 
options 
No.1 – 2 
No.2 – 2 

Directors of the 
Company        
3 
 
Corporate officers 
and executive 
officers of the 
Company      
10 
 
Employees of the 
Company         
95 
 
Directors of 
subsidiaries       
13 
 
Employees of 
subsidiaries       
47  

Common 
stock 
2,047,200 
shares 

April 2, 
2018 

The Company sets the 
upper limit number of 
shares expected to vest 
by multiplying the 
number of allocated 
stock subscription rights 
with the rate calculated 
by comparing total 
shareholder return 
fluctuation rate of the 
Company and 
companies that are the 
components of PHLX 
Semiconductor Sector 
Index and Tokyo Stock 
Price Index.  

From April 
2, 2018 to 
April 2, 
2021 

From April 
3, 2018 to 
April 2, 
2028 

Fiscal year 
2018 Stock 
options 
No.3 
No.4 

Employees of the 
Company         
257 
 
Directors of 
subsidiaries       
1 
 
Employees of 
subsidiaries       
181 

Common 
stock 
534,600 
shares 

July 31, 
2018 

The rights vest in stages 
as follows 
One third vests on April 
3, 2019 
One third vests on April 
3, 2020 
The remaining vests on 
April 3, 2021 

From July 
31, 2018 
to April 3, 
2021 

From 
August 1, 
2018 to 
July 31, 
2028 

Fiscal year 
2019 
Stock options 
No.1 
No.2 
No.3 

Corporate officers 
and executive 
officers of the 
Company      
1   
 
Directors of 
subsidiaries       
1 
 
Corporate officers 
and executive 
officers of 
subsidiaries      
3 
 
Employees of 

Common 
stock 
57,043,500 
shares 

April 9, 
2019 

According to completion 
of the acquisitions with 
IDT, the existing stock 
options for IDT allocated 
to directors of IDT and 
its subsidiaries, 
corporate officers and 
executive officers of 
subsidiaries, and 
employees of 
subsidiaries are 
converted into the stock 
options for the Company 
and issued. 
The rights are based on 
the vesting periods for 
the stock option 

From April 
9, 2019 to 
March 15, 
2023 

From April 
9, 2019 to 
April 8, 
2029 
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subsidiaries       
1,337 

originally scheduled in 
IDT. 

Fiscal year 
2019 Stock 
options 
No.4 – 1 
No.5 – 1 

Corporate officers 
and executive 
officers of the 
Company      
1 
 
Employees of the 
Company         
1 
 
Employees of 
subsidiaries       
32 

Common 
stock 
659,800 
shares 

May 31, 
2019 

The rights vest in stages 
as follows 
One third vests on April 
1, 2020 
One third vests on April 
1, 2021 
The remaining vests on 
April 1, 2022 

From May 
31, 2019 
to April 1, 
2022 

From June 
1, 2019 to 
May 31, 
2029 

Fiscal year 
2019 Stock 
options 
No.6 – 1 
No.7 – 1 

Employees of the 
Company         
486 
 
Directors of 
subsidiaries       
15 
 
Employees of 
subsidiaries       
1,875 

Common 
stock 
16,222,700 
shares 

July 25, 
2019 

The rights vest in stages 
as follows 
One third vests on April 
1, 2020 
One third vests on April 
1, 2021 
The remaining vests on 
April 1, 2022 

From July 
25, 2019 
to April 1, 
2022 

From July 
26, 2019 to 
July 25, 
2029 

Fiscal year 
2019 Stock 
options 
No.6 – 2 
No.7 – 2 

Employees of the 
Company         
90 
 
Directors of 
subsidiaries       
10 
 
Employees of 
subsidiaries       
46 

Common 
stock 
3,203,800 
shares 

July 25, 
2019 

The Company sets the 
upper limit number of 
shares expected to vest 
by multiplying the 
number of allocated 
stock subscription rights 
with the rate calculated 
by comparing total 
shareholder return 
fluctuation rate of the 
Company and 
companies that are the 
components of PHLX 
Semiconductor Sector 
Index and Tokyo Stock 
Price Index. 

From July 
25, 2019 
to April 2, 
2022 

From July 
26, 2019 to 
July 25, 
2029 

Fiscal year 
2019 Stock 
options 
No.8 – 1 
No.9 – 1 

Directors of the 
Company        
2 
 
Corporate officers 
and executive 
officers of the 
Company      
12 
 
Employees of the 
Company         
2            

Common 
stock 
985,900 
shares 

August 23, 
2019 

The rights vest in stages 
as follows 
One third vests on April 
1, 2020 
One third vests on April 
1, 2021 
The remaining vests on 
April 1, 2022 

From 
August 23, 
2019 to 
April 1, 
2022 

From 
August 24, 
2019 to 
August 23, 
2029 

Fiscal year 
2019 Stock 
options 
No.8 – 2 
No.9 – 2 

Directors of the 
Company        
2 
 
Corporate officers 
and executive 
officers of the 
Company      
12 

Common 
stock 
1,963,800 
shares 

August 23, 
2019 

The Company sets the 
upper limit number of 
shares expected to vest 
by multiplying the 
number of allocated 
stock subscription rights 
with the rate calculated 
by comparing total 
shareholder return 
fluctuation rate of the 
Company and 
companies that are the 
components of PHLX 
Semiconductor Sector 
Index and Tokyo Stock 

From 
August 23, 
2019 to 
April 2, 
2022 

From 
August 24, 
2019 to 
August 23, 
2029 
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Price Index. 
Fiscal year 
2019 
Stock options 
No.10 

Employees of 
subsidiaries       
441 

Common 
stock 
351,600 
shares 

September 
20, 2019 

The rights vest in stages 
as follows 
One third vests on April 
1, 2020 
One third vests on April 
1, 2021 
The remaining vests on 
April 1, 2022 

From 
September 
20, 2019 
to April 1, 
2022 

From 
September 
21, 2019 to 
September 
20, 2029 

Fiscal year 
2019  
Stock options 
No.11 – 1 
No.12 – 1 

Corporate officers 
and executive 
officers of the 
Company      
1 
 
Employees of the 
Company         
122 
 
Employees of 
subsidiaries       
123 

Common 
stock 
887,700 
shares 

October 
31, 2019 

The rights vest in stages 
as follows 
Certain amount vests on 
April 1, 2020 
Certain amount vests on 
April 1, 2021 
Certain amount vests on 
April 1, 2022 
The remaining vests on 
April 1, 2023 

From 
October 
31, 2019 
to April 1, 
2023 

From 
November 
1, 2019 to 
October 31, 
2029 

Fiscal year 
2019 
Stock options 
No.13 

Employees of 
subsidiaries       
15 

Common 
stock 
204,800 
Shares 

December 
25, 2019 

The rights vest in stages 
as follows 
One third vests on April 
1, 2020 
One third vests on April 
1, 2021 
The remaining vests on 
April 1, 2022 

From 
December 
25, 2019 
to April 1, 
2022 

From 
December 
26, 2019 to 
December 
25, 2029 

Fiscal year 
2019 
Stock options 
No.14 

Employees of 
subsidiaries       
23 

Common 
stock 
210,000 
Shares 

January 
31, 2020 

The rights vest in stages 
as follows 
Certain amount vests on 
April 1, 2020 
Certain amount vests on 
April 1, 2021 
Certain amount vests on 
April 1, 2022 
The remaining vests on 
April 1, 2023 

From 
January 
31, 2020 
to April 1, 
2023 

From 
February 1, 
2020 to 
January 31, 
2030 

Fiscal year 
2020 
Stock options 
No.1 – 1 
No.2 – 1 

Directors of the 
Company        
4 
 
Corporate officers 
and executive 
officers of the 
Company      
10 
 
Employees of the 
Company 
467 
 
Directors of 
subsidiaries       
14 
 
Employees of 
subsidiaries       
1,888 

Common 
stock 
17,068,000 
Shares 

June 30, 
2020 

The rights vest in stages 
as follows 
One third vests on July 
1, 2021 
One third vests on July 
1, 2022 
The remaining vests on 
July 1, 2023 

From June 
30, 2020 
to July 1, 
2023 

From July 
1, 2020 to 
June 30, 
2030 

Fiscal year 
2020 
Stock options 
No.1 – 2 
No.2 – 2 

Directors of the 
Company        
1 
 
Corporate officers 
and executive 
officers of the 
Company      
10 

Common 
stock 
5,211,600 
Shares 

June 30, 
2020 

The Company sets the 
upper limit number of 
shares expected to vest 
by multiplying the 
number of allocated 
stock subscription rights 
with the rate calculated 
by comparing total 
shareholder return 

From June 
30, 2020 
to June 
30, 2023 

From July 
1, 2020 to 
June 30, 
2030 
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Employees of the 
Company 
88 
 
Directors of 
subsidiaries       
9 
 
Employees of 
subsidiaries       
41 

fluctuation rate of the 
Company and 
companies that are the 
components of PHLX 
Semiconductor Sector 
Index and Tokyo Stock 
Price Index. 

Fiscal year 
2020 
Stock options 
No.3 
No.4 

Directors of the 
Company        
1 
 
Corporate officers 
and executive 
officers of the 
Company      
8 
 
Employees of the 
Company 
916 
 
Directors of 
subsidiaries       
6 
 
Employees of 
subsidiaries       
1,614 

Common 
stock 
4,725,300 
Shares 

August 31, 
2020 

The rights vest in stages 
as follows 
One third vests on 
August 31, 2020 
One third vests on 
September 1, 2020 
The remaining vests on 
October 1, 2020 

From 
August 31, 
2020  
to October 
1, 2020 

From 
August 31, 
2020 to 
August 30, 
2030 

Fiscal year 
2020 
Stock options 
No.5 
No.6 

Employees of the 
Company 
219 
 
Employees of 
subsidiaries       
161 

Common 
stock 
665,800 
Shares 

August 31, 
2020 

The rights vest in stages 
as follows 
One third vests on 
September 1, 2021 
One third vests on 
September 1, 2022 
The remaining vests on 
September 1, 2023 

From 
August 31, 
2020 to 
September 
1, 2023 

From 
September 
1, 2020 to 
August 31, 
2030 

Fiscal year 
2020 
Stock options 
No.7 – 1 
No.8 – 1 

Employees of the 
Company 
3 
 
Employees of 
subsidiaries       
94 

Common 
stock 
910,100 
Shares 

November 
30, 2020 

The rights vest in stages 
as follows 
Certain amount vests on 
July 1, 2021 
Certain amount vests on 
July 1, 2022 
Certain amount vests on 
July 1, 2023 
The remaining vests on 
July 1, 2024 

From 
November 
30, 2020 
to July 1, 
2023 

From 
December 
1, 2020 to 
November 
30, 2030 

Fiscal year 
2020 
Stock options 
No.7 – 2 
No.8 – 2 

Employees of 
subsidiaries       
10 

Common 
stock 
82,000 
Shares 

November 
30, 2020 

The rights vest in stages 
as follows 
One third vests on 
September 1, 2021 
One third vests on 
September 1, 2022 
The remaining vests on 
September 1, 2023 

From 
November 
30, 2020 
to 
September 
1, 2023 

From 
December 
1, 2020 to 
November 
30, 2030 

Fiscal year 
2020 
Stock options 
No.7 – 3 
 

Employees of the 
Company 
1 

Common 
stock 
22,600 
Shares 

November 
30, 2020 

The Company sets the 
upper limit number of 
shares expected to vest 
by multiplying the 
number of allocated 
stock subscription rights 
with the rate calculated 
by comparing total 
shareholder return 
fluctuation rate of the 
Company and 

From 
November 
30, 2020 
to June 
30, 2023 

From 
December 
1, 2020 to 
November 
30, 2030 
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companies that are the 
components of PHLX 
Semiconductor Sector 
Index and Tokyo Stock 
Price Index. 

Fiscal year 
2021 
Stock options 
No.1  
No.2 

Employees of the 
Company 
6 
 
Employees of 
subsidiaries       
52 

Common 
stock 
320,400 
Shares 

February 
26, 2021 

The rights vest in stages 
as follows 
Certain amount vests on 
July 1, 2021 
Certain amount vests on 
July 1, 2022 
Certain amount vests on 
July 1, 2023 
The remaining vests on 
July 1, 2024 

From 
February 
26, 2021 
to July 1, 
2024 

From 
February 
27, 2021 
to February 
26, 2031 

Fiscal year 
2021 
Stock options 
No.3 

Employees of 
subsidiaries       
4 

Common 
stock 
13,200 
Shares 

February 
26, 2021 

The rights vest in stages 
as follows 
One third vests on 
September 1, 2021 
One third vests on 
September 1, 2022 
The remaining vests on 
September 1, 2023 

From 
February 
26, 2021 
To 
September 
1, 2023 

From 
February 
27, 2021 
to  
February 
26, 2031 

(Note) 1. Vesting conditions include a requirement for award beneficiaries to provide services to the Company until the stock 
vesting date. However, this does not apply to certain cases such as mandatory retirement, resignation due to the 
expiration of the term of office or the other justifiable reasons. 

2. Grantees cannot exercise options during the time from the day after the grant date until when the stock is vested. 
Also, the option will be forfeited if the target retires or resigns from the Company or subsidiary by the vesting date. 
However, if allowed under the Stock Acquisition Rights Allocation Agreement, those options may be exercised. For 
example, if awards are not forfeited upon retirement or resignation due to the expiration of terms of office under 
the Stock Acquisition Rights Allocation Agreement, the said person may exercise the said stock options starting on 
the day following said loss of eligibility until 13 months after. 

3. If grantees forfeit their share acquisition rights, they may not exercise their stock options. 
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C. Number and weighted average exercise price of stock options 
Changes of the number and the weighted average exercise price of stock options granted in the prior fiscal year and 
the current fiscal year are as follows. The number of stock options is stated by converting them to the number of 
shares. 

 

 The year ended December 31, 2022 The year ended December 31, 2023 

 Number of options 
(shares) 

Weighted average 
exercise price (yen) 

Number of options 
(shares) 

Weighted average 
exercise price (yen) 

Beginning balance of 
unexercised options 30,692,900  1 15,220,200 1 

Granted  1  1 

Exercised 12,423,200  1 9,615,500 1 

Forfeited 2,781,900  1 365,400 1 

Expired 267,600  1 50,000 1 
Ending balance of 
unexercised options 15,220,200  1 5,189,300 1 

Ending balance of 
exercisable options 6,796,000  1 5,144,900 1 

(Note) 1. For the stock options exercised during the period, the weight average share price as of the exercise date was 
1,336 yen for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2,374 yen for the year ended December 31, 2023. 

2. Remaining weighted average contractual life outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and 2023 was 2 years and 1 
year, respectively. 

 
 

D. Fair value of stock options granted and estimation method of fair value 
There were no stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2023. 
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34. Financial Instruments 
(1) Capital management 

The Group aims to achieve sustainable growth and maximize its corporate value. Investments of surplus funds are 
limited to short-term deposits and financial assets with a high level of safety. Regarding financing sources, the Group 
mainly uses borrowings from banks and bonds. The Group mainly uses derivative financial instruments to manage 
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, and the Group’s policies prohibit holding or issuing derivative financial 
instruments for speculative transactions. Items subject to management are net interest-bearing liabilities obtained by 
deducting cash and cash equivalents from interest-bearing liabilities and equity. Their balances and the major 
indicators that the Group uses for its capital management are as follows. 
 

    (In millions of yen)

  As of December 31, 2022  As of December 31, 2023 

Interest-bearing liabilities 770,012  667,660 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (336,068)  (434,681) 

Net interest-bearing liabilities 433,944  232,979 
Total equity attributable to owners of 
parent 1,533,735  2,001,553 

Total liabilities and equity 2,812,491  3,167,003 
Equity ratio attributable to owners of 
parent (%) 54.5  63.2 

Equity ratio attributable to owners of parent: Total equity attributable to owners of parent /Total liabilities and equity. 
 

(2) Basic policies for financial risk management 
The Group is exposed to financial risks (credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk) in the process of executing its 
business activities. Accordingly, the Group regularly monitors the financial risks based on internal management 
regulations and takes measures to avoid or reduce the risks as required. 

The Group does not engage in derivative transactions for speculative purposes. 
 

A. Credit risk 
(a) Credit risk management 

Notes and trade receivables are exposed to the credit risk of customers. Conforming to the internal rules for the 
management of receivables, the Group regularly monitors major customers’ credit and manages the due dates of 
collection and the balance for each customer. Other receivables are exposed to the credit risk of customers, but 
most of them are settled in the short term. Short-term investments are financial assets invested on a short-time 
basis, and the Group transacts with highly creditworthy financial institutions. Trade receivables are regarded as 
non-performing if all or part of them cannot be collected or if collection is deemed extremely difficult. The Group 
does not have any exposure to the significant credit risk of certain customers, and there is no excessive 
concentration of credit risk that requires special management. 

 
The largest exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets 

after impairment, but there is no historical experience of recognizing a significant credit loss in previous years. 
Regarding debt guarantees, the balance of debt guarantees presented in “Note 37. Commitments and 

Contingent Liabilities” is the largest exposure of the Group to credit risk. 
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(b) Analysis of changes in loss allowance 
The changes in the loss allowance are as follows. 

The year ended December 31, 2022 
(In millions of yen) 

 
The year ended December 31, 2023 

(In millions of yen) 

 
(c) Carrying amount of financial assets for the loss allowance 

The carrying amount (before the loss allowance) of financial assets for the loss allowance as of each fiscal year end 
is as follows. 

(In millions of yen) 

 12-month expected credit 
losses Lifetime expected credit losses 

 
Loss allowance for 

financial assets other than 
trade receivables 

Loss allowance for 
trade receivables 

Loss allowance for 
financial assets whose 

credit risk has increased 
significantly 

Loss allowance for 
credit-impaired 
financial assets 

As of December 31, 2022 4,538 200,083   

As of December 31, 2023 8,838 210,964   
 

(d) Analysis of credit risk 
The aging analysis of trade receivables as of each fiscal year end is as follows. 

  (In millions of yen) 

 As of December 31, 2022 As of December 31, 2023 

Before due date 186,776 202,695 
Up to 30 days past due 9,586 6,334 
Over 30 days past due and up to 90 days past due 3,008 826 
Over 90 days past due 713 1,109 

Total 200,083 210,964 
For trade receivables, the Group’s major counterparties consist of specific distributors with high credit ratings and there 

is no material balance of loss allowance based on expected loss rate. For financial assets other than trade receivables, 
there is no credit risk that is concentrated around credit ratings. 
 
 

 12-month expected 
credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses 

Loss allowance for 
financial assets other 
than trade receivables 

Loss allowance for trade 
receivables 

Loss allowance for 
financial assets whose 

credit risk has increased 
significantly 

Loss allowance for credit-
impaired financial assets  

Beginning balance  69   

Increases  146   

Decreases due to  
reversal  (69)   

Other  11   

Ending balance  157   

 12-month expected 
credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses 

Loss allowance for 
financial assets other 
than trade receivables 

Loss allowance for trade 
receivables 

Loss allowance for 
financial assets whose 

credit risk has increased 
significantly 

Loss allowance for credit-
impaired financial assets  

Beginning balance  157   

Increases  377   

Decreases due to 
reversal  (115)   

Other  18   

Ending balance  437   
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B. Liquidity risk 
The Group is exposed to liquidity risk whereby the performance of payment obligations could become difficult. To 
limit its exposure to liquidity risk, however, the Group works to maintain fund management through the optimization 
of capital efficiency through the efficient management of working capital and the central management of funds by the 
Company. The Group also manages the liquidity risk by appropriately maintaining liquidity on hand through the timely 
preparation and updating of the financing plan and taking the external financial environment into account. 
 
The balance of financial liabilities by due date is as follows. 

 
As of December 31, 2022 
 (In millions of yen) 

 Carrying  
amount 

Contractual  
cash flows 

Due within 
 one year 

Due after  
one year but 

within two 
years 

Due after 
 two years but 

within three 
years 

Due after 
 three years 

but within four 
years 

Due after  
four years but 

within five 
years 

Due after  
five years 

Non-derivative 
financial liabilities         

Trade and other 
payables 226,323 226,323 222,941 3,364 18    

Bonds and 
borrowings 755,743 776,248 127,154 425,478 51,909 164,466 7,241  

Lease liabilities 14,269 14,622 4,762 3,603 2,557 1,401 788 1,511 
Contingent 
consideration  
(Note) 

2,528 2,528 2,528      

Derivative financial 
liabilities 8,342 8,342 6,441 1,284   617  

Total 1,007,205 1,028,063 363,826 433,729 54,484 165,867 8,646 1,511 
 

As of December 31, 2023 
 (In millions of yen) 

 Carrying  
amount 

Contractual  
cash flows 

Due within 
 one year 

Due after  
one year but 

within two 
years 

Due after 
 two years but 

within three 
years 

Due after 
 three years 

but within four 
years 

Due after  
four years but 

within five 
years 

Due after  
five years 

Non-derivative 
financial liabilities         

Trade and other 
payables 247,332 247,332 243,192 2,148 1,992

Bonds and 
borrowings 650,948 662,005 430,299 52,074 172,393 7,239

Lease liabilities 16,712 19,552 5,677 4,306 2,583 1,522 1,290 4,174
Contingent 
consideration  
(Note) 

3,298 3,298 3,298

Derivative financial 
liabilities 15,672 15,672 15,672      

Total 933,962 947,859 698,138 58,528 176,968 8,761 1,290 4,174
(Note) For details, please refer to “Note 7. Business Combinations.” 
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C. Market risk 
(a) Foreign currency exchange risk 

(i) Foreign currency exchange risk management 
Foreign currency receivables and obligations arising from the global business development of the Group are 
exposed to the risk of foreign exchange rate fluctuations. To reduce the risk of foreign exchange rate fluctuations, 
the Group uses forward exchange contracts, currency options and currency swaps. 

(ii) Net foreign exchange risk exposure 
The Group’s exposure to the risk of foreign exchange rate fluctuations (net amount) is as follows. This excludes 
derivative transactions and the amount entered into to hedge foreign exchange rate fluctuation risk using foreign 
currency deposits. 

  (In millions of yen) 

Currency The year ended 
December 31, 2022 

The year ended 
December 31, 2023 

US dollar (15,293) 12,949 

Euro 58,677 48,560 
 

(iii) Sensitivity analysis of foreign exchange rates 
Based on the assumption that all other variables are constant for foreign currency financial instruments held 
by the Group in the previous fiscal year and the current fiscal year, the amount of the impact of the 1.0% 
appreciation of the yen against the US dollar and the euro on profit before tax in the consolidated statements 
of profit or loss is as follows. 

  (In millions of yen) 

Currency The year ended 
December 31, 2022 

The year ended 
December 31, 2023 

US dollar 153 (129) 

Euro (587) (486) 
  

(b) Interest rate risk 
The Group raises funds mainly through borrowings and bonds for the purpose of securing funds for long-term 
working capital and the promotion of growth strategies. The Group is exposed to the risk of interest rate 
fluctuations because some borrowings are made mainly at floating interest rates. To reduce the risk of changes 
in the interest paid on borrowings, the Group uses interest rate swaps as required. Additionally, bonds are issued 
with fixed interest rates. Accordingly, the Group has decided that the impact of the risk of interest rate fluctuations 
on the Company is limited and insignificant and does not conduct a sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk. 

 
(c) Stock price risk 

         The Group has adopted an incentive plan for its employees for the purpose of securing excellent human resources, 
particularly at subsidiaries. To operate the incentive plan, the Group holds shares and other financial instruments 
for the long term and is exposed to the risk of changes in their market prices. Please note that, following the 
introduction of a stock option plan, the incentive plan was abolished and there was no new issuance. 

The Group does not conduct a sensitivity analysis for the risk of changes in share prices since the impact of 
changes in share prices are immaterial. 

 
(3) Fair value of financial instruments 

A. Calculation method of fair value 
The calculation method of the fair value of financial instruments is as follows. 
(a) Cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other receivables 

The fair value of these instruments approximates their carrying amount due to short term maturities. 
(b) Trade and other payables 

For trade and other payables that will mature within a short amount of time, the fair value approximates the carrying 
amount. The fair value of trade and other payables that will not mature in a short amount of time is calculated by 
the present value that is discounted by an interest rate assumed for the case where a similar borrowing is newly 
made and classified as Level 2. 

(c) Securities 
If the market price of a security is available in an active market, the securities are measured using this market price 
and classified as Level 1. If the market price is not available, the fair value is measured mainly by a method based 
on net assets (method of calculating by making adjustments to the market value as required based on the net 
assets of the entity that issues shares) and others, and classified as Level 3. 

(d) Loans 
The fair value of loans is calculated based on the present value discounted at an interest rate that takes into account 
credit risk and classified as Level 3. 

(e) Long-term borrowings 
The fair value of long-term borrowings is calculated at the present value that is discounted using an interest rate 
assumed for the case where a similar borrowing is newly made and classified as Level 2. 
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(f) Derivative transactions 
Forward exchange contracts, currency options and currency swaps are calculated based on the price presented 
by the customers’ financial institution and classified as Level 2. In addition, the fair value calculated using 
unobservable inputs is classified as Level 3. 

      (g) Bonds 
The fair value of bonds is calculated by referring to a market price and classified as Level 2. 

(h) Contingent consideration 
The fair value of the contingent consideration is calculated as the present value of the payments in the future using 
appropriate valuation methods with consideration of the probability of occurrence and is classified as Level 3. 

(i) Other financial assets and liabilities 
Time deposits with maturities of more than three months, long-term accounts receivable, security deposits and 
guarantee deposits received that are measured at amortized cost are classified as Level 2. Because their fair value 
approximates their carrying amount, they are omitted from the following table. 
 

B. Classification of financial instruments measured at fair value by levels 
In the fair value hierarchy, financial instruments are classified from Level 1 to Level 3 as follows. 
Level 1: Fair value measured using unadjusted quoted prices in the active markets 
Level 2: Fair value calculated using observable inputs, either directly or indirectly, other than those classified as Level 
1 
Level 3: Fair value calculated by using a valuation technique including inputs that are not based on observable market 
data 
Transfers between the levels in the fair value hierarchy are recognized on the assumption that the transfers occur at 
the end of each reporting period. 

 
(a) Financial instruments measured at amortized cost 

The carrying amount and the fair value of financial instruments measured at amortized cost are as follows. Financial 
instruments measured at fair value and financial instruments whose carrying amount closely approximates fair 
value are not included in the table below. Lease liabilities are not included in the following table. 

 
 
As of December 31, 2022 

(In millions of yen) 

 Carrying 
amount 

Fair value 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial liabilities      

Borrowings 577,154  575,563  575,563 

Bonds 178,589  178,589  178,589 

Other payables 41,206  40,941  40,941 

Total 796,949  795,093  795,093 
 
As of December 31, 2023 

(In millions of yen) 

 Carrying 
amount 

Fair value 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial liabilities      

Borrowings 459,851  458,093  458,093

Bonds 191,097  191,097  191,097

Other payables 51,878  51,409  51,409

Total 702,826  700,599  700,599
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(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value 
The components of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis that are 
classified as each level of the fair value hierarchy are as follows. 
 
As of December 31, 2022 

(In millions of yen)
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets     
Financial assets measured at fair 
value through profit or loss     

Derivative assets  21,945  21,945 

Investment trust 5,900   5,900 

Unlisted securities   4,134 4,134 
Equity instruments measured at 
fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

    

Listed securities 1,091   1,091 

Unlisted securities   5,524 5,524 

Total 6,991 21,945 9,658 38,594 

Financial liabilities     
Financial liabilities measured at 
fair value through profit or loss     

Derivative liabilities  8,342  8,342 
Contingent consideration 
(Note)   2,528 2,528 

Total  8,342 2,528 10,870 
 

As of December 31, 2023 
(In millions of yen)

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets     
Financial assets measured at fair 
value through profit or loss     

Derivative assets  ― 30,132 ― 30,132 

Investment trust 8,124 ― ― 8,124 

Unlisted securities ― ― 4,052 4,052 

Loan receivable ― ― 144,093 144,093 
Equity instruments measured at
fair value through other
comprehensive income 

    

Listed securities 830 ― ― 830 

Unlisted securities ― ― 9,878 9,878 

Total 8,954 30,132 158,023 197,109 

Financial liabilities     
Financial liabilities measured at 
fair value through profit or loss     

Derivative liabilities ― 15,672 ― 15,672 
Contingent consideration 
(Note) ― ― 3,298 3,298 

Total ― 15,672 3,298 18,970 
(Note) For details, please refer to “Note 7. Business Combinations.” 
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C. Changes in financial assets that are classified as Level 3 are as follows. 
   (In millions of yen) 

 The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 
Beginning balance 8,599 9,658 

Total gains or losses in the period (616) 156 

Profit or loss (Note 1) (2,745) 1,870 

   Other comprehensive income (Note 2) 2,129  (1,714) 

Purchases 2,638 148,191 

Transfer to Level 1 (120)  

Changes due to changes in the scope of 
consolidation (843)  

Others  18 

Ending balance 9,658 158,023 
Changes in unrealized gains or losses 
recorded in profit or loss for the balance 
held at the end of the reporting period 
(Note1) 

(2,745) 1,870 

 
Changes in financial liabilities that are classified as Level 3 are as follows. 

   (In millions of yen) 

 The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 
Beginning balance 4,681 2,528 

Total gains or losses in the period (1,348) (1,796) 

  Profit or loss (Note 3) (1,348) (1,857) 

  Other comprehensive income (Note 2)  61 

Settlement (2,205) (228) 

Acquisition due to business combination 1,400 2,794 

Ending balance 2,528 3,298 

Changes in unrealized gains or losses 
recorded in profit or loss for the balance 
held at the end of the reporting period 
(Note 3) 

(1,348) (626) 

(Note) 1. Amounts relate to financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss and included in “Finance income” 
and “Finance costs” in the consolidated statements of profit or loss. 

2. Amounts relate to equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and presented 
in “Equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” in the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income. 

 3. Amounts relate to financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss and included in “Finance costs”,  
“Other expenses” and “Other income” in the consolidated statements of profit or loss. 

 4. Financial instruments that are classified as Level 3 consist of unlisted securities, loans, and contingent 
consideration due to business combination. The measurement results of the fair value are reviewed and approved 
by an appropriate authorized person. Unlisted securities are mainly investments in funds, and the fair value of the 
unlisted securities is measured based on the value of net asset as a valuation technique.  

The fair value of the loans is calculated based on the present value of future expected cash flows, discounted 
at interest rates that take into account the period until maturity and credit risk and the performance of the contract. 
Since these estimates are uncertain, fair value due to changes in significant unobservable inputs may increase 
or decrease. 

In addition, the fair value of contingent consideration is measured in consideration of the possibility of 
achieving for developmental milestones and the time value of money. Since these estimates are uncertain, fair 
value may increase if significant unobservable development milestones become more likely to be achieved. 
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D. The total amount of differences not recognized in profit or loss at the beginning and end of the fiscal year and the 
changes in these differences are as follows. 

 
  (In millions of yen) 

 The year ended 
December 31, 2022 

The year ended 
December 31, 2023 

Financial assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss   

Loans   

Beginning balance   

    Increase  

  Increase due to new transactions 44,980 

Decrease  

Decrease due to amortization (2,181) 

Others  (756) 

Ending balance  42,043 
 
 
(4) Derivative transactions and hedging activities 

A. Overview of hedges 
The Group uses forward exchange contracts, currency options and currency swaps for the purpose of hedging 
transactions against the risk of foreign exchange rate fluctuations in foreign currency cash flows. Hedge accounting 
is applied to those transactions that meet the requirements for hedge accounting. Even if the requirements for hedge 
accounting are not met, the Group uses derivative transactions if they are economically reasonable. Changes in the 
fair value of the derivative transactions are recognized in profit or loss. The Group has also set a policy of not engaging 
in derivative transactions for speculative purposes. 

 
Cash flow hedges 
Cash flow hedges are hedging transactions to avoid the risk of changes in future cash flows, and changes in the fair 
value of derivative transactions that are designated as cash flow hedges are recognized in other comprehensive 
income. The amount that is recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss 
at the time when the hedged transactions affect profit or loss. If the hedged items give rise to the recognition of non-
financial assets or non-financial liabilities, the amount that is recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified 
as an adjustment to the initial carrying amount of non-financial assets or non-financial liabilities. Derivatives that are 
designated as cash flow hedges include forward exchange contracts, currency options and currency swaps to hedge 
the risk of changes in cash flows due to changes in the foreign exchange rates for foreign currency transactions.  

In the previous fiscal year and the current fiscal year, the amount recognized in profit or loss for the ineffective 
portion of the hedge was not material. 

 
B. Information on items that are designated as hedging instruments 

The impact of hedging instruments that are designated as hedges on the consolidated statements of financial position 
is as follows. Derivative assets and liabilities are included in “Other financial assets” and “Other financial liabilities,” 
respectively, in the consolidated statements of financial position. 

 
As of December 31, 2022 

             (In millions of yen) 
 

Contract amount 
Book value of hedging instruments  

(Fair value) 
Changes in fair value used as 
the basis for recognizing the 
ineffective portion of hedges Assets Liabilities 

Cash flow hedges     
Foreign currency 
exchange risk     

Forward exchange 
contracts 332,855 12,026 7,050  

Currency swaps 182,252 9,919 617 11,952 
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As of December 31, 2023 
             (In millions of yen) 
 

Contract amount 
Book value of hedging instruments  

(Fair value) 
Changes in fair value used as 
the basis for recognizing the 
ineffective portion of hedges Assets Liabilities 

Cash flow hedges     
Foreign currency 
exchange risk     

Forward exchange 
contracts 283,496 2,849 15,229  

Currency swaps 182,252 27,283  29,393 
 

C. Information on items designated as hedged items 
The amount of the impact of hedged items that are designated as hedges on the consolidated statements of financial 
position is as follows. 

 
As of December 31, 2022 

            (In millions of yen) 
 Changes in fair value used as 

the basis for recognizing the 
ineffective portion of hedges 

Surplus for cash flow 
hedges related to 
ongoing hedging 

Surplus for cash flow hedges 
related to the suspension of 

hedge accounting 

Cash flow hedges    
Foreign currency 
exchange risk    

Plan on purchasing  (3,868)  

Bonds and borrowings (11,708) (8,651)  
 
As of December 31, 2023 

            (In millions of yen) 
 Changes in fair value used as 

the basis for recognizing the 
ineffective portion of hedges 

Surplus for cash flow 
hedges related to 
ongoing hedging 

Surplus for cash flow hedges 
related to the suspension of 

hedge accounting 

Cash flow hedges    
Foreign currency 
exchange risk    

Plan on purchasing  (12,756)  

Bonds (28,776) (6,778)  
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D. Impact of the application of hedge accounting on the consolidated statements of profit and loss and the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income 

The impact of hedging instruments that are designated as cash flow hedges on the consolidated statement of profit 
and loss and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income is as follows. 
 
As of December 31, 2022 

(In millions of yen) 

 
Changes in the value of hedging 
instruments recognized in other 
comprehensive income (Note)  

Ineffective portion recognized in profit 
or loss 

Cash flow hedges 

 Foreign currency exchange risk 

Forward exchange contracts (5,427)  

Currency swaps (12,622) (87) 
(Note) Amount before tax effect. 

 
As of December 31, 2023 

(In millions of yen) 

 
Changes in the value of hedging 
instruments recognized in other 
comprehensive income (Note)  

Ineffective portion recognized in profit 
or loss 

Cash flow hedges 

 Foreign currency exchange risk 

Forward exchange contracts (18,385)  

Currency swaps (9,889) (618) 
(Note) Amount before tax effect. 

 
E. Fair value of derivatives to which hedge accounting is not applied 

The fair value and contract amount of derivatives to which hedge accounting is not applied are as follows. 
 
As of December 31, 2022 

(In millions of yen) 
 

Contract amount 
Book value of hedging instruments  

(Fair value) 
Assets Liabilities 

Forward exchange contracts 385,174 ― 675 
 

As of December 31, 2023 
(In millions of yen) 

 
Contract amount 

Book value of hedging instruments  
(Fair value) 

Assets Liabilities 

Forward exchange contracts 326,338 ― 443 
 

(5) Transfer of financial assets 
Accelerating from restructuring to growth stage, the Group provides diversified financing to achieve these growth
strategies and liquidates certain trade receivables by transferring receivables. 

The expenses arising from transfer of trade receivables derecognized in their entirety were 39 million yen in the prior 
fiscal year and 32 million yen in the current fiscal year. 
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35. Related Parties 
(1) Transactions with related parties 

The year ended December 31, 2022 
Transactions with related parties for the year ended December 31, 2022 is as follows. 
 

(In millions of yen) 

Attribute Company 
name 

Ratio of 
Share-Holding 

(Owned) 

Relation with 
related parties 

Contents of 
transaction 

Amounts of 
transaction Account 

Balance  
as of 

December 
31, 2022 

Major 
corporate 
shareholders 

INCJ, Ltd. (Owned) 
Direct 
12.52% 
(Note 1) 

― Purchases of 
treasury shares 
(Note 2) 

200,000 
 

― 
 

― 
 

(Note) 1. Ratio of share holding of INCJ, Ltd. has decreased to 12.52% due to a Tender Offer conducted for its treasury 
shares during the period from April 28, 2022 to May 31 based on the resolution of the Board of Directors held on 
April 27. As a result, it is no longer a related party of the Group under IFRS. 

     2. Based on the resolution of the Board of Directors held on April 27, 2022, the Company conducted a Tender Offer 
for its treasury shares during the period from April 28, 2022 to May 31, 2022 and acquired 168,067,250 shares.  

 
The year ended December 31, 2023 

Not applicable. 
 

(2) Compensation to key management 
Compensation paid to key management personnel is as follows. 

   (In millions of yen) 

Category The year ended 
December 31, 2022  The year ended 

December 31, 2023 

Remuneration and bonuses 254  310 

Share-based payments 384  548 

Total 638  858 
(Note) The exercise price and other key terms of share-based payment arrangements are as stated in “Note 33. Share-

based Payments.” 
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36. Major Subsidiaries 
   All subsidiaries are included in the scope of consolidation for our consolidated financial statements. 
    
   Major subsidiaries as of December 31, 2023 are as follows. 

Company Location Descriptions of Principal 
Businesses 

Percentage Ownership  
and Voting Interest (%)  

The year 
ended 

December 
31, 2022 

The year 
ended 

December 
31, 2023 

Renesas Semiconductor Manufacturing 
Co., Ltd. Hitachinaka, Ibaraki 

Manufacturing and 
Engineering Service 
Companies 

100.0 100.0 

Renesas Electronics Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong, China Sales Companies 100.0 100.0 

Renesas Electronics America Inc. California, U.S.A. 
Design, Applications, 
Manufacturing and Sales 
Companies 

100.0 100.0 

Renesas Electronics Europe GmbH 
(Germany) Dusseldorf, Germany Design, Applications and 

Sales Companies 100.0 100.0 

Renesas Semiconductor (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. Suzhou, China 
Manufacturing and 
Engineering Service 
Companies 

100.0 
(6.3) 

(Note) 

100.0 
(6.3) 

(Note) 

Renesas International Operations Sdn. Bhd. Selangor, Malaysia 

Management of parts 
of consignment 
business of our Group 
companies 

100.0 
(100.0) 
(Note) 

100.0 
(100.0) 
(Note) 

Renesas Electronics (Penang) Sdn. Bhd. Penang, Malaysia 
Engineering, 
Manufacturing and Sales 
Companies  

100.0 
(100.0) 
(Note) 

100.0 
(100.0) 
(Note) 

Renesas Electronics Germany GmbH Dresden, Germany  
Engineering, 
Manufacturing and Sales 
Companies  

100.0 
(100.0) 
(Note) 

100.0 
(100.0) 
(Note) 

IDT Bermuda Ltd. Bermuda Business Corporations 
and Others 

100.0 
(100.0) 
(Note) 

100.0 
(100.0) 
(Note) 

GigPeak, Inc. Delaware, U.S.A. Business Corporations 
and Others 

100.0 
(100.0) 
(Note) 

100.0 
(100.0) 
(Note) 

Dialog Buckinghamshire, U.K. 
Engineering, 
Manufacturing and Sales 
Companies  

100.0 100.0 

 (Note) Numbers in parentheses represent indirect voting rights. 
 

 
There are no subsidiaries with significant non-controlling interests. 
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37. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities 
(1) Commitments for the acquisition of assets 

The Group’s commitments for the acquisition of assets are as follows. 
   (In millions of yen)

 As of December 31, 2022  As of December 31, 2023 

Property, plant and equipment (Note) 119,625  70,628 

Intangible assets 942  1,330 

Total 120,567  71,958 
(Note) These amounts relate primarily to the unperformed contracts regarding investment in facilities for resuming 

operations at Kofu Factory plant and enhancing production capacity at Naka Factory and others. 
 
(2) Loan commitments (lender) 
 The Group has entered into a deposit provision agreement. The balance of unused loans is as follows. 

   (In millions of yen)

 As of December 31, 2022  As of December 31, 2023 

Total amount of loan commitments ―  283,660 

Balance of used loans ―  141,830 

Balance of unused loans ―  141,830 
(Note) In the above loan commitment agreement, not all amount result in a loan being executed, so the unused amount 

may not all be executed. Additionally, a loan of 500,000 thousand US dollars was executed on February 27, 2024. 
 
(3) Loan commitments (borrower) 

The Group has entered into a contract for setting commitment lines with its main banks for the purpose of securing 
long-term working capital, and the balance of unused loans is as follows. 

   (In millions of yen)

 As of December 31, 2022  As of December 31, 2023 

Total amount of commitment lines 50,000  50,000 

Balance of used loans ―  ― 

Balance of unused loans 50,000  50,000 
 

(4) Debt guarantees 
The Group provides debt guarantees against bank loans of its employees as follows.  

   (In millions of yen)

 As of December 31, 2022  As of December 31, 2023 

Guarantees of employees’ obligations 11  5 

Total 11  5 
 

(Guarantees of employees’ obligations) 
The Group provides guarantees for the housing loans of employees as part of its welfare program. If an employee 
cannot repay a housing loan covered by a debt guarantee, the Group must assume the obligation. These debt 
guarantees are secured by the houses of the employees. 

 
(5) Others 

As the Group conducts business worldwide, it is possible that the Group may become a party to lawsuits, arbitration, 
investigation by regulatory authorities and other legal proceedings in various countries. 

Though it is difficult to predict the outcome of the legal proceedings to which the Group is presently a party or to 
which it may become a party in future, the resolution of such proceedings may require considerable time and expense. 
There is a possibility that the Group’s business, performance, financial condition, cash flow, reputation and creditability 
to have significant adverse effects by the outcome. In accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets” Article 92, the Group does not disclose detailed information of the legal proceedings since it is 
likely to lead the Group to an unfavorable position. 

The Group has recorded provision for loss on litigation in accordance with what can be reasonably estimated for 
the cases below. In addition, the Group has recorded provision for loss litigation in preparation for payments related 
to lawsuits and damage claims with other companies, in addition to the cases described below. 
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(Civil lawsuit related to the alleged patent infringement and trade secret violation) 
The Group’s subsidiary in the U.S has been named as a defendant in a lawsuit filed in November 2008 in the United 
States of America District Court for the Eastern District of Texas (hereinafter “the Court of First Instance”) related to 
the alleged patent infringement and trade secret violation. The Group’s subsidiary filed a notice of appeal at the Court 
of Appeals for the Federal Circuit (hereinafter “the Court of Second Instance”) against the Court of First Instance 
judgment of June 2016, and in July 2018, the Court of Second Instance rejected the judgement of the Court of First 
Instance for payment of compensation and conducted the retrial order at the Court of First Instance. After the retrial, 
in March 2022, the Court of First Instance issued judgement ordering compensation of 48.3 million US dollars. 
Subsequently, in August 2022, the Group’s subsidiary filed an appeal with the Court of Second Instance. 

 
(Indemnification claim related to environmental pollution) 
The Group’s subsidiary in Taiwan has been subjected to requests for restitution for environmental pollution associated 
with a factory in Taiwan owned by the subsidiary’s predecessor company.  

Since June 2004, the Group’s subsidiary has been notified that a company reserved its right to seek indemnification 
from us for all costs associated with the remediation of the contamination related to environmental pollution found at 
a factory in Taiwan owned by the subsidiary’s predecessor company, and the costs associated with the lawsuit as well 
as the costs relating to those retained environmental liabilities in a toxic tort class action lawsuit filed by ex-employees 
worked at the factory. Though the Group’s subsidiary is not a defendant in the class action lawsuit, the claimant 
initiated arbitration proceedings against us related to all claims arising out of the contamination, including the 
remediation, the toxic tort claims, and attorneys’ fees in December 2017, but afterward, the arbitration was ordered to 
stay by the arbitrator on a unilateral request by the claimant. 
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38. Subsequent Events 
(Cancellation of Treasury Shares) 
Renesas has resolved at the Meeting of Board of Directors dated February 8, 2024, to cancel treasury shares pursuant to 
Article 178 of the Companies Act as follows. 
 
(1) Policy for cancellation of treasury stock 
Renesas will retain a maximum of approximately 5% of the total number of shares issued and outstanding and, in 
principle, treasury shares exceeding 5% will be subject to cancellation. 

 
(2) Board of Directors resolution details related to cancellation of treasury stock 

a) Class of shares to be cancelled:    Renesas common shares 
b) Number of shares to be cancelled:  87,839,138 shares (approximately 4.5% of shares issued and outstanding) 
c) Scheduled cancellation date:       February 29, 2024 

After cancellation, the total number of shares issued and outstanding is 1,870,614,885, and the total number of treasury 
shares is 92,093,364.  

 
(Acquisition of Transphorm, Inc.) 
Renesas entered into a merger agreement to acquire Transphorm, Inc. (hereinafter “Transphorm”), a global leader in GaN 
(Gallium Nitride) power semiconductors, through a cash transaction via a subsidiary on January 11, 2024. 
 
(1) Purpose of the acquisition 
Demand for highly efficient power systems is increasing as building blocks for carbon neutrality. To address this trend, an 
industry-wide transition toward wide bandgap (“WBG”) materials, represented by silicon carbide (“SiC”) and GaN, is also 
being seen. These advanced materials allow a broader range of voltage and switching frequency than conventional silicon-
based devices. To build on this momentum, Renesas has announced the establishment of an in-house SiC production line, 
supported by a 10 year SiC wafer supply agreement. 

Through this acquisition, Renesas aims to further expand its WBG portfolio with Transphorm’s expertise in GaN, an 
emerging material that enables higher switching frequency, lower power losses, and smaller form factors. These benefits 
empower customers’ systems with greater efficiency, smaller and lighter composition, and lower overall cost. The Group 
will implement Transphorm’s auto-qualified GaN technology to develop new enhanced power solution offerings, such as X-
in-1 powertrain solutions for EVs, along with computing, energy, industrial and consumer applications. 

 
(2) Overview of the acquiree 
 

a) Name: Transphorm, Inc. 
b) Location: Goleta, California, USA 
c) Business overview: Design and manufacturing of high-performance and highly reliable GaN (Gallium Nitride) 

semiconductors for high-voltage power conversion applications. 
 
(3) Acquisition Method 
Renesas will acquire all outstanding shares of Transphorm’s common stock for 5.10 US dollars per share in cash, through 
a subsidiary, representing a premium of approximately 35% to Transphorm’s closing price on January 10, 2024, a premium 
of approximately 56% to the volume weighted average price over the last twelve months and a premium of approximately 
78% to the volume weighted average price over the last six months. The total acquisition value amounts to approximately 
339 million US dollars (equivalent to approximately 49.2 billion yen at an exchange rate of 1 USD = 145 JPY). 

 
(4) Schedule 
The acquisition is expected to close in the second half of calendar year 2024, subject to Transphorm stockholder approval, 
required regulatory clearances and the satisfaction of other customary closing conditions. 
 
(Acquisition of Altium Limited) 
Renesas has agreed to acquire all issued and to-be-issued ordinary shares of Altium Limited (hereinafter “Altium”) on 
February 15, 2024, making it a wholly-owned subsidiary (hereinafter the " Altium Acquisition").  
 
(1) Purpose of the acquisition 
Under its Purpose, "To Make Our Lives Easier," Renesas has been expanding its product portfolio of embedded processors, 
analog, power, and connectivity, with an aim to becoming a global leader in embedded semiconductor solutions. 

 Furthermore, Renesas has been advancing its digitization strategy that enables enhanced user experience (UX) 
through cloud-based development. Altium’s history began in 1985 from Australia as the world’s first printed-circuit board 
(PCB) design tool provider. The company has grown into a global market leader with the most well-known PCB software 
tools in use today.  

The Altium Acquisition enables two industry leaders to join forces and establish an integrated and open “electronics 
system design and lifecycle management platform” that allows for collaboration across component, subsystem, and 
system-level design. The Altium Acquisition strongly aligns with Renesas’ digitalization strategy and represents the 
company’s first significant step in bringing enhanced user experience and innovation at the system level for electronics 
system designers. 

Moreover, The Altium Acquisition strengthens Renesas’ financial profile and provides shareholders significant value by 
accelerating Renesas’s digitalization strategy. 
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(2) Overview of the acquiree 
 

a) Name: Altium Limited 
b) Location: San Diego, California, USA 
c) Business overview: Development and sales of software tools for PCB design and others 
d) Capital $127,699 thousand (19,242 million yen, based on an exchange rate of 1 USD = 151 yen) 
e) Date of Establishment October, 1987 

 
(3) Acquisition Method 
Altium is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. The Altium Acquisition will be executed by way of a Scheme of 
Arrangement (hereinafter "SOA") under the Australian Corporations Act, which is a method of acquiring 100% of the 
outstanding shares of an Australian listed company and will involve the acquisition of all of Altium's shares for cash. The 
companies have entered into a Scheme Implementation Agreement (hereinafter “SIA”) which has been unanimously 
approved by the boards of directors of both companies. 

The Altium Acquisition will be executed by way of a SOA. Upon approval of the Altium Acquisition Proposal at a 
shareholder meeting of Altium (approval by a majority of the shareholders present and voting and by a minimum of 75% of 
votes cast), approval by the Australian courts, and necessary regulatory approvals being obtained from the authorities in 
relevant countries, and subject to satisfaction of certain other conditions, Renesas (or, if according to the provisions of the 
SIA, a wholly-owned subsidiary is to be used, then that wholly-owned subsidiary) will acquire all of the outstanding shares 
of Altium. 

Renesas will acquire shares of Altium for a cash price of A$68.50 per share, (total equity value of approximately A$9.1 
billion (approximately ¥887.9 billion at an exchange rate of 97 yen to the A$). Renesas plans to finance the transaction with 
bank loans and cash on hand.  

The number of shares acquired through the Altium Acquisition, the acquisition price, and the status of owned shares 
before and after the acquisition are as follows: 

 
a) Shares owned before transfer 0 shares (Ownership percentage: 0.0%) 
b) Number of shares acquired 133,279,432 shares (Note) (Percentage of outstanding shares 100.0%) 
c) Acquisition price Approximately $A9.1billion (approximately 887.9 billion yen at an exchange 

rate of 97 yen to the A$) 
d) Shares acquired after transfer 133,279,432 shares (Note) (Ownership percentage 100.0%) 
(Note) Based on the number of shares on a fully-diluted basis as of February 15, 2024 (reflecting dilutions and 

others that occurred following the stock-related compensation from the Altium Acquisition). Above figures have 
been rounded off to the closest whole number. 

 
(4) Schedule 
The Altium Acquisition is expected to be completed during the second half of 2024, following approval from Altium's 
shareholders, the Australian courts, and necessary regulatory authorities, in addition to the satisfaction of other general 
transaction conditions. 
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(2) Other 
Quarterly information for the year ended December 31, 2023 
 

(Cumulative period) First quarter Second quarter Third quarter 
The year ended 
December 31, 

2023 
Revenue (Million yen) 359,374 728,091 1,107,482 1,469,415 

Profit before tax (Million yen) 127,762 240,581 343,505 422,173 
Profit attributable to owners of 
parent (Million yen) 105,211 195,775 271,008 337,086 

Basic earnings per share (Yen) 58.50 109.94 152.52 189.77 
 

(Accounting period) First quarter Second quarter Third quarter Fourth quarter 

Basic earnings per share (Yen) 58.50 51.36 42.53 37.23 
(Note) The Group has finalized the provisional accounting treatment related to the business combinations for the year 

ended December 31, 2023. Therefore, regarding the amounts related to Quarterly information, the revision of the 
purchase price allocation has been reflected. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Board of Directors of Renesas Electronics Corporation

THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Renesas Electronics Corporation (the 
Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at December 31, 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2023, and its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements in Japan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

1. We draw attention to 38. Subsequent Events (Cancellation of Treasury Shares) in Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements, which describes that the Company has resolved at the Meeting 
of Board of Directors dated February 8, 2024, to cancel treasury shares.

2. We draw attention to 38. Subsequent Events (Acquisition of Altium Limited) in Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements, which describes that the Company has agreed to acquire all 
issued and to-be-issued ordinary shares of Altium Limited on February 15, 2024.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Impairment analysis of goodwill (Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements: 15. Impairment of 
Non-financial Assets)
Key audit matter description How our audit addressed the key audit matter
The Company is a semiconductor 
manufacturing company, engaging in 
semiconductor-related research, development, 
design, manufacturing, sales and services. The 
Company consists of the “Automotive Business” 
and the “Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT 
Business”.  The Company invests in mergers 
and acquisitions to expand and strengthen its 
product portfolio and technologies.

The Company has recently completed multiple 
acquisitions, including businesses based in the 
United States of America, Intersil Corporation 
in February 2017 and Integrated Device 
Technology, Inc. in March 2019, and a business 
based in the United Kingdom, Dialog 
Semiconductor Plc in August 2021. The 
Company recorded goodwill, which is allocated 
to the respective cash-generating units that is 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
business combinations, as a result of these 
acquisitions in its consolidated financial 
statements. 

The Company recorded goodwill of 1,362,131 
million yen as of December 31, 2023. Of this 
amount, 330,858 million yen and 1,031,273 
million yen are allocated to the “Automotive 
Business” and the 
“Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT Business”, 
respectively. The recorded amount of goodwill 
comprised approximately 43% of consolidated 
total assets as of December 31, 2023.

The Company tests goodwill for impairment 
annually and more often at an interim date if 
indicators of impairment exist. In testing 
goodwill for impairment, the Company 
measures the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating units including goodwill at its value-
in-use. The value-in-use is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash flows to 
present value, which are estimated based on the 
five-year business plan approved by 
management, and perpetual revenue growth 
rates for the period thereafter. Key assumptions 
in estimating the value-in-use include gross 

In auditing the impairment analysis of goodwill 
allocated to the “Automotive Business” and the 
“Industrial/Infrastructure/IoT Business” cash-
generating units, we performed the following 
principal audit procedures:

We assessed the design and tested the 
operating effectiveness of internal controls 
over the preparation and approval of the 
business plan.
We primarily performed the following 
procedures over the business plan approved 
by management:

We examined the gross margins used by 
management in determining the 
business plan through procedures 
including comparing forecasted gross 
margins to the historical results.
We compared the gross margins in the 
business plan used in the impairment 
analysis in the previous fiscal year with 
the actual gross margins, examined the 
reasons for the discrepancy between the 
actual results and the plan, and 
confirmed that there was no situation 
which should be reflected additionally in 
the business plan for the current fiscal 
year.

In verifying the perpetual revenue growth 
rates and the discount rates used to 
determine the recoverable amount, we 
primarily performed the following procedures 
with the assistance of our valuation 
specialists:

We assessed the appropriateness of the 
methods that management used to 
determine the perpetual revenue growth 
rates and the discount rates.
We obtained relevant source documents 
that were used to determine the 
perpetual revenue growth rates and the 
discount rates and verified them by 
agreeing to third-party information.

We examined the reasonableness of the 
recoverable amount determined by 
management by comparing the concluded 
recoverable amount to the Company's market 
capitalization. 
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margins in the business plan, the perpetual 
revenue growth rates, and the discount rates.

We have determined that the impairment 
analysis of goodwill constitutes a key audit 
matter because of the materiality of goodwill to 
the consolidated financial statements, the 
complexity of goodwill impairment testing, the 
uncertainty in estimating gross margins in the 
business plan, the perpetual revenue growth 
rates, and the discount rates, and the necessity 
of significant judgments made by management.

Other Information 

The other information comprises the information included in FINANCIAL REPORT 2023, but does 
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Management is 
responsible for the other information. In addition, the Corporate Auditors and Board of Corporate 
Auditors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s reporting process of the other information.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and The Corporate Auditors and Board of Corporate 
Auditors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern, and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Group or to cease its operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Corporate Auditors and Board of Corporate Auditors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
Japan will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, while the purpose of the consolidated 
financial statement audit is not to express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate whether the presentation and disclosures of the consolidated financial statements are in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, the overall presentation, structure 
and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Corporate Auditors and Board of Corporate Auditors regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Corporate Auditors and Board of Corporate Auditors with a statement that we 
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with 
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them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the Corporate Auditors and Board of Corporate Auditors, we 
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in 
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.  

FEE-RELATED INFORMATION

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31 
2023, the amounts of fees for the audit and the other services charged to Renesas Electronics 
Corporation and its controlled entities by PricewaterhouseCoopers Japan LLC and other PwC Network 
firms are ¥754 million and ¥226 million, respectively. 

Interest required to be disclosed by the Certified Public Accountants Act of Japan

Our firm and its designated engagement partners do not have any interest in the Group which is 
required to be disclosed pursuant to the provisions of the Certified Public Accountants Act of Japan.

EL Co1

Hiroyuki Sawayama Hitoshi Kondo

Designated Engagement Partner
Certified Public Accountant

Designated Engagement Partner
Certified Public Accountant

Co2

Satoshi Shimbo
Designated Engagement Partner
Certified Public Accountant

March 26, 2024
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